

Reservoir Technologies of the 21st Century



Reservoir Technologies of the 21st Century

Editor

Erdal Ozkan, SPE Reservoir Technical Director (2018-2021)

Contributing Authors

Ridvan Akkurt I. Yucel Akkutlu Mohammed Al-Kobaisi Omer Alpak Osman Apaydin Ryan Armstrong Emre Artun Vincent Artus Neha Bansal Tom Blasingame Martin Blunt **Reggie Boles** Rodolfo Camacho Wei-Chun Chu **Birol Dindoruk** Tuba Firincioglu Ted Griffin Vincenzo Guerriero David Hampton

Don Harville Florian Hollaender Matt Honarpour Olivier Houze Mazher Ibrahim Dilhan Ilk Bernadette Johnson Mohan Kelkar Basak Kurtoglu John Lee Craig Lindsay Bo Lu Sebastien Matringe Kishore Mohanty Benoît Noetinger Mike Onyekonwu Holger Ott Chet Ozgen **Richard Pemper**

Stephanie Perry Maša Prodanović Mark Proett Stefano Pruno Faisal Rasdi Ram Ratnakar Andrew Royle Vinay Sahni Sathish Sankaran Steve Sonnenberg Vlad Sudakov Vural S. Suicmez Jonas Toelke Carlos Torres-Verdin Ali Tura Francesca Verga Xiaolong Yin Joe Young

© Copyright 2022 Society of Petroleum Engineers

All rights reserved. No portion of this report may be reproduced in any form or by any means, including electronic storage and retrieval systems, except by explicit, prior written permission of the publisher except for brief passages excerpted for review and critical purposes.

Table of Contents

Foreword	. 1
Reservoir Characterization	. 4
Geology, Geophysics, Petrophysics, Rock Physics, and Geomechanics	. 5
Core Analysis	14
Pressure Transient Analysis	23
Rate Transient Analysis	29
Reservoir Engineering	36
Fluid Flow in Porous Media	37
Phase Behavior and PVT Analysis	43
Molecular- and Pore-Scale Modeling	50
Field-Scale Numerical Reservoir Simulation	57
Enhanced Oil Recovery	52
Well Performance	71
Reservoir Management	76
Data Analytics, Artificial Intelligence, and Machine Learning	77
Field-Scale Projects	34
Reserves	92
Project Economics	97
References)4

Foreword

Although it has been more than 150 years since Colonel Drake successfully drilled and completed the first productive and self-sustaining oil well in Pennsylvania in 1859, the reservoir technical discipline has remained very conservative and been resistant to change. It generally only does so when forced to by external events—such as when taxation practices led to the development of decline curve analyses in the 1910s and 1920s, regulatory proration practices led to the development of deliverability testing (and inflow performance relationships) in the 1930s, and the unitization practices of the 1950s led to the development of reservoir modeling and simulation. Despite the more-recent claims of integrated reservoir studies and although the circular references in most workflows imply an iterative model-building approach, these processes are typically a mere fine-tuning of the quality and quantity of a select set of model parameters. Seldom does a workflow lead to a new perception of a reservoir.

Technical and operational improvements in the past several decades have significantly increased the efficiency of reservoir management. However, there have been no major breakthroughs leading to substantial improvements in recovery factors, which remain below 30% (except in very-high-quality reservoirs) and drop to a mere 5 to 8% in unconventional (or low-quality) reservoirs. The contribution of 375 enhanced oil recovery (EOR) projects worldwide to global oil production was only approximately 2% in 2017 and is expected to rise to 4% by 2040 (McGlade et al. 2018). One of the underlying reasons for this asymmetry between the interest in EOR and its actual impact is that EOR ideas have not changed much, categorically, since the 1970s, despite the increased complexity of target formations, the availability of more-effective EOR agents, and significant technological improvements for implementation.

This lack of progress has resulted from many factors, including the interest in shorter-term project economics, the scarcity of technical and human resources, a lack of motivation, and an insufficient knowledge base from which to direct improvements in reservoir technology. New developments such as data analytics, artificial intelligence, and machine learning and the availability of advanced computing and software capabilities have provided and will continue to provide better tools to develop new ideas and technologies. However, there are also concerns that the "big crew change" will erode the foundational knowledge and rich human experience that have been built over the past 150 years. A related problem stems from the mesmerizing capabilities of computerized tools (software, simulators, artificial intelligence) and the irresistible convenience of automated analysis packages, which require minimal human intervention. In a discipline where the nonuniqueness of solutions is inherent, ensuring the physical consistency of the interpretation is the only defense against committing gross errors. This requires that the user or interpreter be proficient in the physics of reservoir phenomena and have an ability to incorporate multidisciplinary data into the interpretation process. Unfortunately, the computerized analysis tools available today are sometimes used with absolute trust and without sufficient experience and understanding of the background. In most of these cases, the tools and the theory are blamed for any failures.

Finally, many theoretical and technological innovations that were developed outside of petroleum science and engineering in the past several decades have not been adequately explored or adopted. Despite easier access to broader knowledge, our interest and focus appear to have narrowed to the

discipline-specific knowledge, practice, and experience documented in petroleum science and engineering publications. Moreover, a review of the technical papers available in the OnePetro library and the SPE Forum Series topics, much less those of the technical conferences and workshops, reveals the dreaded reality: We have been entertaining the same concepts over and over instead of introducing new ideas, or discussing how existing tools can be tweaked to perform new tasks instead of developing new technologies for our changing needs.

To tackle these current and future challenges, the SPE Reservoir Advisory Committee (RAC) began an initiative in May 2019 to develop a comprehensive strategic plan to review, revise, and update the reservoir technical discipline, with the following specific objectives:

- Initiate a critical review and discussion to identify old, obsolete, inadequate, and/or irrelevant technologies
- Encourage the development of candidate concepts to replace old perceptions and technologies
- Propose, discuss, establish, and disseminate new concepts and technologies
- Educate and train the workforce to manage the transformation of industry practices

For this initiative, the RAC—which comprises 56 subject-matter experts—was organized into study groups to focus on the following three categories and their associated subcategories:

- Reservoir characterization
 - Geology, geophysics, petrophysics, rock physics, and geomechanics
 - Core analysis
 - Pressure transient analysis
 - Rate transient analysis
- Reservoir engineering
 - Fluid flow in porous media
 - Phase behavior and PVT analysis
 - Molecular- and pore-scale modeling
 - Field-scale numerical reservoir simulation
 - Enhanced oil recovery
 - Well performance
- Reservoir management
 - Data analytics, artificial intelligence, and machine learning
 - Field-scale projects
 - Reserves
 - Project economics

The resulting green paper, which is presented here, is not envisioned as an authoritative document but rather a candid, as well as provocative, account of the state of the reservoir discipline. (For the purpose of this work, the term "green paper" describes a tentative report/consultation document with technical proposals prepared for discussion.) As a general disclaimer, this work is not intended to be an SPE position statement, nor is it an SPE board report. The opinions presented in this document belong solely to the contributing authors, not to their affiliated organizations. Moreover, consensus on opinions was not sought among the contributors beyond the requirement of reasonable factual support. Rather, it is an attempt by a group of subject matter experts to inspire discussion regarding the reservoir technologies that will be required to meet the challenges of the 21st century. Any appearance of promoting a particular technology, concept, model, or approach is completely unintentional. Contributors selected topics based on their expertise on and/or familiarity with those topics; the exclusion of any topic might be merely an omission. To adhere to our objective to generate discussion, rather than to solve problems, no effort was made to be detailed or comprehensive. References have been included when the authors believed it was relevant to give credit to the original source of a specific concept or technology, but we tried to limit references because we do not wish to guide the reader in a specific direction.

Finally, my acknowledgments are due to the key participants of this project. The support and contributions of my Reservoir Technical Director predecessors, Olivier Houze (2012–2015) and Tom Blasingame (2015–2018), have been greatly appreciated. They provided much-needed encouragement and excellent editorial contributions throughout the process of bringing this document together. I was fortunate to work with a distinguished group of subject-matter experts, the members of the 2018–2021 SPE RAC, on the technical content of the green paper. I am indebted to their dedication to support SPE's mission "to collect, disseminate, and exchange technical knowledge concerning the exploration, development, and production of oil and gas resources" and vision to "advance the oil and gas community's ability to meet the world's energy demands in a safe, environmentally responsible, and sustainable manner" in the 21st century. Melinda Mahaffey Icden has been an invaluable asset during the final editing of this document, which was written by a large and eclectic group of authors with diverse backgrounds, to ensure format consistency and enhance content clarity and readability. And, of course, I am thankful for the resources provided by SPE to bring this project to fruition.

Erdal Ozkan SPE Reservoir Technical Director (2018–2021) Colorado School of Mines September 2021

Reservoir Characterization

Introduction

From an empiricist perspective, reservoir characterization is the practice of defining reservoir qualities by means of the measurement or appraisal of a selected set of tangible quality identifiers. From a utilitarian perspective, however, reservoir characterization serves to describe the flow domain and quantify the constitutive relations of flow; that is, appropriate values are assigned to the characteristic parameters, with the objectives of modeling flow and predicting recovery. In this utilitarian view, the characteristics of the reservoir to be defined, qualified, and quantified are dictated by the perceived reservoir flow process and the selected phenomenological descriptions of transport. In turn, characterization, combined with knowledge of the fundamental laws of physics, shapes our assumptions of the reservoir flow process. Thus, the evolution and the current status of reservoir characterization are not independent of the evolution of our perceptions of the reservoir flow processes and the current needs of our reservoir engineering and management practices. Moreover, the information used for reservoir characterization comes from diverse sources-such as seismic, well logs, cuttings, cores, pressure and rate transient tests, and production performance-and integrates specialties embedded in geology, geophysics, and engineering. Therefore, the decision to devote a separate section to reservoir characterization that covers geosciences (geology, geophysics, petrophysics, and geomechanics), core analysis, pressure transient analysis, and rate transient analysis was made solely for convenience in terms of organizing, documenting, and referencing the discussions in this green paper.



Geology, Geophysics, Petrophysics, Rock Physics, and Geomechanics

Contributors

- Ridvan Akkurt (Schlumberger)
- Vincenzo Guerriero (Università Degli Studi di Napoli Federico II)
- Richard Pemper (Weatherford)
- Stephanie Perry (GeoMark Research)
- Mark Proett (independent consultant)
- Andrew Royle (Chevron)
- Steve Sonnenberg (Colorado School of Mines)
- Carlos Torres-Verdin (The University of Texas at Austin)
- Ali Tura (Colorado School of Mines)

Introduction

Most subsurface disciplines are based on methods that were initially derived from investigated conventional rocks (greater than 15% total porosity and 1-md permeability). The industry then refocused its activities on coalbed methane, then on shale gas, and then recently on tight liquids in siltstones, shales, and carbonates (Passey et al. 2010). Currently, the industry is tackling tight oil in all rock types with equations, concepts, and principles that are known to be unreliable for measuring and quantifying the storage and production behavior of these defined unconventional reservoirs (Dean and Stark 1920; *API RP40* 1998).

Geological, petrophysical (including geomechanics), geophysical, and geochemical disciplines all help to focus and support in-place to producible hydrocarbon assessments and quantification, reservoir- to production-scale engineering, and in general upstream, midstream, and downstream efforts in the oil and gas industry. Empirical solutions have been proven to work over a wide range of reservoir rock types and stratigraphic conditions (Clavier et al. 1984; Comisky et al. 2007). However, they require modifications beyond what they were intended for, which gives rise to myriad solutions that can turn petrophysics and geophysics into an art more than a science. A reliance on empirical solutions that work in one reservoir but are difficult to extrapolate could be minimized by focusing future work on fundamental research. It would be beneficial to go back to the drawing board, bringing earth scientists, physicists, chemists, and mathematicians together to look at rocks and fluids using modern laboratory and computational methods. In the age of parallel computing, cloud solutions, and sophisticated laboratory measurements, this should be much easier to do today than 10 years ago.

One issue is financial support, combined with a focus on a short-term, rather than a long-term, vision. A significant number of oil companies have eliminated fundamental research. They now depend on the service companies to improve the means of production through applied research techniques and methods. Among such improvements are optimized drilling methodologies and advanced measurement while drilling and logging while drilling, as well as openhole, casedhole, and production logging wireline/cable measurements. Service companies often partner with universities in this process, and while a significant amount of fundamental work is being performed at universities, academically driven foundational research work tends to receive less industry

support. The affiliated professional societies [such as SPE, the Society of Petrophysicists and Well Log Analysts, the American Association of Petroleum Geologists, and the Society of Exploration Geophysicists] could lead by coordinating support for programs and workshops considered to be industry-advancing studies.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

Reservoir models are built on the basis of reservoir characterization, which includes the geological definition and boundaries, gross/net isopach maps, and the distribution of petrophysical properties such as porosity, permeability, relative permeability, and fluid saturations. Lately, unconventional reservoir development has also emphasized sweet-spot delineation—which involves mapping temperature, pressure, and fluid distributions—and the definition of aspects such as structure, fractures, stratigraphy, and facies.

The characterization of conventional reservoirs has been ongoing for more than 50 years, but the characterization of unconventional reservoirs can still be considered to be in its infancy. Knowledge of reservoirs (carbonate, clastic, and shale) continues to improve with time and the evaluation of techniques. Current technology and practice enable the qualitative and quantitative characterization of depositional environments, facies, flow units, geomechanics, total organic carbon (TOC) distribution and type, and porosity/permeability types to aid reservoir/resource exploration and development. Fracture network modeling has emerged as an area of interest with the recognition of fractures as key petrophysical features defining flow and the recovery characteristics of reservoirs. The description and characterization of major fracture sets are frequently based on fractal models and/or on geostatistical criteria.

Historically, the primary role of petrophysics was to recommend data-collection programs and quantify hydrocarbons-in-place as indicated by openhole wireline tools. Over the years, its role has expanded, as has that of other disciplines (geophysics, geology/stratigraphy, geochemistry, basin modeling), to encompass many subjects, with countless tools used to address these subjects and move

TAKEAWAYS

Reservoir models are built on the basis of reservoir characterization. More recently, unconventional reservoir development has emphasized sweet-spot delineation and the definition of aspects such as structure, fractures, stratigraphy, and facies.

Conventional reservoirs have been characterized for more than 50 years, but the characterization of unconventional reservoirs is still in its infancy. Knowledge of reservoirs continues to improve with time and the evaluation of techniques.

The role of petrophysics has expanded, with countless tools available to move from qualitative to quantitative solutions or evaluations. The industry has started to move beyond initial prototypes and laboratory instrumentation designs by advancing newer techniques.

The perception of shale has changed, and its dynamic complexity is now recognized.

It became evident that new tools and innovative development were needed to better support the geological, geophysical, and petrophysical understandings and assessments of unconventional formations.

from qualitative to quantitative solutions or evaluations (Capsan and Sanchez-Ramirez 2016). The role had been seemingly siloed from integration with other disciplines as most petrophysicists were focused on the active operational components of logging a given vertically oriented wellbore and the

quality control and interpretation of the acquired data (Archie 1942; Waxman and Smits 1968; Juhasz 1981). Now, data are routinely acquired in vertical, deviated, and horizontal wellbores (Elkington et al. 2002; Market et al. 2016). Basic static laboratory measurements were used to define storage and flow as well as to confirm hydrocarbons-in-place using the Dean-Stark method. Integration with geochemical measurements such as TOC and programmed pyrolysis was still being developed and standardized into the late 1990s and early 2000s (Jarvie 1991; Behar et al. 2001; Carvajal-Ortiz and Gentzis 2015). The industry has now started to move beyond those initial prototypes and laboratory instrumentation designs by advancing techniques such as standard crushed-rock analysis and retort methodology, permeability techniques, and geochemical modifications and focusing on rock and fluid quantification (Maende et al. 2017; Durand et al. 2019).

Geologists dominantly relied on basic openhole wireline suites and seismic volumes for sequence stratigraphic interpretation and the development of depositional frameworks (Bohacs and Lazar 2010; Bohacs et al. 2011, 2014). Basic properties were mapped in 1D and 2D for sweet-spot identification by overlaying key geological properties for potential hydrocarbon accumulations. Also critical were a structural understanding of trap and seal analysis focused on conventional reservoir connectivity and volumetric assessment of the "size of the prize." The general understanding of the dynamic complexity in shale—or, more specifically, mudstone deposition—left a lot to be desired. The assumed model was one of consistently homogeneous drapes with no geological architecture or significant variation in organic matter type or presence. The primary concern was that there was shale somewhere and it was generating hydrocarbons, and within the basin it generated the top seal to conventional systems. Now, the conventional reservoir seal is the new reservoir and has important variations and changes that lead to varying horizontal drilling performance and production.

The understanding of carbonates and tight sands was also overly simplistic, where widely applied global models that assumed one tight carbonate was the same as any other were used for the sake of consistency despite subsurface variability. However, through whole-core acquisition and outcrop studies over the years, it has become evident that this might not be the case. Using the basic available tool suite(s) for all disciplines resulted in scientific and discipline-specific limitations. Techniques and methods needed to be updated to be applicable to unconventional formations and principles for rock and fluid interactions (Comisky et al. 2011; Handwerger et al. 2011). New tools and innovative development were needed to better support the geological, geophysical, and petrophysical understandings and assessments of unconventional formations.

Current Status

The current technologies for the measurement and characterization of petroleum fluids, the procedures to delineate depositional systems, and the methods to measure porosity and permeability are still acceptable. In fracture analysis and structural characterization, however, many misperceptions and obsolete approaches can be found. In geophysics, the main challenge has been seismic amplitude preservation. As we deal with more-complex structures, building velocity models and imaging become more pressing. Many challenges also exist for complex near-surface conditions. For unconventional reservoirs, for example, subtle reservoir impedance changes can still present difficulties for quantitative inversion.

Hydrocarbon-system applied understandings no longer consider the single-layer, constant subsurface property application of unconventional rock types but rather the complex, interbedded nature of these unconventional formations and variability in the rock and fluid interactions over time. Rather than rely on assumptions, time/temperature constraints are now focused on data collection using developed techniques specifically applicable to unconventional rocks spanning various play types. The focus of the geology, geochemistry, and petrophysics disciplines has shifted toward defining kerogen type, TOC enrichment or leanness, thermal maturity vs. time, and the distribution of organic matter, which influence qualitative and quantitative efforts. The geological characterization of sequence stratigraphic frameworks has been rejuvenated because of the complexity observed in shales (Passey et al. 2010). No longer are mudstones considered to be a homogeneous shale drape at the toe of a turbiditic sequence. Rather, the best practice is to pay close attention to the depositional environment of the lean or enriched organic matter within the fine-grained rock column (Bohacs et al. 2011).

In addition, comparing and contrasting elemental compositional information to and with 2D/3D maps and predicting where upwelling environments might exist or if a basin ever went anoxic or dysoxic are critical details now able to be interpreted from data generated using laboratory instruments and applied discipline methodology, unraveling the unconventional play types. Seismic volumes are being used to understand and constrain the rate of the depositional slope and how regionally extensive the maximum floods vs. boundary sequences are and how they influence the source-rock distribution, enrichment, and contribution to the overall hydrocarbon-filled rock volume and its ability to flow at producible rates. Mineralogy is key for the geologist and petrophysicist to understand the depositional environment using mineralogical indicators, such as pyrite and siderite compositions. This understanding helps them with derived property predictions on 1D well logs in a basinscale to per-wellbore-scale integration (Newsham et al. 2019a, b, and c). The compositional analysis of fluids must also be included in all subsurface disciplines to

TAKEAWAYS

While many current technologies are still acceptable, challenges to be tackled include seismic amplitude preservation and complex near-surface conditions.

The focus of the geology, geochemistry, and petrophysics disciplines has shifted toward defining kerogen type, TOC enrichment or leanness, thermal maturity vs. time, and the distribution of organic matter.

Understanding depositional environments using mineralogical indicators is key for geologists and petrophysicists for the prediction of derived properties at the basin scale and their integration into per-wellbore-scale information.

Geomechanical efforts and principles have been completely altered by the horizontal drilling environment, and acoustic and borehole-image-based logging tools are now being used in the opposite intended direction.

Improved understand of the stress state of a given basin and formation will help with enhancing or inhibiting fluid flow by taking into consideration the well orientation and completion impact on the rock column.

Petrophysically, it is now possible to apply thinly bedded analytical solutions by modifying the equations previously used for property interpretation by using measurements made on unconventionals specifically. map which waters will produce where and why as the industry continues to unravel water production with hydrocarbons in targeted formations where geology and petrophysics quantify both fluid phases in the subsurface; however, the disciplines continue to struggle to predict the production ratios of fluid phases.

Geomechanical efforts and principles have been completely altered by the horizontal drilling environment. Acoustic and borehole-image-based logging tools are now being applied in the opposite orientation for which the tools were designed to function. Fracture presence, type, and distribution are more important than ever, as these inputs can be built into discrete fracture network models, showing the industry how fracture behavior is influenced by wellbore drill path, design, and completion treatments. First-order geomechanical property interpretation from well logs (including gamma ray, bulk density, and sonic by petrophysicists) has indicated that in horizontal environments, the tools need to be pulled apart and every sector of a given acoustic array deciphered to make sure that accurate dynamic Poisson's ratio and Young's modulus values are estimated (Market and Deady 2008; Waters et al. 2011).

The primary focus currently lies with trying to better understand the stress state of a given basin and formation. This understanding helps with enhancing or inhibiting fluid flow by taking into consideration the well orientation and completion impact on the rock column. Defining the minimum and maximum stress states or constraints from derived stress envelopes is critical to influence business production results. It has also become important to model and predict the instantaneous stress imparted by fracturing technology vs. the isotropic or anisotropic natural state of the rock column. Stress profiles and applied modeling are used critically for all horizontal fracturing designs, wellbore placement, and predictions regarding how complex a given fracture design imparted to the rock could end up being.

Petrophysically, it is now possible to apply thinly bedded analytical solutions by modifying the equations previously used for property interpretation by using measurements made on unconventionals specifically (Silva and Bassiouni 1985; Sondergeld et al. 2010). A focus on the interpretation of geomechanical properties, along with pore pressure and fracture gradients, is also important. An understanding of effective vs. absolute vs. steady-state permeability is critical, and guidance for reservoir engineers—from capillary pressure to relative permeability measurements—is needed. Multiple tools and instruments are used to arrive at common data sets for the same parameters, cross-checking the uncertainty in all the competing technologies on the market that are still evolving into best-practice solutions. Cluster-based or machine-learning (ML) rock-typing models are critical to feed simulation efforts to ensure that the permeability of the formation varies appropriately, influencing fluid-flow understanding in 1D single-wellbore modeling to 3D multiwell modeling. A new focus has been placed on advancing and interpreting mobile water vs. bound water (beyond the foundational capillary-free, capillary-bound, and clay-bound definitions) (Nikitin et al. 2017; Pepper et al. 2019). The same applies to the understanding of hydrocarbon-phase mobility related to adsorption and its impact on preferential fluid-flow dynamics.

Advanced workflows for basin modeling, the mobility of fluids, and dynamic fluid-flow modeling and simulation have come a long way and continue to advance. Operational deployment methods for openhole tools in the horizontal logging environment have advanced and continue to improve. Horizontal environmental tool response modeling should continue to be investigated.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

Despite many impressive improvements, seismic prestack amplitude preservation and the ability to use the image for structural and amplitude/amplitude variation with offset in quantitative seismic interpretation remain challenges. Inversion for more-complex reservoir properties, such as anisotropy, also poses difficulties and depends on the reservoir properties (such as thickness). Similarly, imaging under a complex overburden and water-layer multiples and obtaining a better velocity model for imaging using full waveform inversion remain challenging.

The geophysical industry is moving toward increased sampling, and seismic data quality is increasing immensely. The use of seismic for unconventionals is still a work in progress. In general, each piece of substantial seismic technology has taken 5 to 10 years to mature, and we are, in some sense, still in the early development phase, but the technology is maturing for unconventional applications. In unconventionals, there is more demand to estimate properties like pore pressure, anisotropy, and stress that can show very weak sensitivity to seismic data. Rock physics for unconventional reservoirs is still an area of research, and promising methods are being developed. Moreover, the use of fiber optics (FO) data in geophysics is a new frontier that shows great promise. FO data during completion can provide information on aspects such as the mostproductive stages, fracture dimensions by stage, optimal usage of pressure, injected fluids and proppants present during each stage, and connectivity between wells. The use of FO during production can help produce a flow profile, and FO can be run at any time during production to see changes in the flow profile.

There has been a significant shift toward advanced analytics, ML, and artificial intelligence (AI) applications geared to the geologist, geophysicist, geochemist, and petrophysicist. ML is expected to substantially help

TAKEAWAYS

There is more demand in unconventionals to estimate properties like pore pressure, anisotropy, and stress that can show very weak sensitivity to seismic data.

The use of FO data in geophysics shows great promise.

While there has been a significant shift toward the use of advanced analytics, ML, and AI applications, much time and effort are spent on data curing and preprocessing.

Additional advancements have focused on openhole, casedhole, and production logging tools, in addition to laboratorybased methods, instruments, and measurements.

Advancements are needed in the areas of openhole wireline tools, product impacts, and mud logging.

Properly defined methods of calibrating subsurface reservoir characterization models are needed that use techniques and principles rooted in unconventional measurements and applications.

Additional challenges that merit continued focus include laboratory core analysis techniques and workflows, subsurface stress states, and static to dynamic behavior constraints.

simplify and improve seismic data analysis and interpretation. Much data are available for ML/AI projects, but a significant amount of time and effort are spent on data curing and preprocessing (Akkurt et al. 2018).

Additional advancements have focused on openhole, casedhole, and production logging tools, in addition to laboratory-based methods, instruments, and measurements. There has also been a focus on standard laboratory rock-property measurements to improve the crushed-rock analytical technique that Luffel and Guidry (1989, 1992) developed that has driven unconventional analysis for more than a decade. Techniques that involve a closed retorting quantification method are resulting in saturated volume reporting that is more than 90% accurate when compared to standard techniques, whose accuracy can range from 55 to 85%. The measurements and analyses of organic matter have advanced as a result of programmed pyrolysis multiramp methods, open and closed retort methodology, and scanning electron microscopy (SEM)-based quantification and segmentation volumes (Cheng et al. 2008; Jarvie 2012a, b; Loucks et al. 2012; Loucks and Reed 2014; Durand et al. 2019). The now-commercialized low-temperature hydrous pyrolysis (LTHP) method is revolutionizing the extraction of oil from whole core, resulting in accurate in-situ fluid to rock type characterization.

Multiple tools, including the LTHP method, are focused on and succeeding in production allocation typing through geochemical, petrophysical, geological, and engineering integration. A link between the LTHP techniques and correction methodology for closed retort and fluid-loss quantification for crushed-rock volumes might aid subsurface disciplines in the coming years. Additionally, multiramp or customized programmed pyrolysis worm flows focused on dissecting the volatile hydrocarbon region are helping to link fluid composition type to programmed pyrolysis results and might prove to be highly valuable in helping differentiate mobile vs. immobile hydrocarbon-phase fluids linked to possible recoverable volumes. Reservoir laboratories have designed workflows to physically integrate SEM-based volumes and then model dynamic fluid flow, which shows for a given completion design how the fluids in the pore system of a given rock type will be produced (Camp et al. 2013; Olson 2016). Significant advancements in water- and hydrocarbon-phase mobility vs. immobility have been made and are a continued focus in the technical disciplines.

A continued push is necessary to update and redesign openhole wireline tools so that they can be effectively implemented in high-angle logging environments. Advanced and more-accurate methods, measurements, applied principles, and tests related to production impacts are sorely needed. An area that begs for more science is mud logging—such as in the analysis of cuttings, gas chromatography—especially in unconventional lateral wells where logs are rarely run. Mud logs cut the formation before invasion and/or fracturing and could provide unique information not available from other methods.

The representativeness of laboratory measurements for geological, geophysical, and petrophysical properties is always a concern, especially as they are applied to tight rocks. It is not certain whether in-situ conditions can be duplicated in laboratory tests or how measurements can be scaled to represent the reservoir. Perhaps now is the time to think about robust ways of calibrating models on the basis of reservoir performance. Properly defined methods of calibrating subsurface reservoir characterization models are needed that use techniques and principles rooted in unconventional measurements and applications rather than those from previously defined conventional applications.

Despite the significant advances of the past 10 years, the following shortcomings and challenges deserve continued focus and further advancement as we develop the reservoir characterization of the 21st century:

- Openhole, casedhole, and production logging
- Laboratory core analysis techniques and workflows
- Application of ML and AI
- Resolving scalability
- Linking in-place assessments to recoverable reserves predictions
- Rock and fluid interactions and their influence on quantification
- Subsurface stress states
- Static to dynamic behavior constraints

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

Although technologies for reservoir characterization continue to improve, the standard tools and methodologies require significant improvements to accurately measure and assess the quality of modern reservoirs. Reservoir characterization should be performed using an interdisciplinary approach, with attention given to minor fractures and pore-scale flow and primarily based on detailed core analysis. Statistical fracture analysis should be based on adequate structural models that distinguish the different occurring fracture subsets, and these structural models should be supported by adequate multipleporosity numerical models.

Characterizing and modeling flow in fractured porous media are expected to be continuing challenges. An appropriate approach to reservoir simulation should consider that

TAKEAWAYS

Reservoir characterization should be performed using an interdisciplinary approach.

Reservoir simulation should consider that fractured rock volumes under steady-state conditions can be substantially different from those under dynamic conditions.

The essence of integration should be preserved to combine the input from all disciplines and integrate it to improve the description and prediction of rock and fluid-flow behavior.

The role and integration of the input of all disciplines should be defined by the properties and needs of each asset.

Petrophysical and rock physics studies are essential for supporting basin modelers, pore pressure estimates, geomechanics modeling, and completions optimization.

fractured rock volumes, showing the same permeability values under steady-state conditions, can exhibit substantially different hydraulic behaviors under dynamic conditions.

Integration is a term that is often loosely applied; it can mean different levels of disciplines coming together for a combined subsurface characterization or a model that combines a host of data but does not require more than one scientific discipline to quantify rock and fluid properties. The establishment of a new discipline, such as asset geology or petrophysics, or the use of embedded technical working models could help refocus integration. While the experts and specialists are still necessary in justifying the principle specific needs and focus, the asset can define the role and input of all disciplines and integrate them to improve the description and prediction of rock and fluid-flow behavior in unconventional hydrocarbon-bearing formations.

All subsurface characterization roles are critical to the foundation of the oil industry: the evaluation and quantification of hydrocarbons. The petrophysical discipline is applied when taking the acquired data or concepts and constraining the prediction of a given resource volume. Supporting basin modelers, pore pressure estimates, geomechanics modeling, and completions optimization design all require petrophysical and rock physics studies. The subsurface disciplines are unique in trying to combine static subsurface characterization measurements with dynamic wellhead results and build those into a predictive hypothesis and model. All disciplines require support from other specializations to execute science-based applications. Can each discipline help the others more by applying a different lens to the same data sets?

Core Analysis

Contributors

- Ryan Armstrong (University of New South Wales)
- Ted Griffin (external reviewer)
- Don Harville (independent consultant)
- Matt Honarpour (BHP)
- Craig Lindsay (Core Specialist Services)
- Holger Ott (Montanuniversität Leoben)
- Stefano Pruno (Stratum Reservoir)

Introduction

Core analysis is central to hydrocarbon exploration and production. Core samples extracted from reservoir rocks produce large volumes of data for many types of studies, including petrographical and petrophysical characterizations, reservoir performance prediction, source and seal analysis, and geomechanics, formation damage, geochemistry, and well engineering studies. Core data constitute the "ground truth" (McPhee et al. 2015), and accurate core analysis is essential before any reservoir study is begun.

While there is an established laboratory protocol of core analysis for conventional reservoirs, the link between the laboratory results and reservoir fluid dynamics has yet to be fully established. Furthermore, core analysis for unconventional reservoirs is still in its infancy. This section presents a synopsis of the existing challenges in the current practice and speculates on the path core analysis should take to tackle the current challenges and to meet future industry needs.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

The established core analysis practice is a result of decades-long, extensive research and industry application. [Refer to McPhee et al. (2015) for a discussion on the development of core analysis.] Early work focused mostly on geological description, routine core analysis (RCAL) data gathering, and reservoir performance assessment through simple corefloods using synthetic fluids. Core analysis has since continuously evolved, with new requirements for improved understanding—such as wettability and reservoir recovery mechanisms—and by introducing new technologies such as the simultaneous measurement of capillary pressure and electrical properties using high-pressure porous plates, the recording of fluid-phase pressure during coreflooding, in-situ saturation monitoring, pore-scale visualization, and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). Multisensor core scanning now allows the true value of the information held within the core to be realized.

Core analysis is an integrated process. Acquiring core data does not only involve conducting the desired tests on extracted core samples but also requires an extended and detailed process that includes planning a fit-for-purpose study program, low-invasion/sponge/pressure coring, the wellsite handling of cores, transportation, pre-analysis processing, plugging, sample selection, laboratory testing, a data quality check, and a collective analysis of the data from the perspectives

of various disciplines (geology, petrophysics, and reservoir engineering). Laboratory testing forms only one part of this multitask process, and failure at any step of this integral process has the potential to invalidate the produced data. Moreover, many technical questions exist regarding how to upscale from the pore to the core scale with the incorporation of subcore-scale heterogeneity.

Many methods/techniques, such as overburden correction and the use of preserved cores vs. restored cores, have been developed to ensure that laboratory core data are representative of the reservoir conditions before entering them into a geological or reservoir model. However, there is still considerable uncertainty in interpretations. The primary sources of uncertainty are the difficulty of conducting tests at in-situ conditions and the alteration of petrophysical properties related to mud invasion and the inevitable chemical and mechanical rock material changes when the core is brought to the surface.

Determining how to enter core data into static and dynamic models has been a challenging task for decades. Recent improvements in reservoir characterization and numerical simulation have made it possible to run simulations on moregrids of reservoir-representative complex numerical heterogeneity. This has inevitably required more-complex data inputs for robust numerical predictions. Initially, a single set of $p_c(S_w)$ and $k_r(S_w)$ or $k_r(S_g)$ curves was deemed sufficient for studying a reservoir; nowadays, multiple curves are required for specific types of reservoir rock. This so-called rock typing allows geoscientists and engineers to characterize reservoirs much more effectively, but the $p_c(S_w)$ and $k_r(S_w)$ or $k_r(S_g)$ curves assigned to each rock type must be delineated in such a way as to represent reservoir recovery mechanisms at different scales for accurate predictions.

The imaging of rock pore space combined with advanced computational methods have resulted in digital core analysis (DCA). Currently, almost all core analysis data could be generated digitally, which allows digital core computations to be made at various scales so that an upscaling from pore to core can be investigated. A complete replacement of laboratory data with DCA data is unlikely and probably undesirable because of the uncertainty in replication. Although proponents of DCA would strongly disagree that the relevance of the digitally derived data has not been

TAKEAWAYS

The established core analysis practice is a result of decades-long, extensive research and industry application.

Core analysis is an integrated and extended process, and failure at any step has the potential to invalidate the produced data.

Many methods/techniques have been developed to ensure that laboratory core data are representative of the reservoir conditions, but there is still considerable uncertainty in interpretations.

Determining how to enter core data into static and dynamic models has been a challenging task for decades, but recent improvements in reservoir characterization and numerical simulation have made it possible to run simulations on more-complex numerical grids of reservoir-representative heterogeneity.

Currently, almost all core analysis data could be generated digitally (DCA), which allows digital core computations to be made at various scales so that an upscaling from pore to core can be investigated.

Core analysis data for unconventional reservoirs are as important as those for conventional reservoirs, but most of the conventional techniques for RCAL are inapplicable to these reservoirs. proven, many major operators who themselves advocate for or support DCA still rely on conventional laboratory experiments to provide critical reservoir data.

Core analysis data for unconventional reservoirs (shales, tight formations, coalbed methane, gas hydrates) are as important as those for conventional reservoirs. However, the tight nature of unconventional rock, as well as recovery mechanisms, often render most of the conventional techniques for RCAL inapplicable. The issues of core extraction, core sampling, and reservoirrepresentative samples are compounded in unconventional rocks by complex geomechanical and surface chemistry properties.

Current Status

Although insufficient characterization of a reservoir is one of the primary causes of uncertainties in oil-in-place and reserves calculations, core acquisition is often assigned a low priority these days. Currently, there exists no standard in the industry regarding how much core data are needed and the minimum/sufficient data volume needed for special core analysis (SCAL). RCAL and SCAL techniques and workflows are well-established, and much literature is available; however, workflows are not standardized, and in some cases, best practices do not reflect modern developments like automatic numerical history matching of experiments and DCA. Similarly, the lack of an established best practice in rock typing influences plug selection and the overall SCAL program. Sample-to-sample variation within a rock type and uncertainties from measurements lead to substantial variation/uncertainty in SCAL data. Numerical data interpretation, including uncertainty modeling, helps manage such uncertainty.

Sample preparation is one of the biggest challenges today in terms of keeping the rock representative of the subsurface conditions (in terms of wettability and mineral integrity). The uncertainty resulting from the difficulty of conducting tests on unaltered samples at insitu conditions also persists. Although some aqueousand oil-phase tracers have been used to understand the impact of filtrate invasion on the core state, the phrase "reservoir representative" is still vague. A prime example is wettability, which controls every factor relevant to the

TAKEAWAYS

The industry suffers from a lack of standardization and best practices, which can lead to substantial variation/uncertainty in the data. For example, while RCAL and SCAL techniques and workflows are wellestablished, the workflows are not standardized, and in some cases, best practices do not reflect modern developments like automatic numerical history matching of experiments and DCA.

Sample preparation is one of the biggest challenges today in terms of keeping the rock representative of the subsurface conditions, and the uncertainty resulting from the difficulty of conducting tests on unaltered samples at in-situ conditions also persists.

Core analysis currently lacks standardized QC/QA methodologies.

New techniques are currently being explored for the rock properties, such as permeability and effective and total porosity, that describe emerging flow mechanisms in unconventional reservoirs.

SCAL in unconventionals also remains primitive, mostly because of the inability to saturate ultratight rocks to known saturation states. NMR could be useful.

Current approaches barely extract a small fraction of the information the core holds, but big-data methods could be useful. In the smart core analysis concept, automated high-resolution core data logging is combined with data analytics and machine learning on all new cores before analysis is performed. contents of the reservoir and their in-situ transport. In particular, $p_c(S_w)$ and $k_r(S_w)$ curves are significantly affected by wettability. There are standard methods—such as the Amott and the US Bureau of Mines tests—for use in the laboratory, yet the in-situ wettability cannot be accurately assessed. Furthermore, accurate assessments of in-situ wettability raise additional questions regarding how best to restore and/or preserve the in-situ state.

Currently, core analysis lacks standardized quality control/quality assurance (QC/QA) methodologies. SCAL programs are relatively expensive and time consuming, and reservoir core material is often quite limited. Furthermore, inadequate SCAL programs and the misinterpretation of SCAL data can lead to poor forecasts and incorrect business decisions. Numerical data interpretation, including uncertainty modeling, helps manage some of the uncertainty in the analysis, and in rather rare cases, numerical simulations are used for data interpretation and QC, which helps include full physics and link relative permeability and capillary pressure measurements.

New techniques are currently being explored for the rock properties that describe emerging flow mechanisms in unconventional reservoirs. Permeability and effective and total porosity appear to be more challenging to measure for unconventional reservoirs. Even porosity in the traditional sense is not easily defined and measured because of gases that permeate through nanometer-sized pores. Permeability methods in unconventionals definitely require clarification. We have made good use of the crushed-rock method, but it is very empirical. There is still a lack of understanding of permeability "states," such as Klinkenberg, air, gas, and specific brine permeability.

SCAL in unconventionals also remains primitive, mostly because of the inability to saturate ultratight rocks to known saturation states. NMR could be useful. Diffusion, wettability, capillary pressure, and spontaneous imbibition are currently under broad investigation for the development of robust laboratory methodologies. Relative permeability appears to be challenging to measure and could dynamically change as the reservoir ages depending on sorption, geomechanics, and changes in wettability. Commercial laboratories have a limited ability to conduct corefloods on rock samples of submillidarcy permeability. The workload is high for SCAL analysis in unconventionals because measurements need to be conducted at current and future reservoir conditions with advanced equipment and protocols. Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) in unconventionals, which is emerging and will likely have a significant economic impact, also requires sophisticated core analysis practices.

Current approaches barely extract a small fraction of the information the core holds. One method of acquiring big data is the smart core analysis concept, where automated high-resolution core data logging is combined with data analytics and machine learning on all new cores before analysis is performed. The data analytics and machine-learning methods, originally developed outside of the oil and gas industry, are rapid, nondestructive, and noninvasive. Various government and operator-owned core repositories worldwide are currently in the process of or considering creating "digital" clones of the physical cores using multisensor core logging.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

The first and foremost gap in core analysis is the lack of a unified industry standard for a complete and integrated core analysis process. Such a standard would provide a strong base for all stakeholders (commercial labs, operators) and improve data acquisition and quality. Currently, many geoscientists (geomodelers, petrophysicists) and engineers (simulation engineers) in the industry use core analysis data, but only a few are involved in the collection of the data. Given the lack of standards, it remains difficult for those who are not involved in the data collection to understand the process, posing a risk that unrepresentative data will be used in reservoir modeling studies. Standardization should include data interpretation workflows and ensure an honest assessment of experimental errors, data uncertainties with respect to study objectives, and the representativeness of data regarding reservoir conditions.

Like other data, core analysis data are uncertain, and that is often ignored in core data management. The sources of uncertainty in core analysis data range from experimental errors to interpretation uncertainty, and it is not uncommon to see two different measurements from two laboratory vendors for sister core samples (Hensel et al. 1988; Forbes 1997). Commercial laboratories' QC/QA is mostly restricted to the data they are producing, and this level of OC/OA is insufficient for the needs of petrophysicists and reservoir engineers, to calibrate logs and build saturation/height functions and relative permeability curves. QC/QA practices for six sigma approaches (Allen 2006) to core analysis are currently lacking, which stems from the time-consuming nature of SCAL and RCAL methodologies, the difficulty of identifying homogeneous duplicate samples, and a lack of standard and best-practice protocols across vendors. New technologies could be adapted to improve QA practices. An example would be to use 3D-printed rock proxies to create sets of self-similar QA samples and have them tested simultaneously at multiple laboratories.

With few exceptions, the data from core analysis present no more than a "snapshot" of the selected sample. Furthermore, different disciplines may have different views on sampling; while the SCAL expert is interested in rather homogeneous samples, the petrophysicist may be interested in samples relevant for log calibration and interpretation, and the reservoir engineer is interested in the high-permeability zones. As a result, important features of reservoirs (especially carbonates) could remain unexplored by core analysis, which, in turn, restricts the coverage of the relevant recovery mechanisms. An

TAKEAWAYS

A unified industry standard for a complete and integrated core analysis process is needed to provide a strong base for all stakeholders and improve data acquisition and quality.

New technologies could be adapted to improve QA practices. An example would be to use 3D-printed rock proxies to create sets of self-similar QA samples and have them tested simultaneously at multiple laboratories.

An objective criteria catalogue for core analysis must be developed and linked to the needs of the disciplines for each development strategy. A "smart" core analysis approach could provide a large data volume that is effectively continuous and enables "intelligent" core sampling for studies of all kinds.

A need exists to increase awareness of the designing and planning of a core analysis study, especially among young engineers.

Because current preserved- and restored-state methodologies have been developed without performing a definitive assessment of the in-situ wetting state, validation is lacking. Unified workflows on sample preparation (cleaning/aging) could be required.

In unconventional rocks, the issues of core extraction and sampling and what constitutes reservoir representative samples are compounded by complex geomechanical and surface chemistry properties. objective criteria catalogue must be developed and linked to the needs of the disciplines for each development strategy. A "smart" core analysis approach that involves automated core scanning and would precede both RCAL and SCAL could provide a large data volume that is effectively continuous (on a submillimeter scale, in some cases) and enables "intelligent" (informed) core sampling for studies of all kinds.

McPhee et al. (2015) suggest that most legacy core data are not useful because of the lack of a proper fitfor-purpose design. A need exists to increase awareness of the designing and planning of a core analysis study, especially among young engineers. Numerical simulation engineers use the Corey model to produce $k_r(S_w)$ curves and the Brooks-Corey model for $p_c(S_w)$ curves. These models might be acceptable for green fields or marginal fields, but it is essential to produce these curves based on a ground truth—a large volume of high-quality data that properly represents reservoir rock and fluid properties and reservoir recovery mechanisms.

Because current preserved- and restored-state methodologies have been developed without performing a definitive assessment of the in-situ wetting state, validation is lacking. Unified workflows on sample preparation (cleaning/aging) could be required. Moreover, newer developments like digital-rock physics could become a more-useful tool to bracket the uncertainties envelope in $k_t(S_w)$ and $p_c(S_w)$ curves by simulating the sensitivities to interfacial properties, which could enter the reservoir simulation workflow. The proper numerical evaluation also allows for honest uncertainty modeling, delivering a range of $k_r(S_w)$ and $p_c(S_w)$ curves rather than single curves. This is a required input for modern stochastic reservoir modeling; the simultaneous numerical history matching of multiple SCAL data sets should be a best practice, but it is not a common standard.

In unconventional rocks, the issues of core extraction and sampling and what constitutes reservoir-representative samples are compounded

TAKEAWAYS

The few published standards and guidebooks that exist have mostly focused on conventional reservoirs and better represent laboratory perspectives; similar guidelines for unconventional reservoirs (shale, coal) and green fields are needed.

Because core data have been collected for decades, there could be an opportunity to apply data analytics techniques to understand, for example, the patterns for certain rock types. An industry collaboration could add value to this through, for example, building open-source rock catalogs.

Data fusion, upscaling, advanced imaging techniques, and superresolution convolutional neural networks could expand our current capabilities in replicating SCAL data with digital rocks.

Direct numerical simulations and dynamic imaging of pore-scale flows provide new insights into the flow mechanisms that lead to oil mobilization, solubilization, and/or trapping. With the added value of simulations and measured SCAL properties, laboratory coreflooding protocols could be designed to select and refine a given recovery technology.

Uncertainties with respect to the wetting state, interfacial tension, and other factors should be explored, complementing SCAL data. DCA provides a means to explore the parameter space and then direct laboratory studies in more-meaningful directions. Alternatively, DCA can be used to expand (or augment) currently available SCAL or RCAL data to create larger databases for data analytics. by complex geomechanical and surface chemistry properties. Answers to questions such as whether oil-based or water-based mud is preferred, how pull-out-of-hole schedules should be designed, how invasion affects core analysis, and how laboratory data from different sources should be reconciled are still pending. Similarly, green fields almost always do not have the required data, and analog data are used. Unfortunately, there are no published guidelines regarding how an analog field should be chosen.

Although extensive research has been conducted on core analysis, there are only a few published standards and guidebooks, which have mostly focused on conventional reservoirs and better represent laboratory perspectives (*API RP 40* 1998; McPhee et al. 2015). Guidelines for low-quality chalks have been released (Maas and Springer 2014), but similar published guidelines for other types of unconventional reservoirs (shale, coal) and green fields are lacking.

Considering that core data have been collected for decades, there could be an opportunity to apply data analytics techniques to understand, for example, the patterns for certain rock types using more readily available core analysis data such as RCAL and mercury intrusion capillary pressure data. An industry collaboration could add value to this through, for example, building open-source rock catalogs. This would require the standardization of data formats for interfacing with machine-learning and/or data analytics approaches. Standardization is often the most time-consuming task for big-data analytics, and because legacy data are saved in various formats, an automatic data-mining technique would be required for database generation. Once again, the problem is that data QC must be performed before the data can be used, and that is hard to automate.

To replicate SCAL data, digital rocks must have spatial wetting properties that are representative at the micrometer-length scale, which is still a challenge. In addition, model domains must be large enough to represent subcore heterogeneity while also being of high-enough resolution to capture bottleneck features that influence flow. This is commonly referred to as the resolution vs. field-of-view problem. Data fusion, upscaling, advanced imaging techniques, and superresolution convolutional neural networks could expand our current capabilities. The recent focus on the direct visualization of saturated rock under reservoir conditions has the potential to tackle the wettability challenge. This would provide not only informed surface properties for digital-rock simulations but also insights into defining the term "reservoir-representative core." A significant gap in DCA is how to accurately represent heterogeneity and wettability because of problems associated with the generation of reservoir-representative cores for SCAL workflows.

DCA also offers great potential for understanding recovery mechanisms at various scales, which could especially add value for unconventional reservoirs and EOR technologies. Direct numerical simulations and dynamic imaging of pore-scale flows provide new insights into the flow mechanisms that lead to oil mobilization, solubilization, and/or trapping. With the added value of simulations and measured SCAL properties, laboratory coreflooding protocols could be designed to select and refine a given recovery technology. Note, however, that large uncertainty in direct core measurements for unconventionals could restrict the validation of DCA computations of core properties.

Uncertainties with respect to the wetting state, interfacial tension, and other factors should be explored, complementing SCAL data. As a result, an uncertainty envelope rather than a defined saturation function could be used in reservoir simulations. In advanced studies, such as EOR

corefloods, there are wide ranges of parameters that cannot be tested within a reasonable time frame using standard laboratory techniques. DCA provides a means to explore the parameter space and then direct laboratory studies in more-meaningful directions. Alternatively, DCA can be used to expand (or augment) currently available SCAL or RCAL data to create larger databases for data analytics. Many machine-learning algorithms require a preconditioner before they are trained for a specific task. The preconditioner could be digital-rock data. Then, a specific reservoir could be fine-tuned using existing SCAL and RCAL data.

Standards and best practices, including more-recent developments like the automatic numerical history matching of experiments and DCA, need to be defined; in many cases, SCAL laboratories still rely on classical analytical solutions for data interpretation. This is clearly insufficient because the underlying assumptions are typically not fulfilled in SCAL experiments. For conventional reservoirs, such standards could be based on existing technology. For unconventional reservoirs, the community is far from developing standardization and new technologies, and new terminology could be required.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

The industry lacks common guidelines regarding how to handle legacy data. Every operator has a collection of archived data that needs to be integrated with the new data before any reservoir modeling study can be performed. In many cases, especially for smaller developments, insufficient or no SCAL data are available. In these cases, and for QC, a common SCAL database would be desirable. Such databases exist and are maintained by some companies but are not publicly available. The community would greatly benefit from the creation of a public SCAL database, particularly for decision making, early and small developments, and QC.

TAKEAWAYS

The community would greatly benefit from the creation of a public SCAL database, particularly for decision making, early and small developments, and QC.

Although experience is hard to impart to others, guidelines must be developed to capture, as much as possible, the best legacy-data QC practices of the experts.

The approaches for producing SCAL data using digital-rock simulations also need to be standardized and guided. One approach would be for the industry to provide grand challenges, like those provided for the SPE Comparative Solution Project but for digital rock, to transfer and share experience.

Numerical history matching of SCAL data must be standardized to make the best use of SCAL data.

It would be beneficial to discuss how the hands-on RCAL laboratory education could be redesigned to maximize the benefit for both engineers and the industry. University curricula could be expanded to include SCAL and DCA and/or laboratory approaches for unconventional and conventional rocks.

Moreover, part of legacy data QC is a judgment call by the practitioner based on their direct experience of the methods and equipment in use at the time. Some petrophysical software packages allow SCAL data to be imported and implemented by users with limited knowledge. Such software, however, cannot discriminate between high- and low-quality data. Although experience is hard to impart to others, guidelines must be developed to capture, as much as possible, the best practices of the experts. Unfortunately, there are only a few experts in the industry who can

perform QC/QA of legacy core analysis data, especially SCAL data, and most core analysis experts work for major operators or as consultants. In both cases, they must perform the work for which they were employed, usually with project-specific or commercial drivers as the sole priority. There is little time (and no revenue) for such aspirational activities. Because most SCAL studies are performed at commercial laboratories, which have competing commercial interests, achieving the universal adoption of standard practices and monitoring compliance might be challenging—but are also necessary.

The approaches for producing SCAL data using digital-rock simulations also need to be standardized and guided. One approach would be for the industry to provide grand challenges, like those provided for the SPE Comparative Solution Project (Islam and Sepehrnoori 2013) but for digital rock, to transfer and share experience. Various data projects, such as the Digital Rocks Portal (Prodanović et al. 2015), exist. However, high-quality SCAL data should be produced in a laboratory to validate the digitally generated data to advance this field and identify valid/robust approaches.

Numerical history matching of SCAL data must be standardized to make the best use of SCAL data. Proper numerical data interpretation and uncertainty modeling require a good understanding of the experimental procedures and the underlying physical processes. However, numerical SCAL interpretation tools are often proprietary or commercial, which limits their use to very advanced SCAL laboratories. This is a problem, particularly for smaller developments and educational purposes, and the field would benefit greatly if the experience and guidelines could be documented and transferred to younger practitioners.

It is also important to address the problem at its core. RCAL is typically offered in petroleum engineering undergraduate curricula, but that is all the core analysis education a petroleum engineer might receive unless they participate in experimental work during their postgraduate studies. It would be beneficial to discuss how the hands-on laboratory education could be redesigned to maximize the benefit for both engineers and the industry. Although unconventional reservoir evaluation techniques have evolved significantly after the examination of many tens of thousands of feet of core, the information regarding protocols and results is closely held, but these procedures and their advantages and limitations must be disseminated by means of education (e.g., short courses). University curricula could be expanded to include SCAL and DCA and/or laboratory approaches for unconventional and conventional rocks. Programs could be offered as elective courses and/or upskilling courses/workshops for industry professionals.

Pressure Transient Analysis

Contributors

- Vincent Artus (KAPPA)
- Tom Blasingame (Texas A&M University)
- Wei-Chun Chu (independent consultant)
- Florian Hollaender (Schlumberger)
- Olivier Houze (KAPPA)
- Mazher Ibrahim (independent consultant)
- Erdal Ozkan (Colorado School of Mines)
- Francesca Verga (Politecnico di Torino)

Introduction

The definition and economic viability of a hydrocarbon reservoir strongly depend on the quantity and type of fluids present, quality of the reservoir, and productivity of the wells bringing the fluids to the surface. Although static measurements can provide early estimates, the only direct approach for assessing these characteristics is to analyze the effective fluid flow from the reservoir. The analysis of the effective fluid-flow data, originally called well-test interpretation, is now known as pressure transient analysis (PTA).

In PTA, the pressure response to a production/shut-in sequence imposed at the well is interpreted by matching the field data with an appropriate analytical or simplified numerical model to estimate reservoir properties and completion efficiencies. Historically, the primary flow regime of interest was infinite-acting radial flow (IARF), which provided an estimate of the fluid mobility in the reservoir, the productivity of the well, and some extrapolated pressure. However, methods have evolved to identify and match wellbore behaviors and complex well geometries (generally early time), reservoir heterogeneities, and boundaries (late time).

History, Background, and Original Concepts

TAKEAWAYS

Well analysis was initially limited to the use of oversimplified models and semilog plots.

Log-log type-curve analysis was developed in the 1970s.

The foundations of minifracture (or DFIT) tests were laid in the late 1970s.

Pressure-derivative analysis introduced by Bourdet et al. (1983) significantly improved the identification of flow regimes for straight-line analysis and confidence in type-curve matching.

In the late 1980s and in the 1990s, the development of software enabled computerized PTA and the use of complex analytical and numerical models in interpretations.

The deployment of permanent data measurements created enormous quantities of pressure data.

The introduction of efficient deconvolution algorithms improved the ability to analyze multirate and multiwell tests.

Until the late 1950s, well testing was mostly limited to determining reservoir permeability, the skin effect or productivity index, the drainage area, and average reservoir pressure using relatively limited solutions and models by van Everdingen and Hurst (1949), Miller et al. (1950), Horner (1951), and others. Analysis was performed by identifying the IARF portion of the pressure transient data from a straight-line behavior on a semilog plot of pressure vs. a logarithmic time function that may or may not have been corrected for the production history. This approach, known as straight-line analysis, was later extended to other types of flow regimes—such as spherical,

linear, and bilinear flow—on the basis of the existence of a linear trend on the Cartesian plots of pressure vs. a specific time function.

New models (e.g., for naturally fractured reservoirs; Barenblatt et al. 1960; Warren and Root 1963; Kazemi 1969) were developed in the 1960s. New solutions and analysis concepts (e.g., wellbore storage and skin type curves) developed throughout the 1970s (Agarwal et al. 1970; Ramey 1970; Earlougher and Kersch 1974) became some of the fundamental analysis tools and laid the foundation for computerized PTA (Abbaszadeh and Kamal 1988; Allain and Horne 1990). The log-log type-curve-matching approach was enhanced by the concept of independent variables, and it became more useful as a reservoir description tool during exploration.

Interest in fracturing tight-gas wells gave rise to fractured-well-test models in the mid-1970s and early 1980s (Gringarten et al. 1974; Cinco L. et al. 1978; Cinco-Ley and Samaniego 1981). The foundations of minifracture tests and diagnostic fracture injection tests (DFITs) were also laid in the late 1970s (Cleary 1979; Nolte 1979).

In the early 1980s, prompted by a revolution in electronic gauges, pressure-derivative analysis (Bourdet et al. 1983) was a significant breakthrough in identifying the flow regimes for straightline analysis and improving the confidence in type-curve matching due to the simultaneous matching of pressure and pressure-derivative data. Subsequently, the development of computergenerated complex interpretation models offered the opportunity to account for reservoir heterogeneities. In the late 1980s and in the 1990s, software development boosted by personalcomputer capabilities led to semiautomatic history matching with complex analytical and numerical models.

Industry embraced horizontal-well technology in the late 1980s. This led to the development of pressure transient models for a wide range of applications of horizontal wells (Clonts and Ramey 1986; Ozkan et al. 1989; Kuchuk et al. 1990; Odeh and Babu 1990; Kuchuk et al. 1991; Ozkan and Raghavan 1991a).

In the 1990s, the fractal reservoir concept was introduced into the PTA of naturally fractured reservoirs (Chang and Yortsos 1990; Acuna et al. 1995), and in the 2000s, anomalous diffusion was introduced as a means of incorporating small-scale heterogeneity into pressure transient models (Raghavan 2011). In the late 1990s and early 2000s, the deployment of permanent data measurements created enormous quantities of pressure data that became natural candidates for PTA, without the need to run specific well or formation tests (Unneland et al. 1998). During the same period, the development of unconventional plays using fractured horizontal wells prompted interest in new PTA models for linear flow in naturally fractured shale-gas and tight-oil plays (El-Banbi and Wattenbarger 1998; Brown et al. 2011; Stalgorova and Mattar 2013).

Effective deconvolution algorithms were also introduced during this period, allowing successive buildups acquired by permanent downhole gauges to be converted into a constant-rate single drawdown with a duration equal to the total well production (von Schroeter et al. 2004; Ilk et al. 2005; Levitan 2005). New deconvolution algorithms also provided new approaches for the PTA of multiwell tests (Levitan 2007).

Current Status

PTA today has little in common with the PTA of the late 1970s because of the tools and technologies now used, such as electronic gauges, permanent measurements, multiphase flowmeters, the latest generations of formation testers, microcomputers, commercial software, analytical and numerical models, and optimization routines.

In terms of the underlying principles and methodology, however, not much has changed. The basic PTA methodology and tools-which were built on a linear diffusion combining Darcy's law, the conservation of mass, and a slightly compressible liquid-might appear oversimplified, but they work reasonably well in the absence of severe nonlinearities heterogeneities. Pressure/volume/temperature and and petrophysical nonlinearities are packaged in pseudofunctions (Al-Hussainy et al. 1966; Raghavan 1976; Agarwal 1979) whenever possible to extend the linear domain. When nonlinear behaviors cannot be neglected or linearized, they are reproduced using numerical models but displayed and matched on the same diagnostic plots on the basis of linear diffusion.

The Bourdet derivative remains the diagnostic and matching function of choice in PTA with a set of specialty plots applied to characteristic flow regimes. However, technical groups or experts diverge some ancillary subject-matter on methodologies, such as deconvolution (Onur et al. 2008). There is general agreement that deconvolution algorithms are useful, especially to add material-balance information and to establish the drainage area for a given well when grouping successive buildups. However, there is disagreement regarding the usability of multiwell deconvolution and the point at which nonlinearities and other system changes will (by definition) invalidate the process (Levitan 2007).

The difficulty of understanding physical diffusion models in

TAKEAWAYS

PTA tools and technologies have advanced, but the underlying principles and methodology remain unchanged.

When nonlinear behaviors cannot be neglected or linearized, they are reproduced using numerical models but matched on the same diagnostic plots on the basis of linear diffusion.

There is disagreement regarding the usefulness of deconvolution, particularly with multiple wells.

A new generation of analytical models and improved numerical representation of discrete fracture networks have emerged.

There is disagreement regarding the best methodology for minifracture analysis.

The use of numerical models varies significantly between operators.

Harmonic testing and impulse tests/closed-chamber tests have gained renewed attention, although concerns remain.

tight, unconventional plays has led to a new generation of analytical models (e.g., for fractal reservoirs and anomalous diffusion; Flamenco-López and Camacho-Velázquez 2003; Albinali et al. 2016; Raghavan et al. 2017) and the improved numerical representation of discrete fracture networks (Yu et al. 2018; Artus 2020).

Minifracture or DFIT analysis (Gu et al. 1993; Abousleiman et al. 1994; Mayerhofer et al. 1995; Mayerhofer and Economides 1996; Soliman et al. 2005; Mohamed et al. 2020) is now currently integrated in the PTA workflow and most commercial PTA software. However, the best and most-appropriate methodology(s) to use for minifracture analysis is a contentious issue among subject-

matter experts and major service companies (Hawkes et al. 2018). A discussion is also underway regarding whether we will be able to develop models that can reproduce both production/shut-in and fractures during opening and closure.

The use of numerical models in PTA remains at the discernment of operators. Currently, some operators choose to not use numerical models, some use numerical models only when analytical models have failed, and others consider that a PTA is not complete without a final match with a numerical model.

Harmonic testing (periodic rate sequence, sinusoidal or otherwise, at different frequencies) and impulse tests/closedchamber tests (instantaneous injection or production of a given volume of fluid controlled by wellbore storage) have gained renewed attention in the past two decades (Fokker et al. 2018; Salina Borello et al. 2019). These tests derive an interpretable periodic signal from measured pressures and offer the advantage of continuing production/injection during the test. However, some concerns currently linger about their interpretability and suitability for reservoir characterization beyond the vicinity of the well.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

The accurate estimation/measurement of flow rates has always been the weak point in PTA. One can expect a continuation in the deployment of permanent measurements: the installation of permanent downhole pressure gauges and fiber-optic equipment and, increasingly, the use of high-frequency multiphase flowmeters. While these flowmeters are, for now, being reserved for high-profile wells, they could become a game changer if one can at last get access to high-frequency, high-quality pressure and rate measurements.

Future improvements in PTA will also come from the use of a combination of measurements. New developments in acquiring pressure, temperature, and multiwell data, multiphase rates, and distributed measurements should lead to new workflows and procedures to enhance continuous appraisal and evergreen models.

Costs, risks, and environmental considerations will continue to limit the number of conventional pressure transient

TAKEAWAYS

The continued deployment of permanent measurements is expected; the common use of high-frequency multiphase flowmeters could revolutionize pressure and rate measurements.

A combination of measurements pressure, temperature, and multiwell data, multiphase rates, and distributed measurements—could lead to new workflows, enhancing continuous appraisal and evergreen models.

A new generation of formation testers and permanent gauges will provide supporting data for both standard PTA and formation tests; PTA procedures will help the post-processing of data from new formation testing tools.

If the concerns regarding a short radius of investigation can be addressed, the advantage of having uninterrupted production/injection during harmonic, impulse, and closed-chamber tests would offer more opportunities for PTA.

More-adequate PTA tools are needed for minifracture-test applications in unconventionals.

Automation will likely change the engineer's role, but it is currently unclear how or if automation, AI, and data analytics will ultimately affect PTA methodology.

(drillstem) tests to the minimum required. On the other hand, improved data collection by means of a new generation of formation testers and permanent gauges will increase the overlap of the data

collected for PTA and formation-test analysis. It is also expected that PTA will take on a larger role in the postprocessing of the data acquired using these tools.

If the concerns regarding a short radius of investigation can be addressed, the advantage of having uninterrupted production/injection during harmonic, impulse, and closedchamber tests would offer more opportunities for PTA. Similarly, there is more to learn and develop regarding injection testing—especially considering that numerical models can readily simulate these operations.

In the area of unconventional PTA, a convergence of concepts/solutions for an industry-standard minifracture analysis methodology is needed. The development of models that can handle both flow and geomechanics should open the door to a unified PTA + minifracture workflow. Additional developments in modeling flow behavior in unconventional reservoirs should be expected and will possibly incorporate nanoscale models of storage and flow behavior (e.g., anomalous diffusion, adsorption, molecular sieving). Last, the industry should be able to reach an agreement regarding what deconvolution algorithms can/cannot and should/should not be expected to achieve.

It is currently unclear how technologies such as automation, data analytics, and artificial intelligence (AI) will affect PTA. Automation is a work that is actively in progress, and actions currently performed directly by an engineer may be taken over by automatic processes that may involve data analytics or AI.

TAKEAWAYS

The foundations of PTA and the importance of models (vs. varying practices and tools) should be emphasized.

Because the availability of a suitable model enables the interpretation, analysts should have the knowledge and experience to couple their interpretations with the model's assumptions.

We must support the training of a new generation of model developers who are equipped with the theoretical and practical foundations and an ability to recognize nonstandard behaviors and complex environments.

We must recognize that nonuniqueness is the natural consequence of the solution of an inverse problem based on an approximate representation of reality by a physical model.

Industry initiatives are currently guiding technology providers to produce microservices that will be functionally equivalent to what engineers do using an interactive software dedicated to the same tasks. One outcome that seems certain is that these technologies will radically change the day-to-day work of an engineer, even if, paradoxically, the PTA methodology itself is unlikely to be affected. Ultimately, the engineer should have the final word on the selection of the physical model.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

Modern software and AI technologies have helped those with limited theoretical backgrounds use PTA for standard cases. However, for more-complex cases, to which PTA is expected to contribute the most, following recipes or using automated interpretation options leads to dramatic failures. To distinguish PTA from empirical curve-matching procedures, the foundations of PTA—which are based on the mechanics of fluid flow in geological porous media—should be preserved and emphasized as an integral part of expertise. It is also essential to recognize that, although PTA uses measured data, it is the availability of a suitable model to represent a given geological context and

underlying physical conditions of flow behavior and corresponding diagnostics that enables the interpretation. Therefore, analysts should have the knowledge and experience to couple their interpretations with the model's assumptions.

Some advances in the use of PTA could be possible with improved software capabilities or AI algorithms, but any major improvement will emerge from the development of new models. This requires a new generation of model developers who are equipped with the theoretical and practical foundations and an ability to recognize nonstandard behaviors and complex environments.

As always, the nonuniqueness of PTA results should be accepted not as a weakness but as the natural consequence of the solution of an inverse problem based on an approximate representation of reality by a physical model. Analysts should recognize that the confidence intervals of PTA can only be improved by integrating all available well and reservoir data and understanding the limitations of the model to represent the reality. Most importantly, the value of information from PTA should not be justified on the basis of estimates of individual parameters but in terms of PTA's contribution to the understanding of the well/reservoir system and characterizations of reservoirs.

Rate Transient Analysis

Contributors

- Vincent Artus (KAPPA)
- Tom Blasingame (Texas A&M University)
- Wei-Chun Chu (independent consultant)
- Florian Hollaender (Schlumberger)
- Olivier Houze (KAPPA)
- Mazher Ibrahim (independent consultant)
- Erdal Ozkan (Colorado School of Mines)
- Francesca Verga (Politecnico di Torino)

Introduction

Although the concepts of rate transient analysis (RTA) are founded on the same physical principles, solutions, and models as those of pressure transient analysis (PTA), RTA has evolved over time to claim its own standing as a process for reservoir characterization and diagnosis. In general, the data in RTA are simply used in different ways and typically over different time scales. Unlike PTA, where short-term pressure changes (hours or days) are interpreted, RTA evaluates the entire production history (months to years of data), which requires no shut-ins and causes no loss of production.

Technically, RTA uses the same diagnostic plots and analysis protocols as PTA, which are based on mathematical models of physical phenomena and are often simplified using appropriate assumptions (flow patterns, diffusion type, heterogeneity, phase behavior). Physical parameters are first estimated graphically and then used to initialize and fine-tune more-complex models by means of automated regression algorithms for history matching.

For conventional (high-permeability) reservoirs, RTA often identifies a significant portion of the history as boundary-dominated flow, whereas only a limited number of mostly infinite-acting flow regimes are expected in PTA because of its shorter duration. However, the differences between RTA and PTA lessen in unconventional reservoirs (low-/ultralow-permeability reservoirs) because the entire production history is likely to be in transient flow, and RTA becomes equivalent to a variable-rate PTA.

Unlike the pressure data acquired during a pressure transient test, which are of a higher frequency and have greater accuracy, production data might be roughly estimated from daily records and rarely be of high quality. Moreover, from a strict theoretical viewpoint, RTA leads to a deconvolution problem, which requires both the production rates and the corresponding flowing bottomhole pressures. Although daily rates have become commonly available in the past 10–15 years, flowing bottomhole pressure histories have historically been infrequently available and are often inaccurate. Despite some of its drawbacks, RTA has found more popularity in unconventional reservoir development because of the higher costs and operational concerns associated with PTA.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

It has been suggested (Ilk et al. 2010) that production-data analysis methods are little more than observation-based approaches, and some are essentially rules of thumb. The first systematic efforts to use production data to predict the future performance and ultimate recovery of wells have been credited to the Arps (1945) empirical decline curve (exponential, hyperbolic, and approach harmonic production declines), although Arps (1945) made several references to previous works (Arnold and Anderson 1908; Cutler 1924; Marsh 1928; Allen 1931). The motivation for and development of RTA concepts and procedures evolved from both decline curve analysis (DCA) and PTA between the 1920s and 1970s, but RTA has emerged as a reservoir characterization and well-productivity analysis tool on its own account in the past few decades. In principle, RTA was always known to be a counterpart of PTA, but its potential was not fully explored until the early 2000s.

In 1980, Fetkovich published the original work on production DCA using type curves, and Fetkovich (1980) is considered to be the fundamental reference on the subject. The limitation of Fetkovich's constant-pressure production assumption was overcome in the 1990s (Palacio and Blasingame 1993). Throughout the 1990s, material balance was coupled with the pseudosteady-state flow theory, which provided an analysis/interpretation method for production data on a per-well basis (Palacio and Blasingame 1993;

TAKEAWAYS

Arps relations (exponential, hyperbolic, and harmonic responses) were the first systematic effort to use production data to predict the future performance and ultimate recovery of wells.

Fetkovich (1980) introduced production DCA using type curves.

The concept of varying production pressure (Palacio and Blasingame 1993) overcame the limitation of Fetkovich's constant-pressure production assumption.

Throughout the 1990s, material balance was coupled with the pseudosteady-state flow theory, which provided an analysis/ interpretation method for production data on a per-well basis.

Mattar and McNeil 1995; Agarwal et al. 1999). Efforts to analyze production data combined with pressure led to analysis of the transient productivity index (Crafton 1997; Araya and Ozkan 2002). In 1998, a method based on convolution and DCA was presented for the analysis of bottomhole pressure data acquired with permanent downhole sensors along with rate measurements (Unneland et al. 1998). In the 2000s, guidelines and examples for production data diagnostics for model-based analysis (type curves) were provided, in essence bridging the gap between PTA and RTA in terms of analysis techniques but with a greater emphasis on long-term data as opposed to shorter-term pressure buildups (Mattar and Anderson 2003; Anderson and Mattar 2004; Kabir and Izgec 2006).

Current Status

Although the standard drawdown and buildup tests are still considered to be the most-reliable transient well tests, cost, safety, and environmental concerns have resulted in the more-common use of RTA since the 2000s. Current RTA theory and procedures, however, are fundamentally the same as those for PTA and do not differ significantly from those used before 2000.

In the past three decades, the industry's shift to horizontal, fractured vertical, and multifractured horizontal wells for field development—particularly in tight and unconventional reservoirs, where

extensive testing times are required to obtain analyzable pressure transient data—boosted the use of readily available production data. This move led to the development of new multifractured horizontal well models for unconventional reservoirs in the 2010s (Brown et al. 2011; Stalgorova and Mattar 2013). Developed in parallel with computational capabilities and enhancements in numerical simulation methods, numerical models now complement the suite of analytical models in the RTA toolbox.

The significance of the deconvolution process (and the requirement of bottomhole flowing pressures) to convert the variable-rate, variable-pressure problem to a constantbottomhole-pressure problem, which is embedded in the pressure normalization of production data and materialbalance time, is not well-understood or is overlooked in the usual practice of RTA. The current trend is to fulfill flowing bottomhole pressure requirements by converting the wellhead pressures to bottomhole pressures using wellborehydraulics models if the surface pressures are available and then use the pressure-normalized rate (or rate-normalized pressure) against a material-balance time (Palacio and Blasingame 1993; Mattar and McNeil 1995; Agarwal et al. 1999) to analyze the data as if the data were from a constantpressure production case. However, converting wellhead pressures to bottomhole pressures using approximate wellbore models can introduce artifacts into the data and alter the diagnostics. Moreover, in most cases where the wellhead or bottomhole pressures are not available, the analysis lacks rigor and the rate vs. time data are used without any processing. It must be noted that the practice of estimating or assigning well rates from cumulative production or tank battery records likely compromises the accuracy of RTA. More alarmingly, RTA is sometimes interpreted as DCA, where the importance of underlying physics is overshadowed by an interest in obtaining a fit with a presumed decline trend.

An important shortcoming of current RTA practice is the lack of well-defined procedures for the analysis of multiphase and multiwell production data. The available analytical approaches adapted from the analysis of PTA, such as the total mobility or pseudopressure definitions (Muskat 1937; Perrine 1956; Martin 1959; Raghavan et al. 1999), include assumptions that are not readily justifiable for long transient production periods. The use of numerical

TAKEAWAYS

Current RTA theory and procedures are fundamentally the same as those for PTA.

Numerical models developed in parallel with computational capabilities and enhancements in numerical simulation methods are now part of the RTA toolbox.

The significance of deconvolution is not well-understood or is overlooked in RTA, and approximate procedures are instead used to resolve flowing bottomhole pressure requirements.

RTA is sometimes interpreted as DCA, where the importance of underlying physics is overshadowed by an interest in obtaining a fit with a presumed decline trend.

An important shortcoming of current RTA practice is the lack of well-defined procedures for the analysis of multiphase and multiwell production data.

In the past decade, an interest in an improved representation of flow physics in highly heterogeneous, discontinuous porous media has led to the investigation of anomalous diffusion models.

Although the impact of geomechanics on the performance of unconventional wells has been well-recognized, conventional RTA approaches do not consider geomechanical effects. models in these cases amounts to history matching using a reservoir simulation study and lessens the benefits of RTA.

In the past decade, an interest in an improved representation of flow physics in highly heterogeneous, discontinuous porous media—such as naturally fractured and tight, unconventional reservoirs—has led to the investigation of anomalous diffusion models (Raghavan and Chen 2017; Raghavan et al. 2017; Albinali et al. 2016; Holy and Ozkan 2016; Chu et al. 2020). These models enable the identification of a greater spectrum of transient flow regimes (under sub-, super-, and normal diffusion conditions) than those recognized by the normal diffusion equation for regularly ordered, linear systems. However, many RTA models for unconventional reservoirs still use normal diffusion and force-fit conventional flow regimes to estimate reservoir properties.

Although the impact of geomechanics on the performance of unconventional wells has been wellrecognized, conventional RTA approaches do not consider geomechanical effects. Currently, the only option to account for the effects of geomechanics is to history match the production data with a complex reservoir simulator coupling numerical geomechanics and flow models. However, this approach blurs the distinction between RTA and full numerical reservoir simulation.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

The current capabilities of RTA methodologies have reached the limits of our conventional comprehension of flow in porous media. That is not to say that there is no room for improvement within conventional perceptions, but it appears that most improvements will be in data handling (dealing with large volumes of data, sampling, addressing data noise) and because of better data becoming available with the deployment of high-resolution permanent downhole gauges. It may be plausible to expect the inclusion of other data types (e.g., temperature) with flow rates and pressures. Other important needs include the seamless integration of analysis results into engineering models and consistent multiwell data analysis, instead of the single-well approach prevalent today.

In high-value wells, continuous rate and pressure measurements are acquired at every second to minute throughout the life of the well, offering new interpretation avenues. Bottomhole pressure measurements will likely become increasingly available (especially in unconventional plays), and downhole flow-rate measurements will be standard in deepwater operations, as well as in other operations where extremely large flow rates are experienced.

New instruments provide accurate multiphase production data, but concerns about our ability to analyze multiphase flow tests persist because of the lack of appropriate models and procedures. Similarly, RTA use for multiwell and other complicated well tests, including those performed for complex reservoir geometries and heterogeneities, would benefit from the development of a sound theoretical base.

RTA in unconventional wells remains extremely challenging, primarily because the complexity associated with heterogeneities such as fractures is much greater than that typically considered in

traditional RTA models (Chang and Yortsos 1990; Acuna et al. 1995; Camacho-Velazquez et.al. 2008). The potential of anomalous diffusion models to identify flow regimes and accurately interpret them in terms of physical parameters should be actively explored for RTA, particularly for unconventional reservoirs. Additionally, because the bulk-fluid behavior defined by conventional pressure/volume/temperature (PVT) relations is not appropriate to describe phase behavior in nanopore confinement (Firincioglu et al. 2012; Honarpour et al. 2012), confined PVT relations and equations of state will need to be another active area of future development.

Currently, the impact of geomechanics is mostly ignored in standard RTA practices, and the complex numerical simulation approach does not suit the needs of RTA. More-effective approaches linking the RTA methodology with geomechanics need to be developed.

It is also expected that advances in data analytics (DA) and artificial intelligence (AI) applications will positively influence RTA practice. Part of the improvements could come from DA capabilities in dealing with large volumes permanent-gauge denoising, of data, and the identification of outliers, while AI algorithms might empower the automation of RTA for standard applications. The promise of AI to recognize the underlying physical medium and flow process from data could be a great advance for the application of RTA in more-complex conditions, such as multiphase flow and in highly heterogeneous reservoirs. However, these technologies and capabilities will have to be developed elsewhere and be adopted for RTA.

Over the past few decades, the development of analytical and numerical modeling algorithms has led to new classes of semi-automatic advanced interpretation tools that can handle the complexities of real problems, such as nonlinearity (e.g., advanced PVT, pressure-dependent formation properties, phase behavior), petrophysical heterogeneity, and geometrical complexity (boundaries, layering, fractures). These advances in direct modeling call for similar advances in interpretation/analysis steps, data integration, and uncertainty reduction. Because the analyst has to work with a collection of available models

TAKEAWAYS

The remaining advances in RTA will likely revolve around improved measurement using high-resolution permanent downhole gauges and data handling.

The integration of other data types to improve the accuracy and confidence limits of RTA should be anticipated.

Bottomhole pressures will likely become increasingly available, especially in unconventional plays, and downhole flow-rates will be standard in deepwater operations.

Appropriate models and procedures must be developed to address the concerns about our ability to analyze multiphase flow tests.

Anomalous diffusion models and confined PVT relations and equations of state should be active areas of future development.

More-effective approaches linking the RTA methodology with geomechanics need to be developed.

Automation and DA and AI applications are expected to positively influence RTA practices.

The advances in direct modeling call for similar advances in interpretation/analysis steps, data integration, and uncertainty reduction.

Ensuring that the correct flow physics of unconventional reservoirs is used, particularly when Darcy flow alone cannot explain all observations, remains an active issue.
that matches the data but does not necessarily ensure the physical consistency of the interpretation, the interpretation is strongly dependent on the interpreter's proficiency.

Ensuring that the correct flow physics of unconventional reservoirs is used, particularly when Darcy flow alone cannot explain all observations, remains an active issue. Merely adapting our conventional-interpretation models and tools to non-Darcy formations and new types of reservoirs although this might be sufficient to match the early-time data—does not guarantee that we can build a reliable representation of the reservoir that will lead to the optimal management of the available resource. This is especially true for complex reservoirs where the existence of heterogeneities and nonlinear processes can cause anomalous diffusion.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

Unlike DCA, which predicts future production performance from the extrapolation of an empirical decline relation selected on the basis of the observed production history, RTA is a process that requires an understanding of reservoir flow dynamics, including the underlying physical model, prevailing flow regimes under different well and reservoir conditions, and diagnostic features dictated by the physical properties of the system. Therefore, it is essential that the analyst is well-versed in the foundations of RTA, regardless of the varying practices and applications, and that expertise in RTA is not reduced to learning a software package or following a prescriptive workflow.

The bounds of interpretation resulting from the duality of the physical model and the reality and the nonuniqueness inherent in the solution of the inverse problem (finding the cause from the response) also need to be recognized. In most cases, what distinguishes an experienced analyst is their understanding of the assumptions (physical and mathematical) of the model, applicability of solutions to a

TAKEAWAYS

It is essential to preserve the foundations of RTA in recognizing reservoir flow dynamics and identifying their corresponding diagnostics. Expertise in RTA should not be reduced to the ability to use a software package or follow a prescriptive workflow.

Being able to understand the assumptions made in model development and the applicability of solutions to a given geological context or scenario is an essential element of RTA expertise that can be learned by studying the foundations and fundamental concepts of fluid flow in porous media.

The experience of RTA experts in recognizing and resolving nonstandard behaviors, which is gained through experience/ knowledge of different environments, should be cataloged for transfer to the next generation of analysts.

Understanding the confidence intervals of RTA and having the ability to assess the value of information obtained from the analysis should remain essential to RTA expertise.

given geological context or scenario, options for using alternative models, and when to accept or reject the interpretation. Therefore, a significant portion of RTA experience can be learned by studying the foundations and fundamental concepts.

An important feature of experience in RTA is the ability to recognize/resolve nonstandard behaviors, which requires that the analyst have extensive experience/knowledge of different environments. An analyst might develop this wisdom during their individual professional history,

but, if documented systematically, some of this wisdom could be converted to learnable knowledge and transferred to the next generation of analysts.

One of the critical questions always associated with acquiring data and running tests is about confidence intervals and the value of information. Aside from the nonuniqueness and geologic uncertainty issues, RTA confidence intervals strongly depend on the quality of the data and the expertise of the analyst. RTA confidence intervals must continue to be constantly improved, through the development and deployment of more-sensitive gauges, increased attention to acquiring the correct data at the required quality, and the appropriate education of analysts. Similarly, the value of information obtained from RTA depends on many variables, such as the economic conditions, company practices, geology and characteristics of the reservoir, and geographic location. It is essential that understanding the confidence intervals of RTA practice and expertise.

Reservoir Engineering

Introduction

Our general perception of fluid flow in porous media, and its associated phenomenological relations such as Darcy's law, inherently relies on the validity of the continuum hypothesis, the existence of a clear separation of scales, and the bulk fluid assumption. These assumptions warrant the perception of flow as bulk fluid transport and permit the volumetric averaging of process variables while imposing certain constraints and assumptions on rock properties and process parameters. Consequently, the conventional characterization of reservoir properties and the quantification of key process variables, as outlined in the Reservoir Characterization section of this green paper, are geared toward meeting the data needs of the models. From an evenbroader perspective, reservoir engineering is a hybrid specialty that integrates many concepts in the general realm of the physical sciences, math, and engineering. Over the past 150 years, this integration to meet the specific needs of oil and gas production from reservoirs has created a unique specialty, which now has an impeccable standing on its own. Although no formal partitioning of reservoir engineering into subdisciplines exists, in this section, the subject matter has been divided into six subcategories: fluid flow in porous media, phase behavior and PVT analysis, molecular- and pore-scale modeling, field-scale numerical reservoir simulation, enhanced oil recovery, and well performance.



Fluid Flow in Porous Media

Contributors

- Martin Blunt (Imperial College London)
- Rodolfo Camacho (Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México)
- Benoît Noetinger (IFP Energies Nouvelles)
- Erdal Ozkan (Colorado School of Mines)
- Ram Ratnakar (Shell)

Introduction

Because of its apparent success in defining a rathercomplex transport phenomenon in a relatively simple velocity/pressure-gradient relationship, Darcy's law is highly regarded and has shaped our perception and the modeling of fluid flow in porous media. Darcy flow, however, as described by Darcy's law, is a highly conditional phenomenon that occurs within a small range of low Knudsen numbers (10^{-4} to 10^{-3}) and is mostly satisfied in the ordered networks of micro- to macropores and fractures, meeting the continuum condition. Moreover, the additional assumptions made regarding the rock and fluid properties of a reservoir-mostly for the mathematical convenience of dealing with linear differential equationsfurther limit the applicability of reservoir flow models. Although the use of numerical models removes some of these limitations numerically approximating by discontinuities caused by large-scale heterogeneity and nonlinearity as a result of pressure- and stress-dependent properties, at smaller scales of heterogeneity and lower flow velocities, a pore-scale and molecular-level modeling approach might be more appropriate.

The pore structures of conventional and unconventional reservoirs have various scales of heterogeneity, which lead to multiple flow mechanisms at different scales. Using the prevailing conventional perceptions restricts our success in modeling and predicting flow and transport in heterogeneous media. In addition, the equations and parameters currently used in reservoir modeling are based on old-fashioned and constrained concepts, which hampers the effective management of challenging fields, such as carbonates, tight sands, and unconventional reservoirs, which are being developed more frequently today.

TAKEAWAYS

Conventional models of fluid flow in porous media are based on Darcy's law, which assumes a continuum, bulk flow, and normal diffusion.

The continuity equation is used to describe advective flow or convective transport and has been extended for multiphase flow.

Muskat (1949) and Hubbert (1956) demonstrated that Darcy's law could be derived from the Navier-Stokes equation of motion of a viscous fluid under the assumptions of no-slip flow in an effective continuum.

Darcy's law assumes that molecular interactions between the fluid and the solid surface are negligible.

Non-Darcy flow at high velocities is given by Forchheimer's expression and Knudsen flow at low velocities.

Single-, dual-, and triple-porosity/permeability models were developed to capture heterogeneities such as fractures, vugs, and stratification. Geologic heterogeneities such as faults, flow barriers, and layers have usually been represented in terms of boundary conditions.

Well surfaces have typically been modeled as the inner boundary of a flow domain. The sources and sinks representation of wells in the Green's function solutions has enabled the development of a large suite of analytical models.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

Although the microscopic, viscous flow of a Newtonian fluid in a pore network follows the fundamental principles of hydrodynamics, our conventional notion of fluid flow in porous media has been shaped primarily by the homogeneous or bulk-fluid-flow assumption of Darcy's law, which assumes a continuum and normal diffusion. Henry Darcy (Darcy 1856) defined the volumetric flow per unit area in porous media using a linear, empirical relationship with the fluid potential. Combining mass balance, an equation of state, and Darcy's law yields the governing differential equation (continuity equation) for advective flow in porous media. This approach can be extended to include a diffusion/dispersion component, and a pragmatic modeling approach is usually taken for multiphase flow, where Darcy's law is applied to each flowing phase.

Morris Muskat (Muskat 1949) and M. King Hubbert (Hubbert 1956) demonstrated that Darcy's law could be derived from the Navier-Stokes equation of motion of a viscous fluid under the assumptions of no-slip flow in an effective continuum. Also inherent in Darcy's law is the assumption that fluid flow can be defined on a local representative element away from the fluid/solid interface; that is, molecular interactions between the fluid and the solid surface are negligible. Using these assumptions, the motion of fluids in porous media has typically been modeled as the advective transport of a fluid mass with a bulk velocity. The repercussions of this assumption are partly alleviated in multiphase flow modeling by considering the capillary pressure and wettability effects on the relative permeability vs. fluid-phase saturation relationships.

Non-Darcy flow regimes at higher ranges of velocity have been commonly dealt with using the second-order expression proposed by Forchheimer (1901). The other form of non-Darcy flow, which occurs at low velocities and was alluded to at the beginning of this discussion, was not of interest in the oil industry until the recent unconventional resource revolution.

Petrophysical and fluid-phase (saturation) heterogeneity has typically been addressed by local averaging and local equilibria through a stretch of the continuum assumption, which has led to models such as dual-porosity and dual-permeability idealizations of fractured and stratified media. On the other hand, geological heterogeneity—such as faults, flow barriers, and layers—has been represented in terms of boundary conditions. Similarly, well surfaces have typically been considered to be the inner boundary of a punctured flow domain. An exception to this rule is the sources and sinks representation of wells in the Green's function solutions to the diffusion equation (Gringarten and Ramey 1973; Ozkan and Raghavan 1991a, b), which has provided the basis for the subsequent development of a large number of solutions for important problems of interest.

Current Status

A fundamental understanding of the relationship between diffusion/conduction, convection (advection), and reaction in multiphase flow in porous media is essential for reservoir simulation and design and a scaleup of petroleum engineering recovery technologies. Accounting for the coupling between flow and geomechanics (the relation between permeability and stress tensor) is becoming increasingly relevant. Mathematical models describing these processes are obtained by combining the various conservation laws with the constitutive equations for rate processes. These models are typically comprised of partial differential equations (PDEs) and can be nonlinear in nature.

From a theoretical point of view, most dynamic problems are nonlinear phenomena; however, most of them are either treated as linear problems or they are linearized by making some assumptions. Nonlinearity can be caused by nonlinear sources/sinks (reactions), state-dependent physical/thermodynamic properties, the existence of multiphase flow coupled with thermodynamics, complex fluids, or boundary conditions. Coupling the processes at various time/length scales causes an additional complexity, which has led to the development of reduced-order modeling (Balakotaiah et al. 1985; Ratnakar and Balakotaiah 2011), the center manifold approach (Carr 1982; Mercer and Roberts 1990; Balakotaiah et al. 1995), the method of moments (Aris 1956), homogenization theory (Mikelić 2000), volume averaging (Whitaker 2013), and multigrid methods (Wesseling 1992). Because many unresolved scale and data issues still exist, modeling the resulting uncertainties, even at small scales, remains important.

In the case of naturally fractured reservoirs, new formulations have been proposed that consider fractal geometry (Chang and Yortsos 1990; Sahimi and Yortsos 1990; Acuña and Yortsos 1995; Flamenco-López and Camacho-Velázquez 2003; Camacho-Velázquez et al. 2008), which eliminates the assumptions used in the traditional dual-porosity model because the geological/geomechanical origins of most fracture systems do not justify them. In addition, a triple-porosity/dualpermeability formulation has been proposed (Camacho-Velázquez et al. 2005) that considers both a fracture network and a dissolution cavities network.

In the past few decades, nonlocal, memory-dependent descriptions of flow and transport in anomalous diffusion models have gained notable popularity among scientists, engineers, and mathematicians focusing on physical scenarios of crowded systems, such as protein diffusion within cells or diffusion through highly heterogeneous, tight porous media. Unlike conventional perceptions, which focus on the petrophysical heterogeneity of porous media, anomalous diffusion models focus on velocity-field

TAKEAWAYS

Accounting for the coupling between flow and geomechanics is becoming more relevant.

Most dynamic problems are nonlinear phenomena; however, most of them are either treated as linear problems or they are linearized.

Because many unresolved scale and data issues still exist, modeling the resulting uncertainties, even at small scales, remains important.

The use of fractal geometry has been proposed for naturally fractured reservoirs.

The anomalous diffusion concept, which focuses on velocity-field heterogeneity by introducing nonlocal and memory-dependent fluxes, offers an option to model production from tight, unconventional reservoirs and understand the mechanisms causing low recovery factors.

There has been an explosion in the use of new, experimental techniques and modeling methods for the study of flow in porous media, but the uptake of these ideas has been modest.

heterogeneity by introducing nonlocal and memory-dependent fluxes (Raghavan 2011, 2012). Anomalous diffusion models are of interest not only because of the heterogeneity caused by varying pore scales and the contrast between matrix and fracture characteristics in unconventional reservoirs (Albinali et al. 2016) but also because of the strong scale dependency of the phase behavior and the complex molecular-level interactions between fluid and solid molecules.

In addition to increasing production from different types of fields-such as unconventionals, deep water, fractured carbonates. and tight sands—new, experimental techniques and modeling methods are being used to study flow in porous media. One example is the 3D imaging of pore spaces of rocks from the nanometer to the centimeter scale and the fluids within them, which enables an understanding of the structures and displacement processes in geological materials (Blunt 2017; Lin et al. 2019). Similarly, the availability and use of public domain codes have enabled the development of modeling methods to predict and interpret processes from the pore scale and greater, which has allowed a better physical understanding of transport and multiphase flow to emerge. Furthermore, the development of two-scale continuum models (Panga et al. 2005) for the reactive transport of Newtonian/non-Newtonian fluids in porous media has enabled the capture of pore-scale physics while significantly speeding up the simulations that lead to accurate and physically consistent numerical solutions.

However, the uptake of these new ideas in the oil industry has been rather modest. Current field-scale simulators still use the traditional models of multiphase flow and transport that were developed more than 60 years ago, while core-analysis measurement techniques have not properly embraced the full potential of accurate 3D imaging.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

The conventional assumptions used to simplify and linearize the diffusion equation are not very useful when the complexity of the system dictates the preservation of nonlinear features of the PDE. Thus, it will be necessary to explore the use of different basic techniques that can be applied or adapted to the study of many nonlinear PDEs of the parabolic type. This could include exploring the use of averaging techniques to develop low-dimensional models that are easier to analyze and capture the essential physics at smaller scales. The representation of such models in a form that retains the physics while speeding up the numerical computations is a necessity.

TAKEAWAYS

Due to the increased complexity of reservoirs, the approximate linearization of mathematical models is not always warranted. To preserve the key nonlinear features of physical systems, simplified and/or multiscale reduced-order modeling and appropriate averaging techniques are needed.

Nontraditional concepts, such as anomalous diffusion, should be considered to enhance the modeling of unconventional flow phenomena caused by heterogeneity, variations in phase behavior, and molecular-level interactions. However, interpreting and quantifying the model's parameters in terms of the characteristics of the system are important.

Molecular models or the data fitting of experimental or field measurements are required to quantify the anomalous diffusion parameters, which represent long-range interactions and the memory dependence of the movement of fluid particles.

High-resolution imaging and pore-scale analysis and modeling need to be combined with conventional special core analysis workflows.

Physics-based modeling should be supplemented by machine-learning techniques to incorporate different sources of information at all scales and to uncover existing patterns.

A broad understanding of transport in porous media should be developed before simplifications are made for specific conditions.

Industry could take note of the theoretical and experimental developments in hydrology, flow in porous media, and chemical engineering.

Interest in anomalous diffusion models raises some questions about the physical interpretation and quantitative characterization of constitutive relations. Unlike permeability or the diffusion coefficient used in the flux relations of normal diffusion, the phenomenological coefficients of anomalous diffusion represent long-range interactions and the memory dependence of the movement of fluid particles. Complex molecular models (Coskuner et al. 2017) or the data fitting of experimental or field measurements (Holy and Ozkan 2016; Chu et al. 2019, 2020) are required to quantify the anomalous diffusion exponent, which delineates the deviation from normal diffusion, and estimate the phenomenological coefficient, which is the counterpart of permeability in Darcy's law. However, an apparent dilemma of this approach is that the understanding and definition of the physical phenomena occur at the molecular level, but the application is inevitably on a much-larger field or simulation scale. This calls for the upscaling of the system properties determined by physical characterization, but with the lack of continuum, conventional volumetric averaging approaches are not warranted.

The industry should consider combining advanced 3D imaging with routine and special core analyses to provide a more-robust and physics-based characterization of rock samples from the pore scale and greater. It is also important to couple physics-based modeling with advanced machine-learning techniques (such as artificial neural networks with deep learning and random forest algorithms) to incorporate different sources of information and to uncover existing data correlations. Such couplings can be used to identify the missing data in predicting those characteristics (such as relative permeability and wettability) that are crucial for studying multiphase flow in porous media and whose estimation can be largely uncertain (Zhao et al. 2019).

From a broader perspective, because of new interests in and applications of reservoir engineering and sciences, it is necessary to incorporate the advances in the understanding of fluid flow into reservoir models and numerical simulators. The current approach is to enforce a simplified model based on a limited perception that is applied to a

TAKEAWAYS

A broad understanding of flow in porous media must be preserved, and an awareness of the underlying assumptions of conventional and new flow models should be maintained.

The basis for and limitations of upscaling the physical and chemical conditions of porescale/molecular-level phenomena to the macroscopic perceptions of flow and the corresponding constitutive relations should be preserved as an essential part of the theory.

The experience and skills to construct mathematical statements of physical flow phenomena in complex porous material should be preserved. Understanding of the correspondence between physical and mathematical descriptions of flow must be emphasized.

An appreciation of the need for and the differences between analytical and numerical approaches for flow modeling should be preserved; having the skills to use both approaches when needed should be encouraged.

Awareness of conventional and contemporary computational methods of fluid-flow models should be maintained.

broad and diverse range of physical flow conditions. Instead, a broad understanding of transport in porous media should be developed first, after which simplifications can be introduced that are based on the scales and internal dynamics of the system. The industry could take note of the theoretical and experimental developments in hydrology, flow in porous media, and chemical engineering, most of which have not been published in the specialized petroleum literature.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

Our understanding of flow in porous media has evolved over decades. It is important that expertise and knowledge is retained, with a full appreciation of the different processes occurring at different scales and the assumptions underlying conventional and new flow models. The approximations made in upscaling the physical and chemical conditions of pore-scale/molecular-level phenomena to macroscopic descriptions of flow and the corresponding constitutive relations should be appreciated and understood. Coupled with this, the experience and skills needed to construct mathematical statements of physical flow phenomena in complex porous material should be preserved. In terms of the new concepts and approaches, such as the fractional and fractal approaches and the anomalous diffusion concept, understanding of the correspondence between physical and mathematical descriptions needs to be emphasized.

Even though numerical models are increasing in speed, accuracy, and sophistication, there continues to be a role for analytical approaches, especially as benchmarks to validate simulations and interpret behavior. This is true for both linear and nonlinear processes, and new mathematical developments could provide appropriate tools to obtain solutions for nonlinear problems in particular. Engineers and scientists need to be able to apply both analytical and numerical tools where appropriate.

Phase Behavior and PVT Analysis

Contributors

- Birol Dindoruk (University of Houston)
- Tuba Firincioglu (NITEC)

Introduction

Fluid properties are needed during the entire exploration and production life cycle, from exploration to mature asset management to enhanced oil recovery (EOR) and improved oil recovery (IOR). However, as projects mature, the need for pressure/volume/temperature (PVT) data and their integration and interpretation varies depending on reservoir performance. Future needs for fluid-related information are also highly related to the options (such as IOR/EOR and various well treatments) to be used and/or studied. In some cases, additional fluid information obtained during the surveillance/development phase can contain symptomatic information related to initial reservoir conditions (reservoir initialization) and confirm initial assumptions regarding reservoir connectivity.

Ideally, we want to determine and/or predict the phase behavior, transport properties, and interactions of mixtures that contain many hundreds of components. Therefore, we need to address the following questions/challenges for the entire life cycle of a reservoir:

- How can we obtain the correct specimen/sample?
- How do these fluid systems flow, and how do we recover them?
- What are the best practices for recombining a sample to create a representative reservoir fluid?
- What are the minimum data requirements to define a system for a process or processes?
- What is the minimum granularity needed for various workflows and computational techniques?
- How do we confirm an equation of state (EOS) is representative of the actual fluid?
- How does continuous monitoring of the produced-fluid composition help improve our understanding of reservoir fluid behavior, especially during EOR operations (e.g., during gas or solvent injection)?
- How does our improved understanding of phase behavior affect project design and health, safety, security, and environment concerns?
- What is the overall financial impact of the fluids on the integrated workflow?
- If we did not have a physical fluid sample and/or various constraints—including time and import/export restrictions—what would be the realistic alternatives to using a fluid sample?

History, Background, and Original Concepts

Phase equilibria describe the behavior of fluids in nature, including that of the hydrocarbons that we extract from reservoirs. In the petroleum industry, the thermodynamics of phase equilibria address the following question: "Under a given temperature and pressure and mass of components, what are the amounts and composition of the phases that result?" (Kovscek 1996). Understanding reservoir fluids starts with the acquisition of a fluid sample from a reservoir and continues with laboratory measurements to observe and measure basic properties of the fluid, such as fluid composition, formation volume factor, viscosity, and saturation pressure as a function of pressure

and temperature. Until approximately the 1960s, using experimental data was the only method to obtain the required basic information, and in many cases, the information was oversimplified because of the limitations of the enabling technologies. For example, it was very common to assume homogeneous fluid distribution (one uniform composition residing in the reservoir).

In terms of multidisciplinary integration, reservoir performance, and fluid management, particularly during the past two decades, measurements in the laboratory domain have become more standardized. This was expected to occur because the measurements themselves became increasingly automated and also because morecommoditized hardware became available in the market. With the advances in desktop computing and/or the accessibility of computational power, industrywide integration efforts became a practical reality. Even though the laboratory measurements have been standardized, collecting hydrocarbon samples that are representative of the reservoir fluids has always been a challenge and influences the reliability of the measurements in representing the reservoir fluid.

The laboratory procedures measuring basic properties in PVT cells to reflect the bulk properties of the fluids are wellestablished. However, they lack the inclusion of confinement effects and other forces, such as capillary and surface forces, which can dominate the phase equilibrium in the small pores that we encounter in unconventional reservoirs. Phase equilibria are represented mathematically by an EOS, which typically is a cubic equation solved for its

TAKEAWAYS

In our industry, thermodynamic principles are applied to phaseequilibrium calculations to determine the amounts and composition of each phase under a given pressure and temperature.

Understanding reservoir fluid properties starts with the collection of reservoir fluid samples. While measurement techniques have improved and been standardized, collecting a representative fluid sample is still a challenge.

EOSes have been used to represent phase behavior. They solve for fluid properties using flash calculations and need to be calibrated to match laboratory measurements.

In the absence of fluid samples and laboratory measurements, simple correlations have been used.

Improved understanding of fluid phase behavior is critical for many EOR applications.

roots to determine gas- and liquid-phase properties at the thermodynamic equilibrium and referred to as a flash calculation. EOS parameters are calibrated to match the laboratory measurements. Having a mathematical description of a fluid enables us to incorporate the fluid properties into a compositional flow simulator and help optimize the oil processing and separator design.

Reservoir fluid sampling has not been a standard practice in the oil industry. In the absence of oil samples and proper laboratory measurements, simple API gravity values and the produced gas/oil ratio have been used to characterize the fluids using established correlations. These correlations are empirical and naturally representative of the oil samples from which they were generated. For example, Standing's PVT correlations were generated using 22 different oil/gas mixtures from California oil samples (Standing 1947). A variety of correlations have been developed for different oil samples from different basins. Using these correlations for oils that are completely different in nature and have different compositional fluids is not a great practice but has been necessary because of the lack of data.

It is challenging to acquire unaltered in-situ samples in unconventionals because of the extremely low fluid mobilities arising from nanodarcy-level permeabilities and potential confinement effects. Our ability to change the fluid phase behavior through gas injection to recover more oil economically from unconventionals depends on the accuracy of our understanding of the complex fluid system in the reservoir.

Current Status

New developments can primarily be categorized into the following six areas: multidisciplinary integration, reservoir performance, and fluid management; artificial intelligence (AI), machine learning (ML), and data-driven predictive analytics, which is covered in the Data Analytics, Artificial Intelligence, and Machine Learning section of this green paper; molecular simulation and the acceleration of flash algorithms; hardware design; unconventional reservoirs (shales and tight/low-permeability gas and oil reservoirs); and complex fluids and reactive systems, including carbon dioxide (CO₂) EOR and CO₂ sequestration.

Multidisciplinary integration has forced the experts in different disciplines to make their processes compatible, especially in the context of providing data from one discipline to another, leading to cooperative action at even the most-basic level. A classic example is how we acquire a fluid sample; we consider the needs of multiple disciplines in advance so that we can share the needed information with each other in a more-coherent manner. That is, all data are generated in a compatible manner from the same batch of fluids.

As outlined in Dindoruk (2019) and Hursan et al. (2016), recent advances in downhole fluid measurements are providing better control of oil-based mud (OBM) contamination and opening possibilities for enhanced geological understanding through refined fieldwide compositional variations. However, the majority of PVT samples are still being analyzed in laboratory settings and tests. The quality of collected samples is affected by poor well conditioning and the invasion of nonreservoir fluids or drilling fluids (OBM) (Altowilib et al. 2019). The ultimate goal is to collect a representative sample.

The concept of molecular simulation is not new, but we finally have the needed computational power at our fingertips, at least for certain types of problems. Although significant progress has been made using simple compounds or pure or binary systems, our problems are still extremely complex (because of variations in pressure, temperature, and the compositions that we encounter in reservoirs). Molecular-dynamics simulations are performed to study the behavior of ensembles of molecules that are hard to investigate using experiments. For example, molecular simulations could help to study the properties of a material that cannot be isolated easily or those of dangerous materials, and it is a good substitute for experiments that require high-temperature and high-pressure environments. Thus, molecular simulations can be used as a complement to experiments (Allen 2004). More effort to understand the impact of the sample size used in the

molecular simulations on outcomes should help increase the accuracy of the results and numerical efficiency (Coskuner et al. 2017).

There are two main fronts in advances in hardware design. Much progress has been made in laboratory systems. At the present time, the range of fully automated PVT cells and viscometers reaches pressures of more than 30,000 psia. Some classical visual PVT cells can reach temperatures of 570°F at moderate pressures (3,000 psia). In addition, some visual micromodels have expanded pressure ranges, which now exceed 20,000 psia. Significant progress has been made in two areas: P-T (pressure/temperature) and volume requirements. Progress in both is needed for modern PVT analysis because many deepwater developments are at very high P-T ranges, and acquiring large sample volumes can be quite expensive or risky. Therefore, reducing the required volumes for key measurements has wider implications, from reducing cost and time to widening the envelope for various experiments that might not otherwise be possible.

Current industrial practice for PVT analysis is based on modeling only fluid/fluid interactions while neglecting fluid/solid interactions. This assumption is valid for conventional systems because pore sizes are relatively large compared to the length of the mean free path of fluid molecules. However, fluid/solid interactions play an important role in unconventional reservoirs where pore sizes are comparable to that of the fluid mean free path. For this reason, phase behavior and fluid properties in unconventional reservoirs could deviate significantly from their bulk values (Firincioglu 2013). This is often referred to as the pore proximity effect or the pore confinement effect. Such an effect is more pronounced when the pore size is smaller than 10–15 nm.

For a long time, there was a lack of experimental data to check the validity of the various proposed theoretical models (which provided significantly different results) for these systems. A closer look at Bhatia et al. (2004), Fadaei et al. (2011), Devegowda et al. (2012), Dhanapal et al. (2014), and

TAKEAWAYS

In recent years, multidisciplinary integration has forced experts to make their processes compatible.

Recent advances in downhole fluid measurements provide better control of OBM contamination and open possibilities for enhanced geological understanding through detailed fieldwide compositional variations.

Molecular simulations could help to study the properties of a material that cannot be isolated easily or those of dangerous materials, and it is a good substitute for experiments that require challenging conditions.

High-pressure, high-temperature measurements, including the acquisition of visual information through micromodels, represent an advance in hardware design.

Significant progress has been made in the area of phase behavior in nanoconfinement using microfluidic chips, but these measurement techniques are not yet widely used in the industry.

Advanced EOSes—such as PC-SAFT, interaction-of-polarcomponent modeling, and association models—are being used for complex fluid systems.

He et al. (2016) indicates that not all forces are considered in many of these theoretical models. Some of the calibration data that are based on molecular simulation results are not interpreted in the same manner as they were correlated with the series of hydrocarbon compounds. Recently, significant progress has been made in the area of phase behavior in nanoconfinement using microfluidic chips (Parsa 2017). This was a reality check for many of the proposed models in the context of determining the phase behavior in the nanopores encountered in unconventionals. Noninvasive measurement techniques are also being developed to improve the accuracy of these measurements (Kamruzzaman et al. 2019).

Because we deal with complex fluids and reactive systems in many reservoirs, decision making involves structural and dynamic reservoir, well, and production facilities modeling. We incorporate fluid behavior into these models by describing the fluids using an EOS. However, because we are encountering increasingly complex fluid systems (in terms of integrated system modeling), we are forced to make use of nonclassical cubic EOS models in our computations. For example, in asphaltene modeling, the PC-SAFT approach is used. Similarly, interaction-of-polar-component modeling is used for the partitioning of CO₂ in water (Venkatraman 2017). Water-partitioning et al. solvents/species, cubic-plus association or association models (Ratnakar et al. 2017), and asymmetrical mixing rules such as Huron-Vidal have found wider acceptance in the industry. In recent years, significant steps have been taken to run flash algorithms faster and even run them on graphics processing units (Shiozawa et al. 2018).

Evolving Needs and Future Expectations

Current and future developments in AI, ML, and data-driven predictive analytics have significant potential to advance the analysis of petroleum fluid properties by means of 1) increasing representative volumes of data, 2) improving the quality and reliability of data, and 3) learning nonintuitive but meaningful data representations. In instances where collected fluid samples are scarce (as a result of, for example, prohibitive costs or unfavorable conditions for acquisition), solutions are needed to characterize reservoir fluids for PVT modeling and their subsequent integration into numerical reservoir models. Statistical and ML techniques that are based on, for example, nonparametric and multivariate regression algorithms [e.g., support vector regression and kernel ridge

TAKEAWAYS

Current and future developments in AI, ML, and data-driven predictive analytics have significant potential to advance the analysis of fluid properties.

Data-driven or physics-informed data-driven modeling could represent a viable alternative to empirically derived correlations to predict reservoir fluid properties.

An ongoing effort is the industrywide acceleration of flash algorithms and various relevant techniques that are coupled with conventional reservoir simulators, yet this task is becoming more challenging as the fluids and models become more complex.

Conventional PVT models are inadequate for predicting fluid behavior in nanometer-size pores. For fluid analysis in such systems, the use of miniaturization and microfluidics/nanofluidics, and the need for extremely small sensors and transducers are increasing steadily.

Significant progress is also being made in the area of fluid sampling.

Some miniaturization efforts and scaled-down lab-on-a-chip-type initiatives could lead to the bringing of the laboratory to the sandface.

regression (Onwuchekwa 2018)], functional networks (Baarimah et al. 2015; Oloso 2018) or physics informed/hybrid systems, or superlearners (Yang et al. 2019; Sinha et al. 2020, 2021) can effectively predict PVT data—such as saturation pressure, formation volume factor, mixture density, oil viscosity, and the gas/oil ratio—for missing samples. Moreover, advanced unsupervised learning—

such as multidimensional scaling or self-organizing maps (Dossary et al. 2016)—can be used to identify regionalized and compartmentalized reservoir areas on the basis of PVT signatures and/or (dis)similarities in fluid attributes. Data quality and overfitting are still part of the key challenges for the application of ML to correlation development (Yang et al. 2019).

While empirically derived correlations, such as EOSes, have been routinely used to predict reservoir fluid properties, data-driven modeling could represent a viable alternative. For example, a family of ML models can be trained with a resemblance of multivariate sample attributes to predict and optimize decontamination techniques, such as well conditioning, near-wellbore cleanup, skimming, and subtraction. Various mainstream multivariate regression algorithms can perform such tasks, including collaborative filtering (Onwuchekwa 2018). However, the most-significant accomplishment, which has been driven by the developments in deep learning on large-scale networks and graphs, has been the incorporation of meaningful representations of PVT data in integrated reservoir studies and reservoir simulation modeling. When reservoir simulation models are abstracted by networks and/or graphs, the field-scale representations and embeddings of PVT properties associated with network nodes could be learned by studying network connectivity, node adjacency, and network dynamics in a fraction of the time currently required to predict reservoir fluid movement using reservoir simulators.

An ongoing effort is the industrywide acceleration of flash algorithms and various relevant techniques that are coupled with conventional reservoir simulators. Although progress has been somewhat slow and steady, it remains an important endeavor because the problems that are being worked on are becoming increasingly challenging (more grids, more components, more geological complexity, and a desire for real-time decision systems). Significant progress is also being made in the area of fluid sampling, including sampling at various depths at one time and measuring selected in-situ fluid properties in real time. Most in-situ measurements are performed using indirect proxy measurements, such as through the use of optical techniques (e.g., downhole fluid analysis by means of optical density measurements), rather than through an actual pressure/volume expansion/compression implementation. Some miniaturization efforts and scaled-down lab-on-a-chip-type initiatives could lead to the bringing of the laboratory to the sandface (Fadaie et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2017).

Conventional PVT models tend to be inadequate for predicting fluid behavior under the influence of pore proximity for nanometer-size pores. Clearly, greater precision and extremely small sensors and pressure-control devices are needed for such measurements. The role of miniaturization and microfluidics and nanofluidics in fluid analysis is increasing steadily. The need to modify flash algorithms and EOSes for confinement has been demonstrated in many papers, but the industry has not yet adopted these improvements in its applications. Flash algorithms and EOS characterizations should be modified to reflect the other forces present in confinement. Filtration is another complication observed in experimental work for nanoporous media. Preferential flow of smaller components through nanoporous rocks should also be understood and factored into the fluid composition distribution in the reservoir and produced-fluid stream. EOR is a method of accessing the oil left behind in unconventional reservoirs. Thus far, gas-injection huff 'n' puff is the only EOR technique that has been proven to work for these reservoirs. Reservoir fluid property changes—such as an increase in formation volume factor as the gas dissolves in oil, the evaporation of lighter-oil components into the gas changing the liquid content of the gas, and extractive power/miscibility—are the reasons for the improved oil recovery. The industry should

invest in measurement techniques specifically for unconventional reservoirs that can address how the gas is interacting with oil in these nanoporous rocks and how we can optimize EOR accordingly.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

As experienced professionals leave the industry, especially during downturns, our industry loses skills that are critical to the success of oil and gas exploration and production, which means that we reinvent the wheel after each downturn and we waste resources. With the advancements in computing, new engineers tend to be very good at calculating results yet lack fundamental understanding of the underlying physics to interpret them.

Some academic knowledge is critical to understand the impact of fluid characteristics, such as formation volume factor and the gas/oil ratio, on production performance. For example, greater formation volume factors provide more energy and more hydrocarbon production. When a reservoir reaches the saturation pressure, gas comes out of the solution, reducing the energy of the oil. Meanwhile, because gas mobility is much greater than that of oil, free-gas production also reduces the oil production. Developing such fundamental understanding of the dynamics of flow in a reservoir, which combines physics with practical knowledge, will help engineers assign a value to the fluid data and associated information and could help fluid characterization become a necessity rather than a scientific exercise.

When experimental data will be used to create an EOS for the mathematical representation of the fluid behavior, the meaning of EOS parameters such as critical pressure and temperature should be wellunderstood. During the regression of these parameters, merging nonphysical parameter values to obtain a match with the experimental values should be prevented. Proper component lumping for different fluid systems is also essential knowledge to obtain an EOS with a practical number of components. Information on how to use different software packages to develop EOS models and when to use other approaches (in combination or

TAKEAWAYS

New engineers must have a fundamental understanding of the underlying physics to interpret their calculated results.

The development of a fundamental understanding of fluid behavior that combines knowledge of physics with the dynamics of flow and well performance will increase appreciation of the importance of fluid data.

Understanding EOSes and EOS parameters, data-driven models, and correlations and having an ability to switch between various approaches

are necessary skills to master.

A multidisciplinary approach to define compartmentalization and how to use fluid data in that context is required.

Physical understanding of how the P-T diagram shifts and how PVT properties change during gas injection, coupled with the concepts of miscibility and the dynamics of the mechanisms that enable improved oil production, is also needed.

Graduating students should understand the implications of fluid characterization and how it can be used in petroleum engineering applications in a multidisciplinary fashion.

Understanding the role of fluids and treating the mineral/mineral surfaces as part of the phases can lead to a better definition of wettability, which has large implications, from EOR to carbon capture, utilization, and storage.

Students should understand the bulk nature of typical PVT measurements and the changes in fluid behavior in confinement. alone), such as correlations and data-driven models, is also critical. The uncertainties, assumptions, and limitations for each approach used should also be well-understood.

Defining different fluid compartments or equilibrium/disequilibrium grading using fluid characteristics is an important multidisciplinary application of fluid behavior. In this case, fluid characteristics are combined with information from structural geology, petrophysics, geochemistry, stratigraphy, and production to determine the compartmentalization in the field.

One critical piece of information is how the phase behavior changes in the presence of solvents such as CO₂ or hydrocarbon gases during EOR or CO₂ storage. Physical understanding of how the P-T diagram shifts and how PVT properties change during gas injection is essential to decipher the mechanisms that enable improved oil production.

Understanding the implications of fluid characterization and its multidisciplinary use in petroleum engineering applications—such as in facility design, flow assurance, supporting some of the geological realizations in combination with pressure transient analysis and reservoir modeling—would be a big advantage for graduating students. Understanding the role of fluids and treating the mineral/mineral surfaces as part of the phases could lead to a better explanation for wettability, which has large implications, from EOR to carbon capture, utilization, and storage. For unconventional plays, students should understand the bulk nature of typical PVT measurements and the fundamentals of changes in fluid behavior in confinement.

Molecular- and Pore-Scale Modeling

Contributors

- I. Yucel Akkutlu (Texas A&M University)
- Martin Blunt (Imperial College London)
- Maša Prodanović (The University of Texas at Austin)
- Jonas Toelke (Halliburton)
- Xiaolong Yin (Colorado School of Mines)

Introduction

Reservoir simulations have traditionally modeled macroscopic flow phenomena, which are observable at the continuum scale, in conventional reservoirs with micron-sized pore and porethroat structures. The parameters used in these simulations are typically averages of pore-scale properties. Flash calculations yield phase compositions and volumes that are identical to those obtained in the absence of porous media.

In unconventional reservoirs, the effects of interfacial tension and the contact angle on multiphase flow become more pronounced. Flash calculations yield different compositions and volumes in the presence of interface curvature. As the pore size shrinks toward the nanoscale, pore structures and fluid compositions become more complex and discontinuous; flow and transport mechanisms cannot be modeled under the continuum assumption, and macroscopic transport models need to consider the pore-space constraints. The solids also significantly influence the state of the fluids in nanoscale pores. In the smallest pores, distinct fluid phases disappear, and fluids transition into molecular mixtures.

Molecular- and pore-scale models and simulations are used to characterize the state of the fluids, fluid/surface interactions, flow and transport in pores, and the responses of fluids and porous media to stress, electric potential, and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). They complement petrophysical measurements of capillary pressure, relative permeability, geomechanics, resistivity, and NMR.

Molecular modeling is used to understand the internal structure of fluids at the molecular level that results from fluid/fluid and fluid/wall interactions in a pore. Because of computational limitations, these studies are often limited to fluids in single nanopores. An important element of digital core analysis (DCA), pore-scale modeling is a numerical approach used to understand the mechanics of fluid/fluid and fluid/solid interactions, typically at a scale that encompasses many pores.

In unconventional tight-oil and -gas reservoirs, as fluid/surface interactions become important and the pore size begins to reach the limit of the fluid continuum, molecular dynamics becomes the appropriate computational approach.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

Two pore-scale modeling approaches are used for flow and transport in porous media. Direct numerical simulation (DNS), not to be confused with DNS in turbulent flow, directly uses a representation of the pore space as the simulation grid. Different approaches can be used to simulate the same physics. While

direct simulation is conceptually straightforward, it is computationally expensive, particularly for complex porous media with pore sizes that vary by many orders of magnitude.

The second approach, called pore-network modeling (PNM), was first introduced by Fatt (Fatt 1956a, b, and c) and idealizes the complex network of connected pore bodies and throats as simplified elements and treats fluids in these elements as continua. PNM uses networks extracted from a representation of the 3D pore space that have assigned rules to approximate flow and transport in porous media (Celia et al. 1995; Berkowitz and Ewing 1998; Blunt 2001; Joekar-Niasar and Hassanizadeh 2012). These models have recently grown in sophistication and can now handle a variety of different physical conditions and processes.

For molecular modeling, two numerical methods are used: molecular dynamics (MD) simulation and Monte Carlo (MC) simulation. MD simulation simultaneously computes the trajectories of all the fluid molecules in a pore by numerically solving Newton's equations of motion on the basis of the forces present among the fluid molecules and atoms that make up the pore walls and their potential energies. Because the simulation involves a many-body problem, rather than simple two-body problems, these simulations are limited to relatively simple single-pore models, and they often capture the dynamic behavior for only a short time (< 1 nanosecond). MC methods, on the other hand, rely on equilibrium statistical mechanics. These methods generate an ensemble of molecules in the pore according to the Boltzmann distribution rather than their dynamic behavior. MC methods have been used to study the storage of hydrocarbon fluids under thermodynamic equilibrium (Bui and Akkutlu 2017), whereas MD simulations have been used for both storage and transport studies (Ambrose et al. 2012; Riewchotisakul and Akkutlu 2016).

In many cases when constructing a digital core, pore sizes range over several orders of magnitude, and despite advances in imaging, it is not possible to generate a fully resolved image of a rock. As a result, a suitable multiscale model that couples different scales in a realistic manner and allows for the reproduction of realistic results needs to be used (Bultreys et al. 2015; Nie et al. 2015; Suhrer et al. 2020). Features that are not geometrically resolved on the

TAKEAWAYS

DNS, one of two pore-scale modeling approaches, directly uses a representation of the pore space as the simulation grid; it is straightforward but computationally expensive.

The second approach for pore-scale modeling is PNM, which idealizes the complex network of connected pore bodies and throats as simplified elements and treats fluids in these elements as continua.

MD simulation is one of two numerical methods used for molecular modeling, and it is limited to a relatively simple single-pore model that often captures the dynamic behavior for only a short time.

The second method used for molecular modeling is MC simulation, which generates an ensemble of molecules in the pore according to the Boltzmann distribution rather than their dynamic behavior.

When constructing digital cores, a suitable multiscale model that couples different scales in a realistic manner and allows for the reproduction of realistic results needs to be used.

Determining from where to take rock samples, the resolution at which to image them, and a REV for single-phase and multiphase problems are necessary tasks in building a digital-rock model. finest image scale have to be modeled, including pore-wall roughness, the occurrence of oil/water films, advancing and receding contact angles, and other nanoscale effects. Another important task is to transfer the dominant physical effects that are present on certain scales to other scales using appropriate computational models.

The first task in obtaining a 3D image of a rock (a digitalrock model) is to determine from where to take rock samples and the resolution at which to image them to make the simulations relevant. One might start with logs, whole core, plugs, sidewall core plugs, rock fragments, or cuttings. Software and tools, which are often based on machine-learning approaches, are available for clustering and selecting samples from log data and texture and fabrics classification. Another important task for building relevant models is to determine a representative elementary volume (REV) for single-phase (Hilfer 1992; Biswal et al. 1998; Saxena et al. 2018) and multiphase problems (Mu et al. 2016). Different properties (e.g., porosity, permeability, conductivity, capillary pressure, relative permeability) also require different REV sizes.

Current Status

TAKEAWAYS

As the production of hydrocarbon resources becomes more challenging, there will be a pressing need to refine our understanding of fluids in pores and our interpretation of petrophysical measurements.

Direct simulations of fluid flow governed by the Navier-Stokes and Brinkman equations can now be carried out straightforwardly using established computational fluid dynamics methods.

Molecular simulations have been carried out in single pores and in 3D pore models to obtain insights into pure and multicomponent fluid behavior under nanoconfinement.

Over the past 20 years, the ability to perform simulations below the porous-media continuum scale has greatly advanced as a result of developments in imaging technologies, simulation methods, and high-performance computing. We expect that as the production of the remaining conventional and new unconventional hydrocarbon resources becomes more challenging, there will be a pressing need to refine our understanding of fluids in pores and our interpretation of petrophysical measurements. Digital core and modeling will be important tools for meeting such needs.

Direct simulations of fluid flow governed by the Navier-Stokes and Brinkman equations can now be carried out straightforwardly using established computational fluid dynamics methods. Single-phase permeability values derived from such simulations are now well-accepted, provided that the pore spaces used in such simulations are representative and well-resolved; single-phase conductivity values based on the solution of the diffusion equation can also be obtained in a reliable manner. Zhao et al. (2019), which used an artificial porous medium and included extensive experimental data for pore-scale two-phase flow in different regimes and numerical simulations, has been very helpful in judging the efficiency of different numerical approaches. Many imaged experimental saturations under various conditions and in a variety of sandstones and carbonates have been published at the Digital Rocks Portal (Prodanović et al. 2015).

Molecular simulations have been carried out in single pores and in 3D pore models to obtain insights into pure and multicomponent fluid behavior under nanoconfinement (Falk et al. 2015; Bui and Akkutlu 2017; Zhu et al. 2020; Coskuner et al. 2021). These simulations highlight large compositional variations across the width of a nanochannel or the diameter of a nanopore, which

can cause pore-size-dependent average density and viscosity and the separation of components during transport in unconventional reservoirs.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

Although much progress has been made, many gaps still need to be filled. A fundamental challenge is the dynamic incorporation of subscale phenomena, which still requires multiscale integration. There is also a need to combine well-designed experiments and digital simulations to obtain effective parameters. Ultimately, we want to build multiscale features of fluids and porous media into common PNM or DNS frameworks and then use them to efficiently upscale to assist core-scale analysis and reservoir simulations.

Specific methods have their challenges, though. Using DNS for multiphase flow or complex fluids (such as foams or particulate flows; Mirabolghasemi et al. 2015), for instance, is notably difficult. Molecularscale simulation of complex fluids, including complex hydrocarbon compositions and minerals, is another challenge that has not been adequately addressed. Our ability to predict multicomponent fluid properties and phase behavior as functions of pore size using equations of state is limited because fluid behavior is sensitive to the surface chemistry of the walls. Developing realistic atomistic kerogen models is costly, and a clear methodological path toward predictive modeling is lacking. Attempts to mimic organic maturation and kerogen pore network generation have been made recently (Bui et al. 2018), but modeling efforts are in their infancy.

Accelerating multiphase simulations for larger systems is very important for commercial applications, but building high-fidelity and highly optimized solvers will require a considerable investment of resources and manpower. The thickness of fluid/fluid interfaces is generally on the order of a few nanometers, but many DNS methods use diffuse interfaces that are much thicker than nanometers, leading to poorly resolved multiphase flows. Interface thickness is a significant source of error in these simulations, and it should be controlled so that it does not affect the outcome of the simulations. However, if diffuse-interface methods

TAKEAWAYS

Dynamic incorporation of subscale phenomena, which requires multiscale integration, is a challenge. Combining experiments and digital simulations to obtain effective parameters is also a need.

Multiscale features of fluids and porous media must be characterized, built into PNM or DNS frameworks, and upscaled to assist core-scale analysis and reservoir simulations.

Molecular-scale characterization of the phase behavior and transport properties of complex nanoconfined fluids, and a clear methodological path toward predictive modeling using equations of state as a function of pore size are needed.

Accelerating multiphase simulations for large systems is important for commercial applications but building high-fidelity and highly optimized solvers will require a considerable investment.

Direct numerical methods for fluid flow should be expanded to include three-phase flow and complex/non-Newtonian fluids.

Multiphase flow models that can account for multiscale features on all scales and the factors that affect the composition and mobility of interfaces are needed.

Modeling pore-scale geomechanics is very challenging, but the insights gained using modeling and simulation on the pore scale could potentially advance the field.

Molecular-scale studies are needed to explore the effect of confinement on the phase behavior of fluids.

Molecular- and pore-scale data need to be properly upscaled to core and reservoir scales. could reproduce the widths and density variations of real interfaces, they could become very useful for simulations of nanoscale multiphase systems (Kikkinides et al. 2008; Huang et al. 2019).

The capabilities of numerical methods should be expanded to include three-phase flow and complex and non-Newtonian fluids. Reservoirs simultaneously saturated by oil, gas, and water are very common. However, there have been few direct simulations of three-phase flow in porous media (Mohammadmoradi and Kantzas 2017; Helland et al. 2019). Similarly, despite the widespread use of polymers, foams, and microemulsions, direct simulations that can capture the non-Newtonian characteristics of these flows have also been very limited (De et al. 2017; Ataei et al. 2021).

Multiphase fluid dynamics in porous media are very sensitive to factors that affect the composition and mobility of interfaces. Multiscale features—such as adsorbed surfactants on fluid/fluid surfaces, adsorbed molecules on fluid/solid surfaces, and the roughness and wettability of solid surfaces—can affect multiphase flow in nontrivial ways, and multiphase flow models that can take these factors into consideration on all scales are needed. Most, if not all, pore-scale direct simulations of fluid flow assume velocity continuity at fluid/solid interfaces and velocity/stress continuity at fluid/fluid interfaces. These assumptions, however, have been challenged by molecular simulations and experiments. For example, there is now ample evidence that fluid transport can possess significant surface slip (Fathi et al. 2012). It is also well-recognized that interfaces covered by amphiphiles can have their own viscosities and elasticities and thus break velocity/stress continuity (Fuller and Vermant 2012).

Modeling pore-scale geomechanics to actually run predictions of triaxial tests and rock failure is an extreme challenge (Chen et al. 2020; Sun et al. 2020). This area has not received as much attention as transport problems have. Nevertheless, rock mechanics is often ad hoc, but its importance to unconventional reservoir development is ever increasing, and the insights gained using modeling and simulation on the pore scale could potentially advance the field.

More molecular-scale studies are needed to explore the influences of nanoconfinement on the phase behavior of the fluids (Didar and Akkutlu 2013). A produced-gas composition, when redistributed into the nanopores, under reservoir pressure and temperature, creates capillary condensation as a result of nanoconfinement (Baek and Akkutlu 2019). During pressure depletion, nanoconfined oil shows delayed vaporization (lower bubblepoint pressure) because of its pore-size-dependent composition. All of these nanoscale observations of the fluids are sensitive to the chemistry of the pore walls (Cristancho-Albarracin et al. 2017). Whether the fluid is interacting with a clay surface vs. an organic material with a certain level of thermal maturity influences the observations significantly. The dependence of the fluid behavior on the surface chemistry means that predictions of molecular simulations will vary significantly with the pore model used; hence, although the simulations produce results that are useful for fundamental studies, upscaling needs to consider the heterogeneity in fluid compositions and pore-surface chemistry.

Pore-scale findings must also be linked to core-scale analysis and, ultimately, reservoir dynamics. Because most pore-scale simulations cannot reach the size of a fraction of a core (except for PNM), multiscale characterizations and upscaling by means of multiphysics continuum-scale simulations are needed to examine if molecular- and pore-scale findings can be clearly manifested at the core level and in the field. Therefore, pore- and molecularscale models need to be verified and calibrated by physical experiments at different length scales.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

Molecular- and pore-scale modeling techniques are tools that connect images of rocks to their petrophysical properties. While upscaling molecular- and pore-scale physics to core and reservoir scales remains a challenge, with advances in imaging and computation, much knowledge and experience have been gained. It is essential that the experience is converted to knowledge and documented for the use of the future generations.

Much of the fundamental knowledge and expertise on molecular- and pore-scale modeling—such as the physics and methodology of imaging, the design and optimization of computational fluid dynamics, and physics methods-have molecular already been developed and documented in other disciplines. The available information from the other disciplines should be accessed through the literature, and the relevant learnings should be reviewed and transferred to petroleum engineering and the geosciences. For applications in the oil and gas industry, it is important to maintain the specific knowledge and expertise regarding: 1) the multiscale features of reservoir rocks and characterization methods; 2) computational methods and results for fluid states and the petrophysical properties of rocks; 3) the physics of and methodology for multiphase flows, particularly the development and use of network models because they have proven to offer superior upscaling potential while maintaining flexibility to accommodate new and complex physics; and 4) the state and rheology of complex molecular mixtures in small pores subjected to strong surface forces.

TAKEAWAYS

The knowledge and experience regarding the upscaling of molecular- and pore-scale physics to core and reservoir scales should be documented for the use of future generations.

Knowledge and experience regarding porescale modeling and associated computational methods developed outside the petroleum engineering discipline should be accessed and transferred over.

The multiscale features of reservoir rocks and appropriate characterization methods should be recognized and emphasized.

Computational methods and results for fluid states and the petrophysical properties of rocks should be documented.

The physics of multiphase flow should be well-understood, and the development and use of network models for multiphase flow should be encouraged for their upscaling potential.

The state and rheology of complex molecular mixtures in small pores subject to strong surface forces in unconventional reservoirs should be well-documented.

The upkeep and maintenance of important data sets must be supported.

In addition, data sets that contain both experimental

measurements and simulation for accurate knowledge integration need to be maintained. Because data sets that connect experiments and DCA are large and continue to increase in size, they are at a greater danger of being lost during an academic and industry transition than software is. Specialized data portals—such as the Energy Data eXchange (National Energy Technology Laboratory 2011), Digital Rocks Portal (Prodanović et al. 2015), and SPE Data Repository (Society of Petroleum Engineers 2021)—are emerging, but the community needs to support their upkeep to prevent critical data loss.

Field-Scale Numerical Reservoir Simulation

Contributors

- I. Yucel Akkutlu (Texas A&M University)
- Mohammed Al-Kobaisi (Khalifa University)
- Omer Alpak (Shell)
- Chet Ozgen (NITEC LLC)

Introduction

Numerical reservoir flow simulators are thermodynamically consistent models of the transport of multiple fluid phases and their components in a heterogeneous hydrocarbon-bearing reservoir that is subject to regulatory considerations and the constraints of the recovery strategy, surface/subsurface operations, market demand, and the investment strategy. Reservoir flow simulators are routinely used by the industry to verify and refine reservoir characterization, predict the dynamics of the reservoir under various operating conditions, estimate recovery profiles, identify optimal development plans, quantify surface and subsurface uncertainties, and monitor field operations. Numerous studies have reported many successful applications of reservoir flow simulation technologies and demonstrated their benefits. However, it is widely agreed that uncertainties can exist in predictions, and it should be noted that these uncertainties result from our limited knowledge of the initial/boundary conditions of reservoirs and, perhaps more importantly, reservoir geology.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

A number of companies recognized the usefulness of numerical reservoir simulators in the late 1950s, with first versions of usable reservoir simulators emerging in the early 1960s. Since then, continuous development has made numerical reservoir simulators invaluable tools in the modern management of hydrocarbon resources.

Two types of models predate numerical reservoir simulators: electric analog models and scaled physical (fluid flow) models. Electric analog models were made obsolete because the same problems can be solved more efficiently with a numerical reservoir simulator. Scaled physical models (such as micromodels, Hele-Shaw cells, core plugs, and multidimensional sandpacks) had a variety of applications, but their use for developing a reservoir-scale understanding of flow has lessened because they are more expensive and time consuming to develop, less flexible, and difficult to scale up to the reservoir scale. Such physical models are currently used in a narrow spectrum of specialized applications and often in conjunction with numerical simulation. However, physical flow models are undergoing a renaissance, helping to develop a better understanding of pore-scale flow, in the form of "flow chips," thanks to contemporary developments in miniaturization.

Computing and hardware architecture advancements are intimately intertwined with the developments in numerical reservoir simulation. In the early days of simulation, full-field stochastic modeling was unheard of, and engineers relied on deterministic sector and small-field models; in the past decade, full-field reservoir simulation has become almost a routine application. Large, complex fields are increasingly being modeled by coupling surface facilities (and their associated physics) with subsurface flow physics. Parallel processing, the racking up of layers and layers of central processing unit (CPU) chips, and the use of nearsuperlinear scalability have improved the modeling turnaround time. Cloud computing has further increased our capabilities by making affordable the use of a vast number of processors to simulation practitioners, on demand and from any location.

Numerical (field-scale) reservoir simulation and direct numerical pore-scale modeling share fundamental laws that govern the motion of multiphase, multicomponent fluids. These laws are based on the conservation of mass, momentum, and energy (Bird et al. 1960) expressed by the general Navier-Stokes equations that underpin computational fluid dynamics techniques (Versteeg and Malalasekera 1995) and a set of thermodynamics-based constitutive laws, such as the equations of state. A semiempirical approach based on Darcy's law of viscous flow in porous media and its extension for multiphase flow is used in reservoir simulation, eliminating the need to solve the momentum balance equation (Collins 1961; Scheidegger 1974; Aziz and Settari 1979; Mattax and Dalton 1990; Ertekin et al. 2001). While this appears to be a simplification from a computational modeling perspective, significant complexity comes in through reservoir heterogeneities that influence key flow parameters, such as transmissibility, and the ensuing nonlinearity. In addition, fluid thermodynamics and uncertainties in other significant subsurface properties render reservoir flow simulators and their associated workflows highly complex. Instead of the lattice Boltzmann method and finite-volume techniques that are often used for the direct solution of fluid flows, finitedifference, finite-volume, and (to a lesser degree) variants of mixed finite-element techniques are commonly used in field-scale reservoir simulators.

In principle, one can compute the Navier-Stokes equations within the pore space at the microscale level to reveal some physical properties of the flow behavior at such a scale. In practice and for field-scale applications, however, it is not practical to simulate flow at the pore scale. Multiscale simulation technology has emerged over the past two decades, and in our opinion, its full

TAKEAWAYS

Since the first usable numerical reservoir simulators emerged in the early 1960s, continuous development has made them invaluable in managing hydrocarbon resources.

Numerical simulators have replaced electric analog models and have largely replaced scaled physical fluid-flow models.

Advances in distributed and parallel computing and hardware architecture developments have enabled routine use of full-field simulations.

Numerical reservoir simulators are based on the fundamental laws that govern the motion of multiphase, multicomponent fluids in combination with a multiphase extension of Darcy's law.

The incorporation of reservoir heterogeneity complexities and the ensuing nonlinearity, the intricacies of fluid thermodynamics, and the uncertainties of subsurface properties render reservoir simulators and their associated workflows highly complex.

Finite-difference, finite-volume, and (to a lesser-degree) variants of mixed finite-element techniques are commonly used in field-scale reservoir simulators.

Multiscale simulation technology (both at the physical- and algebraic-solution level) has emerged over the past two decades, and its full potential has not yet been reached. potential has not yet been reached. In theory, the fundamental principle of multiscale simulation is to retain data at their pertinent spatial and temporal resolutions during the modeling and simulation.

Previous multiscale approaches, such as the dual-scale and hierarchical multilevel reservoir flow simulation models, spurred tremendous interest in exploiting interconnectivity between the temporal and spatial scales. Brandt (1977), Ramé and Killough (1992), Guérillot and Verdiere (1995), Guedes and Schiozer (1999), and Audigane and Blunt (2003) predominantly focused on aspects of upscaling to effective properties, most notably permeability, using volumetric and flow-based averages. Then, by imposing some boundary conditions on the subscale problem, one would be able to reconstruct solutions at the subscale level. Hou and Wu (1997), Jenny et al. (2003), and Aarnes et al. (2006) opened a new dimension in reservoir simulation in which upscaling to effective properties was not necessarily needed. The approach involved developing prolongation and restriction operators capable of encapsulating the physics of flow at the subscale level of interest. However, generalizability and process dependency remain challenges for upscaled models with multiphase effective properties.

TAKEAWAYS

Today's multiscale modeling approaches tackle crossing the chasm of scales and feature complicated physical problems. It is likely multiscale technology will continue to develop and help fill in some of the gaps regarding multiscale disparities.

Cross-disciplinary (multiphysics) applications have gained traction in the past two decades, with the coupling of fluid flow and geomechanics. Recent advancements have made it possible to solve for the changes in mean stress, pressure, and saturations, both temporally and spatially.

Graphics processing unit (GPU) acceleration (Mukundakrishnan et al. 2015) combined with a new generation of solver preconditioning techniques, such as the algebraic multigrid family of preconditioners (Gries et al. 2014), deliver speedups to fine-scale models that are comparable to multiscale reservoir simulator formulations. The effectiveness of a given acceleration paradigm in a reservoir simulation model remains dependent on the heterogeneity of the partial differential equation coefficients, grid quality, and strength of the coupling between flow, transport, and the thermodynamic components of multiphase flow.

At first, these developments were geared toward enhancing computational efficiencies. Today's multiscale modeling approaches tackle crossing the chasm of scales and feature complicated physical problems, including compositional modeling (Hajibeygi and Tchelepi 2014), naturally fractured reservoirs (Ţene et al. 2016), establishing quantitative links between pore-scale and reservoir-scale physics (Mehmani and Tchelepi 2018; Alpak et al. 2018), and even big-data analytics and assimilation (de Moraes et al. 2020).

Cross-disciplinary (multiphysics) applications have also gained traction in the past two decades. Conventional reservoir simulators compute the pore-volume change through the rock compressibility concept, subject to the assumptions that in the reservoir (1) the total stress remains constant, (2) the loading condition is identical to the laboratory condition under which the rock compressibility was measured, and (3) local-bridging effects around a gridblock or a neighboring block can be assumed to be negligibly small (Chin et al. 2002). In addition, conventional reservoir simulators do not account for the interaction effects between the reservoir and its surrounding regions such as overburden, underburden, and sideburden. Reservoir properties (e.g., permeability) are typically assumed to be insensitive to the change of stress state in the rock compressibility approach. These assumptions, however, can restrict conventional reservoir simulators from performing realistic dynamic forecasts for reservoirs with complex geomechanical behaviors. With the integration of geomechanics, reservoir rock of complicated constitutive rigorously behavior can be simulated without geomechanical limitations and the coupled analysis can handle the effects of stress-sensitive properties and heterogeneity in the reservoir. The coupled analysis also considers the effects of surrounding regions/reservoir interaction and local bridging in the reservoir.

Explicit, iterative, and full coupling approaches have been proposed for the two-way coupled solution of flow and geomechanics equations (Minkoff et al. 2003; Dean et al. 2006; Prévost 2014). The advantages and disadvantages of coupling strategies have been established through comparative studies (Samier et al. 2006). Stability issues have been analyzed for alternative formulations (Kim et al. 2011). Poroelasto-plastic rock mechanics modeling techniques have been incorporated into coupled flow and geomechanics simulators (Alpak 2015). Field cases where coupled simulators led to an improved understanding of subsurface fluid and rock structure interactions have been reported (Coombe et al. 2001; Walters et al. 2002; Collins 2005; Tran et al. 2009).

Current Status

Hardware and accessibility have been the significant factors in the development of large-scale numerical models. At the core of reservoir simulation lies the numerical scheme that discretizes the continuous governing equations in space and time into a set of equations so that approximate numerical solutions can be obtained. Many of the advancements in today's reservoir simulation are mathematics-related (e.g., advanced discretization methods, adaptive and sophisticated gridding, linear and nonlinear solvers) or related to hardware and algorithmic in nature (e.g., parallel processing, CPU/GPU architectures, cloud computing), with some overlap between them.

TAKEAWAYS

The current reservoir simulation methods and technology are based on the developments in applied and computational mathematics and software engineering and hardware and are algorithmic in nature.

Geomechanics and fluid-flow simulation coupling is also central to optimizing unconventional developments, with the added complexity of hydraulic fracture propagation physics and the multicontinua (n-porosity/npermeability) nature of the rock.

For the numerical simulation of unconventional resources, three different commercial approaches are available:

- Explicit modeling of the hydraulic fracturing process, upscaling, and the importing of the changes caused by the stimulation into the flow-based continuum model.
- The DFN concept and the adoption of a hybrid, finite-volume approach to account for fluid losses into the matrix.
- The standard finitedifference/finite-volume continuum-based approach with an added mean-stress equation.

Another niche multiphysics approach is the coupling of electromagnetics (Maxwell's equations) with reservoir fluid-flow equations. Geomechanics and fluid-flow simulation coupling is central to optimizing unconventional developments, with the added complexity that hydraulic fracture propagation physics and the multicontinua (n-porosity/n-permeability) nature of the rock be included, leading to a truly multiscale multiphysics problem. Relative to conventional applications, hydraulic fracturing is a very fast process that requires significantly small timesteps to properly model the physics. It is also confined to a small volume around the wells, thus requiring significantly small gridblocks. In this scenario, the standard approach of coupling force (stress) and momentum (flow) solutions in a sequential manner results in significant material-balance violations.

A fully implicit approach where stress equations are added to the flow equations has overcome this bottleneck using certain simplifying assumptions (Dean and Schmidt 2009; Sherman et al. 2015; Settgast et al. 2017; Birkholzer et al. 2019; Rogers et al. 2020). Novel approaches are also being developed to simulate the propagation of fractures in a more computationally efficient manner that can be coupled with multiphase, multicomponent reservoir simulators (Wick et al. 2016). With these latest advancements, it is possible to solve for the changes in mean stress, pressure, and saturations, both temporally and spatially. In addition to the modeling of hydraulic fractures/rocks during the production process, improving the accuracy of pore-volume and permeability calculations.

For the numerical simulation of unconventional resources, three different commercial solutions are available. The first approach, which has been used in the industry for many decades, involves the explicit modeling of the hydraulic fracturing process, upscaling, and the importing of the changes caused by the stimulation into flow-based continuum models. The second commercially available approach centers on the discrete fracture network (DFN) concept. Because the DFN representation of the natural fractures and the weakness planes naturally lends itself to finite-element discretization, the industry has adopted a hybrid, finite-volume approach to account for the fluid losses into the matrix. The third commercially available approach uses the standard finite-difference/finite-volume continuum-based approach with an added mean-stress equation. In this approach, the volumetric density of the DFNs is represented as the Warren and Root dual-porosity matrix/fracture exchange (transmissibility) coefficient. Similar to hydraulic fracturing simulators, a "stress profile" criterion is used to initiate deformation for tensile fractures and other deformations associated with the overcoming of the cohesive, adhesive, and compressive strength of the rock fabric as a function of stress.

Another niche multiphysics approach is the coupling of electromagnetics (Maxwell's equations) with reservoir fluid-flow equations. For example, formation Joule heating for heavy-oil applications requires the solution of low-frequency (direct-current limit) Maxwell's equations in conjunction with thermal multiphase, multicomponent flow equations (Lashgari et al. 2016). The inversion of cross-well electromagnetic data for waterflood monitoring (Zhang and Hoteit 2019) and radio-frequency electromagnetic heating applications (Li et al. 2019) also require the coupling of reservoir simulation equations and Maxwell's equations.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

Despite the salient advancements in the field, we struggle to model several types of problems, including the behavior of unconventional reservoirs and their peculiar fluid storage and transport

mechanisms, complex fault/fracture and facies systems, and other multiphysics reservoir modeling applications.

In unconventional reservoirs, the challenges fundamentally lie in our limited understanding of how nano-Darcy reservoirs behave at the macroscale level. Current studies on unconventionals are primarily focused on the microscale behavior of fluid flow and transport in porous media. The recent improvements and trends in the digital-rock-physics world and pore-scale modeling (e.g., molecular dynamics simulation, pore networks, and lattice Boltzmann), assisted by tremendous imaging capabilities, should not be confined to nanoscales. Unless currently lacking linkages to continuum-based finite-difference or finite-element simulations are established, the impact of pore-scale modeling will not last. The a priori assumption regarding the existence of the representative elemental volume may not be suitable in such reservoirs when the underpinning rule in reservoir simulation has always been a continuum assumption. It is imperative that we start looking at the physical problem with multiscale lenses.

Intrinsic to the success of simulation studies is reservoir characterization. The development of accurate reservoir characterization models that represent the detailed architecture of reservoirs and the spatial distribution of properties—most importantly those affecting the velocity fields—is of paramount importance. The characterization model must be complemented by accurate representations of the thermodynamic behaviors of hydrocarbon mixtures, from the reservoir to facilities and during the life of the field. It is also critically important to measure the constitutive relations that describe rock/fluid interactions and define their representations at all scales.

Field-scale numerical reservoir simulation is a multifaceted technology with a direct impact on effective decision making in the petroleum industry. However, there are challenges and opportunities awaiting the current technology. Moore's law is exhibiting an increasingly flattening asymptote, and microchip manufacturing is approaching the physical miniaturization limit at the atom level. Much research is

TAKEAWAYS

New constitutive relations should be developed, and existing ones should be improved to describe the rock/fluid interactions at all scales to better represent flow phenomena in conventional, unconventional, and other emerging reservoir applications. In unconventional reservoirs, the challenges fundamentally lie in the limited understanding of how nano-Darcy reservoirs behave at the macroscale level.

Cross-scale linkages are needed between pore-scale flow physics, digital-rock simulations, and Darcyscale continuum field-scale simulations.

The development of accurate reservoir characterization models that represent the detailed reservoir architecture and the spatial distribution of properties—most importantly those affecting the velocity fields—is of paramount importance.

Although they will not solve all our challenges, deep learning, physicsbased artificial-intelligence models, automation, cloud computing, the internet of things, and the digitalization of workflows are expected to play important roles in reservoir simulation workflows.

currently being devoted to quantum computing, and some of the early breakthroughs are quite promising. Code development could experience yet another paradigm shift in the very near future. An example is the penetration of GPU computing into the scientific computing community, and thus into reservoir simulator engines, over the past decade, compliments of the gaming industry.

Current trends are also indicating that deep learning and its hybridization with physics-based models will play an evenmore-significant role in the future of reservoir simulation workflows and at a lower level within solver machinery. Similarly, the development of quantum computing will have a significant impact on our algorithms. The fusion of artificial intelligence, automation, cloud computing, the internet of things, and the digitalization of workflows is rapidly affecting our industry. While many oil- and gasindustry standard operations and routine tasks naturally lend themselves to these technologies, these developments are not a magic wand to solve all our challenges.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

Publications from SPE and other organizations will likely ensure that the critical knowledge associated with the

TAKEAWAYS

Publications from SPE and similar organizations will likely preserve the critical knowledge associated with the development of numerical simulation software.

However, the experience gained through application cannot be as easily preserved or transferred, and for this, we will have to rely on the human-to-human transfer of experience.

development of numerical simulation software will be preserved. History has shown that software providers may change but the technology is typically preserved and enhanced.

However, the experience gained through the application of these software packages cannot be as easily preserved or transferred. In the context of reservoir simulation, our obsession with automating software and displaying impressive user interfaces often overshadows a user's ability to question the output and seek the most-relevant data. Until artificial-intelligence applications become truly intelligent, we will have to rely on the human-to-human transfer of experience for the appropriate application of these software packages. Existing publications and resources do not satisfactorily address the application-experience problem.

Enhanced Oil Recovery

Contributors

- David Hampton (Occidental Petroleum Corporation)
- Kishore Mohanty (The University of Texas at Austin)
- Mike Onyekonwu (University of Port Harcourt)
- Vinay Sahni (Occidental Petroleum Corporation)
- Vlad Sudakov (Kazan Federal University)

Introduction

Current primary depletion and waterflood or gasflood processes leave a significant fraction of oil in the reservoir. Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) processes can improve oil recovery through the injection of substances that are not native to the reservoir. These substances can include one or more of the following: steam, air, carbon dioxide (CO₂), enriched hydrocarbons, nitrogen (N₂), surfactants, alkali, polymers, microbial solutions, fresh water, and solutions incorporating nanoparticles; the injection could involve interwell flow or huff 'n' puff (HNP) processes. The potential worldwide recovery using EOR processes could be significantly greater than 1 trillion bbl if both conventional and unconventional reservoirs (URs) are included.

Despite more than 40 years of active use, EOR accounts for less than 10% of the oil produced daily. The factors that have resulted in slow adoption include

- That a limited number of processes might be applicable to any individual reservoir
- High operating costs for the injection fluids
- High capital costs for injectants and the facilities to mix or create those fluids or process their byproducts from production
- The significant expertise required to successfully run these facilities and manage reservoirs
- Long construction lead times and slow oil response times—cash-flow impact
- Slow uptake of cutting-edge technologies
- Competition with faster-responding projects for capital

TAKEAWAYS

EOR processes have been applied in various forms for more than 150 years in conventional reservoirs and most actively over the past 40 years.

The majority of EOR processes fall into the thermal, chemical, or solvent categories.

From the 1970s to the 2000s, steam injection was used most frequently and with the most success.

Interest in chemical EOR methods peaked in the 1980s, with alkalinesurfactant-polymer flooding now viewed as the most-promising chemical injection method.

Nitrogen and HC gas solvent injection were popular in the 1950–1970's. Today, HC gas solvent floods are found in areas where the gas has little value except as an injectant, i.e., North Slope and unconventional EOR pilots.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

EOR processes have been applied in various forms for more than 150 years in conventional reservoirs and most actively over the past 40 years. EOR processes improve oil recovery through a focus on one or more recovery mechanism efficiencies. Microscopic displacement efficiency can be enhanced through the reduction of interfacial tension (IFT), improved miscibility, oil swelling, and oil viscosity reduction. Improvements in the volumetric sweep efficiency are primarily driven by a reduced mobility ratio, but fluid densities can be used to enhance volumetric sweep in some reservoirs.

The majority of EOR processes fall into the thermal, chemical, or solvent categories. Thermal methods have been around since 1865, with the underlying goal to reduce the oil viscosity and allow the oil to flow more easily to the producing wellbore (Perry and Warner 1865). Since then, various approaches—including the injection of air and steam—have been tried, with steam injection used in the most EOR projects around the world from the 1970s to the 2000s and producing the greatest EOR benefits.

Chemical EOR trials and interest in chemical methods peaked in the 1980s, with polymer flooding being the most-popular technique. Since 1990, few new projects have been implemented, except in China. Polymer flooding is now considered a mature technology, and research efforts continue to investigate efficiency gains from polymer flooding. Alkaline-surfactant-polymer flooding is now viewed as the most-promising chemical injection method, and a pilot injection was started in China in 1994 (Alvarado and Manrique 2010).

Solvent EOR has been applied, with N₂ and hydrocarbon-gas projects favored between the 1950s and 1970s, primarily as pressure maintenance projects. Since then, these projects have declined in popularity, except for miscible hydrocarbon injection projects on the North Slope in Alaska. CO₂ was successfully applied in the US in carbonate reservoirs in the Permian Basin starting in 1972 and in sandstone formations in Mississippi and Wyoming in the 1980s. Only a handful of CO₂ injection projects have been attempted outside the US, primarily because of a lack of economical sources of CO₂. On the other hand, interest has recently grown regarding the use of CO₂ and hydrocarbon gas or enriched gas for HNP EOR in North American unconventional reservoirs (Hoffman and Evans 2016; Alfarge et al. 2017; Sahni and Liu 2018; Nagarajan et al. 2020).

Current Status

Most EOR activity has occurred over the past 40 years or more using thermal, solvent, chemical, or other EOR processes, or a combination thereof.

Thermal processes, which are the most mature and well-understood of the EOR processes, include cyclic steam, steamflood, steam-assisted gravity drainage (SAGD), and high-pressure air injection (also called in-situ combustion). Because thermal processes generally target higher-viscosity oils, the mobility benefit of a viscosity reduction greatly improves the recovery efficiency. Steam-based processes raise the temperature of the oil and reduce oil viscosity, which increase oil recovery. To be efficient, these processes require lower pressures, which is why they are mostly applied in reservoirs at shallower depths.

Steamflood has been used in cyclic-steam injection to develop a swept area around wells (Burns 1969), which can be converted to a flood after sufficient injectivity has been established or the steam/oil ratio has declined. In SAGD, a horizontal injector is drilled above a horizontal producer, and the heat from injected steam is used to reduce viscosity and the density difference to enhance oil drainage in and near the steam chest. There is also toe-to-heel air injection, with and without the catalytic conversion of heavy oils to lighter oils. High-pressure air injection thermally oxidizes a portion of the heavier hydrocarbons to create heat and generate CO₂ and steam, thereby significantly reducing the oil viscosity, swelling the oil, and pushing the oil toward producing wells.

Thermal processes were the primary EOR method for many years [peaking at 500 million BOPD in 1985 and declining to approximately 300 million BOPD in 2014 (Koottungal 2014)], but their use is in decline because of a lack of high-viscosity shallow reservoirs that have not already been flooded and the comparably high cost of steam.

Solvent processes have eclipsed thermal processes both in terms of EOR production and their frequency of use in projects, primarily driven by miscible CO₂ injection. Other solvent processes include the injection of enriched hydrocarbon gas, flue gas, and N₂. These processes are most effective where reservoir pressure is above the minimum miscibility pressure (MMP), and they tend to exchange mobility control for a substantially improved microscopic displacement efficiency because of oil swelling, an oil viscosity reduction, and an IFT reduction. Water-alternating-gas (WAG) injection and foam injection improve mobility control through relative permeability effects to block zones that are more permeable and homogenize the sweep front, reducing fingering and injectant channeling. More recently, laboratory studies and field trials in unconventional reservoirs have used gasinjection HNP methods, where the key mechanisms are primarily oil swelling, viscosity reduction, and IFT reduction (Hoffman and Evans 2016).

TAKEAWAYS

Although the thermal processes are the most-mature EOR technologies, their use has been in decline because of a lack of high-viscosity, unflooded, shallow reservoirs and the high cost of steam.

Solvent processes have surpassed thermal processes in both production and frequency of use.

Recent laboratory studies and field trials have indicated the EOR potential of gasinjection HNP in unconventional reservoirs.

 CO_2 is the dominant solvent for EOR, but it has limited natural availability in most areas. The economics of the use of anthropogenic CO_2 for EOR is currently not established.

Foam flooding for improved mobility control has been tested but is not used routinely.

The chemical EOR process is quite flexible and can be applied in any geographic location, but the surfactant/polymer process must be designed for specific reservoirs.

Other processes—including the use of microbes, nanoparticles, low salinity, polymers with low salinity, and ionic liquids—have shown promise but tend to be much less well-understood.

Combination processes can improve recovery over that of each individual process but add expense and complexity. Hydrocarbon gas or natural gas liquids are rarely used in solvent processes because of their economic value relative to their value as injectants, so they are typically considered for solvent injection only where they have no market or little value (e.g., in the North Slope of Alaska). Other gases have been used, but the dominant solvent is CO₂, which has a limited natural availability in most areas. Exceptions are the Permian Basin, the southeastern US, and, to a lesser extent, the Rocky Mountains, which have natural, albeit declining, CO₂ sources nearby. A lack of large-volume CO₂ sources near fields has limited CO₂ flooding in other parts of the world. Recently, the industry has begun to explore anthropogenic sources, which could result in a broader availability of CO₂, but the technical and economic viability of using anthropogenic CO₂ for EOR is currently not established. While other gases (such as methanerich natural gas, N₂, and flue gas) have been used in EOR floods, their MMP is substantially higher than that of hydrocarbon gas or CO₂, making miscibility in the reservoir difficult to achieve without exceeding the fracture pressure of the reservoir. Foam flooding for improved mobility control has been tested but is not used routinely.

Chemical processes include the injection of polymers only or combinations of surfactants and polymers. Surfactants reduce IFT to mobilize trapped oil and improve displacement efficiency. Polymers increase viscosity and improve the sweep efficiency. Alkalis are often added to reduce surfactant adsorption, and cosolvents are added to improve phase behavior.

The chemical EOR process is quite flexible and can be applied in any geographic location, but the surfactant/polymer process must be designed for specific reservoirs. Although polymer flooding has been and is being applied in many reservoirs around the world, surfactant flooding has been piloted for many reservoirs but has seen limited fieldwide application because of long response times and the high level of expertise required.

Other processes include the use of microbes, nanoparticles, low salinity, polymers with low salinity, and ionic liquids. These processes tend to be immature and much less well-understood, but they have shown interesting results in the laboratory. These studies have shown that ions and nanoparticles can reduce IFT and the contact angle, helping to make solid surfaces more water-wet and blocking pore throats to divert injection to other pores that have not been swept (Kazemzadeh et al. 2019). With microbial EOR, microbes are introduced to partially digest long hydrocarbon molecules (reduced viscosity), to generate biosurfactants (chemical EOR), or to emit CO₂ (solvent EOR) (Tullo 2009). In laboratory experiments, low-salinity waterfloods appear to modify the wettability of the rock so that it is more water-wet (Shi et al. 2021), and polymer treatments with changes in salinity have been shown to increase recovery (Sotomayor et al. 2021).

In addition, using a combination of processes (such as foam gas/surfactant with a WAG process) can improve recovery over that of any individual process but comes at an additional expense and adds complexity to the operation. These processes are in the early stages, with no true experts in the industry because there have been few pilots, and even fewer successful pilots. Other combination processes, which focus on improved mobility control for otherwise well-known processes, include steam/foam, steam/solvent, steam and gas push, CO_2 + solvent gas vapor extraction, and nanoparticles in foam.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

The average primary recovery factor for URs is typically less than 10% (Sheng 2017), indicating enormous potential for EOR processes in these resources, but because of extensive induced fracturing between wells and very low matrix permeabilities, the process has been changed from a flood to an HNP process. Laboratory and numerical modeling studies conducted for cyclic-gas injection in URs show that optimizing the process variables (cycle number, soak/injection/production times) can result in a substantial increase in oil recovery at acceptable utilization ratios (Gamadi et al. 2014). In addition, recent field trial results have shown that natural-gas injection could help recover 30 to 70% more oil (over primary depletion) from Eagle Ford Shale wells (Sheng 2017). Hence, based on these early encouraging results, there has been an exponential increase in research joint industry projects and field trials for gas EOR in unconventional plays across North America (Rassenfoss 2017).

The application of chemicals, such as surfactants, in URs, both as completion additives and cyclic EOR injectants, has also recently gained research attention. The key mechanisms for surfactant EOR in unconventional plays include wettability alteration, IFT reduction, fracture damage removal, and near-wellbore repressurization (Zhang et al. 2019). However, unlike gas EOR, field trial

TAKEAWAYS

The basic EOR concepts must be preserved.

Future practitioners should understand the relationship between the recovery factor, displacement efficiency, and volumetric sweep efficiency and how these factors are affected by fluid and reservoir rock properties.

Phase behavior and rock/fluid interactions during EOR should be understood.

Geology is the most important factor determining the success of an EOR project.

Knowledge of formation damage during EOR is also important.

success for chemical EOR injectants in URs has yet to be reported (Rassenfoss 2017). The very low recovery factors in these reservoirs and the large volume of potential target hydrocarbon pore volumes (HCPVs) present a valuable opportunity for the use of EOR in shales.

In offshore reservoirs, the implementation of these processes can be technically and economically challenging because of the low number of wells, relative inaccessibility of the wells, and limited platform capacity. Chemical EOR might be the easiest to implement because it would only require an addition to the already-existing waterflood equipment, and pattern arrangements are already in place. Gas injection could be a possibility, but the space required—for the process equipment to prepare the injectant or manage the additional fluids produced and the compressors to inject large volumes of gas—is a considerable limitation. Some facilities could be located onshore if they are near enough, with pipeline(s) and other equipment to transfer the fluids. As with the North Slope, there could be other drivers that enhance the economics and encourage implementation of EOR processes. Five different EOR processes (hydrocarbon miscible gas injection, WAG, simultaneous WAG, foam-assisted WAG, and microbial EOR) have been tested in the North Sea since 1975 (Teigland and Kleppe 2006). WAG flooding appears to be the most commonly accepted EOR practice in the North

Sea, with 63% of the EOR projects located on the Norwegian continental shelf and another 32% located on the UK continental shelf.

Recently, novel surfactants that can be applied in high-temperature and moderately high-salinity (equivalent to seawater) reservoirs have been developed. Because common polymers are not stable in such conditions, new polymers (synthetic and plantbased) are also being developed. These new biopolymers could offer environmentally friendly approaches that might be lacking in today's suite of chemicals.

A drawback of EOR processes is the slow oil response time. Tight reservoirs only exacerbate this problem; with low throughput (%HCPV injected/yr), the injection front progresses slowly, delaying the onset of oil production from the process. In many cases, more than 20% HCPV must be injected before the fastest-zone oil response appears at the production well. If the throughput is 2% or less, it can take more than 10 years for oil response, which is disruptive to the economics of any project, and other approaches might need to be considered. Hydraulic fracturing could be an option to increase throughput, but it reduces sweep efficiency.

In high-pressure air injection, the combustion-front velocity must be maintained within the appropriate narrow range unless the formation temperature is sufficiently high to auto reignite the combustion front with continued air injection. If this risk can be alleviated, high-pressure air injection could be more broadly used in many mature oil fields across the world because air is readily available in all locations.

The key challenges for surfactant flooding are surfactant retention and finding ultralow IFT formulations for harsh-condition reservoirs. For polymer flooding, the challenges are maintaining polymer stability at high temperatures and high salinities and transporting polymers in lowpermeability rocks.

TAKEAWAYS

Based on early encouraging results, there has been an exponential increase in research joint industry projects and field trials for gas EOR in unconventional plays across North America.

The application of surfactants in URs has also recently gained research attention, but field trial success for chemical EOR injectants in URs has yet to be reported.

Implementing EOR processes can be technically and economically challenging offshore; chemical EOR may be the easiest to use, while gas injection could be a possibility.

Novel surfactants that can be applied in high-temperature and moderately highsalinity reservoirs have been recently developed.

A drawback of EOR processes is the slow oil response time; hydraulic fracturing could be considered to increase throughput, but it reduces sweep efficiency.

If the combustion-front velocity risk can be alleviated, high-pressure air injection potentially offers a broader application in many mature oil fields because air is readily available.

Surfactant retention and finding ultralow IFT formulations for harsh-condition reservoirs are the key challenges for surfactant flooding. For polymer flooding, polymer stability in high-temperature and highsalinity reservoirs and the transport of polymers in low-permeability rocks are the primary challenges.
Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

It is essential that knowledge of the basic EOR concepts and state-of-the-art EOR methods be preserved (Lake et al. 2014; Kamal et al. 2017; Agi et al. 2018; Green and Willhite 2018; Gbadamosi et al. 2019). The basic concepts include an understanding of the forces that help or hinder recovery, such as viscous forces, capillary forces, applied pressure forces, and gravity.

The recovery factor is determined by the microscopic displacement efficiency and the volumetric sweep efficiency. It is important that future practitioners understand both the relationship between these essential factors and how they are affected by fluid (both in situ and injected) and reservoir rock properties. Recognizing reservoir geology as a key for success of an EOR project is also essential.

Other important concepts that must be understood include phase behavior and rock/fluid interactions during EOR. Practitioners should also be aware of how formation damage occurs during EOR processes and what can be done to mitigate it.

Well Performance

Contributors

- Neha Bansal (DeGolyer and MacNaughton)
- Tom Blasingame (Texas A&M University)
- Dilhan Ilk (DeGolyer and MacNaughton)

Introduction

Well performance analysis generally refers to the analysis and interpretation of production rates and pressures from producing wells to estimate ultimate recovery and evaluate dynamic reservoir properties (permeability and other reservoir properties, depending on the geological model) and completion parameters (such as the skin factor, fracture half-length). More broadly, results from well performance analyses provide insights into and facilitate reservoir characterization, field development planning, and completion optimization.

Well performance analyses (i.e., analyses of production and pressure data) can be categorized as follows:

- Time/rate analysis, or decline curve analysis (DCA)
- Time/pressure data analysis, or pressure transient analysis (PTA)
- Time/rate/pressure data analysis, or rate transient analysis (RTA)

However, well performance analysis should not be solely limited to production rate and pressure data measurements and analyses. Instead, using these methods in conjunction with key subsurface data and completion diagnostics provides a better understanding of a system and leads to better decisions.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

Methods for DCA are generally data driven and tend to rely on empirical equations and/or relations derived from analytical expressions using idealized conditions or assumptions (e.g., the constant wellbore pressure case). Arps' exponential and hyperbolic decline relations [presented by Arps (1945) but first published by Johnson and Bollens (1927)] are still widely used in the industry to estimate ultimate recovery and book reserves and resources.

The DCA literature has greatly expanded over the past 10 years, coincident with the exploitation of low-/ultralow-permeability (unconventional) reservoirs. Today, many decline curve relations are available in the literature that are based on a certain characteristic behavior and/or related to a specific flow regime. While some of these "transient" solutions are based on theoretical considerations, the assumptions and applications are often empirically derived. Many of these relations have similar characteristics, and thus far, none are fully rigorous; all proposed relations have some limiting condition(s) and/or assumption(s). As one would expect, the absence of relatively long-term production data (> 10–15 years) from unconventional reservoirs presents significant challenges for empirical methods. Many models can match the historical production, but there is limited data-based support for extrapolation to 30 years and beyond. Additionally, decline-analysis-based methodologies are not capable of addressing changes in well production

because of factors such as artificial lift, changes in choke size, the impact of offset-well production, and fracture hits.

In contrast, analysis methods based on time/rate/pressure data are derived from the solution of the diffusivity equation. Despite the mathematical rigor of the solution process, the diffusivity equation involves the Darcy-flow assumption and approximate representations of well and reservoir geometry, boundary conditions, and heterogeneities. In this context, conventional analyses of well performance using time/rate/pressure data are tied to traditional concepts such as permeability, porosity, fracture surface area, and standard reservoir boundaries (circular, rectangular), which are imposed by the mathematical model used in the analysis and its solution conditions. Well/reservoir models include representations of various well types, such as wells in homogeneous reservoirs, horizontal wells, fractured vertical wells, and horizontal wells with multiple fractures. Currently, software packages for well performance analysis include a large inventory of models-all based on Darcy's law, as well as on traditional fluid thermodynamics and reservoir model constructs-with which to analyze, interpret, and forecast production data.

As a result, the application of traditional RTA/PTA/DCA concepts in unconventional reservoirs could be problematic because of the unique nature of these systems [i.e., very low permeability, self-sourced production, organic porosity, complex fracture geometry(s)]. At present, there are no new methodologies specific to nanoscale storage and transport (i.e., molecular-level storage and Knudsen-type flow behavior), although there are new means of modeling such behavior (e.g., anomalous diffusion, "fractal" models that act as proxies). This leaves us with empirical decline curve models and traditional Darcy-flow-type models, in addition to conventional porosity and permeability concepts. Complex fracture geometries could be addressed by increasing the capabilities of reservoir modeling software packages. However, it should be emphasized that even complex models retain some connection to traditional permeability and porosity concepts. (Although the flow geometry might be quite complex, the "bulk" behavior appears to be represented by "normal" permeability and porosity concepts.)

TAKEAWAYS

DCA methods are generally data driven and tend to rely on empirical equations and/or relations derived from analytical expressions using idealized conditions or assumptions.

The absence of relatively long-term production data from unconventional reservoirs presents significant challenges for empirical methods, with limited support for extrapolation to 30 years and beyond.

Conventional analyses of well performance using time/rate/ pressure data are tied to traditional concepts such as Darcy flow, permeability, porosity, fracture surface area, and standard reservoir boundaries, which are imposed by the mathematical model used in the analysis and its solution conditions.

Because of the unique nature of unconventional systems, using traditional RTA/PTA/DCA concepts in these reservoirs could be problematic.

Reservoir simulation provides a more-complete view and better understanding of a system, and reservoir simulation models could be adapted to include nearly any or all aspects of production mechanisms.

Well performance analysis studies conducted using reservoir simulation provide a more-complete view of the well and reservoir as a system, which in turn leads to a better understanding of the system and the key production mechanisms (and, in particular, an ability to establish the effects of infill wells and different production schemes). Reservoir simulation studies require the availability and integration of data from all disciplines-geology/geophysics, petrophysics, reservoir engineering, geomechanics, production, and completions-although such integration might not be possible in all cases and is often cost prohibitive in terms of time and resources. Many operators are also leaning toward integrating data-driven methodologies into numerical simulation to allow for comprehensive decision making, especially in fast-paced unconventional reservoir development.

Last, because reservoir simulation models are much more complex than RTA/PTA/DCA techniques based on singlewell models, reservoir simulation models could be adapted to include nearly any or all aspects of production mechanisms [i.e., geomodel(s), phase-behavior characterization, complex flow geometries (e.g., discrete fracture networks), multiwell production, staged/developed (e.g., parent/child well cases)].

Current Status

Well performance analysis based on PTA/RTA techniques is becoming more popular and has benefitted from increased computational power and data acquisition. The primary limitation of these techniques is associated with a lack of supplementary data, which would be used to constrain analyses and reduce uncertainty. The quality of time/rate/pressure data is extremely important; currently, production data can be rendered hourly (or less), and the continuous measurement of bottomhole pressures (and temperatures) is being more frequent used. These data provide significantly better resolution of production and pressure trends, particularly for analysis and forecasting.

TAKEAWAYS

Well performance analysis using PTA/RTA techniques has gained in popularity and benefitted from increased computational power and data acquisition, but the primary limitation is associated with a lack of supplementary data to constrain analysis.

The quality of time/rate/pressure data is very important.

With the advent of large-scale unconventional reservoir development, production diagnostic techniques have become critical tools for performance assessment.

The deliverables from well performance analyses provide for the optimization of well performance, establishment of factors that control production and reserves, and benchmarking of productivity across an area of interest.

Performance-based workflows could be used to develop "recipes" for field developments that would be tied to well spacing, targets, completion size and stages, flowback strategy, choke management, and artificial lift.

With the advent of large-scale unconventional reservoir development, diagnostic techniques have become critical tools for performance assessment before the analysis/forecasting model is constructed. More specifically, production diagnostic techniques are essential for understanding flow regimes, establishing characteristic flow behavior that can be translated to decline curve parameters, and establishing productivity metrics. These metrics can include volume-based metrics [e.g., cumulative oil/gas/water production at 1/3/6/9/12 months, pressures (average

flowing pressure over 1 month, pressure gradient, initial pressure)] and productivity indices (e.g., establishing linear flow behavior from specialized plots).

Production diagnostic techniques also allow for the performance of multiple wells to be compared and specifically provide the ability to contrast differences resulting from aspects such as well completions, reservoir target intervals, and lateral well spacing. Completion metrics (i.e., well completion and well stimulation parameters) can be easily integrated into models for the analysis of well performance, as well as to create correlations with well performance metrics.

As a practice, the use of well performance analysis methods is crucial for workflows encompassing well completion design, reservoir characterization, and field development. Perhaps more importantly, the deliverables from well performance analyses provide for the optimization of well performance, establishment of factors that control production and reserves, and benchmarking of productivity across an area of interest. Performance-based workflows could be used to develop "recipes" for field developments that would be tied to well spacing, targets, completion size and stages, flowback strategy, choke management, and artificial lift.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

At present, the industry's priority area of interest is optimizing horizontal-well spacing in unconventional reservoirs. Many operators in North America have suffered from potential "overdrilling" and the overestimation of future production (Olson 2019). Without clear learnings and guidance, other emerging plays could suffer the same fates.

In addition, the effects of depletion on new wells caused by existing producing wells, and vice versa (the so-called parent/child effects), have yet to be properly quantified or understood. One of the primary goals of reservoir

TAKEAWAYS

Practical and more-accurate methods are needed to optimize horizontalwell spacing on the basis of well performance data.

The quantification of the parent/child effect in workflows is needed.

Using fit-for-purpose designs based on geology and well development strategies will require more design considerations and more diagnostic/analysis/modeling efforts for the corresponding well performance data.

Future efforts in unconventional reservoirs will primarily focus on understanding the fundamental behavior of these systems and incorporate that understanding into physical models that can be used to analyze, interpret, and forecast production data.

Improvements in production surveillance and diagnostic interpretation techniques will add significantly to the value obtained from performance-based reservoir characterization/development workflows.

engineering is to determine the minimum number of wells that it would take to maximize recovery from a given field or play, a task that is particularly difficult for unconventional plays. Attempts to provide "cube" or "tank" developments [i.e., where well patterns are prescribed and drilling/completion/stimulation/flowback are performed simultaneously (or nearly so)] have delivered mixed results. [Most recent reports have been negative (Jacobs 2019).]

These circumstances take us back to "fit-for-purpose" designs based on geology and well development strategies (i.e., tailored completions and stimulations). Such fit-for-purpose

methods will require more design considerations and more diagnostic/analysis/modeling efforts for the corresponding well performance data. DCA is not designed for analysis during transient behavior, and RTA/PTA interpretations are dependent on the availability and quality of data for analysis. Multidisciplinary data are also needed in these cases for the cross-validation of outputs and to reduce the inherent uncertainty driven by base assumptions underlying such analyses in unconventional reservoirs. As such, future efforts in well performance analysis in unconventional reservoirs will primarily focus on understanding the fundamental behavior of these systems and incorporate that understanding into physical models that can be used to analyze, interpret, and forecast production data from these reservoirs.

In addition, improvements in production surveillance and diagnostic interpretation techniques would add significantly to the value obtained from performance-based reservoir characterization/development workflows. A considerable number of operators often ignore or pay little attention to the collection of these types of data, not realizing the value of such information, which could potentially lead to improved well completions, targeting, and well spacing.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

The analysis of well performance requires not only highquality data but also a good understanding of reservoir flow dynamics and the effects of physical reservoir properties, well architecture, and the production history on well responses. As for the high-quality data, data acquisition and production surveillance techniques, tools, and protocols should be well-documented, updated, and transferred to future generations. It is equally important to

TAKEAWAYS

Well performance analysts should be well-versed in reservoir flow dynamics and the effects of physical reservoir properties, well architecture, and the production history on well responses.

Data acquisition and production surveillance techniques, tools, and protocols should be documented, regularly updated, and transferred to future generations.

State-of-the-art methods in cross-validation and constraining analysis techniques and best practices must be documented.

The diagnostic meaning of data should take precedence over statistical properties or mathematical aspects.

Human interpretation should supersede automated well performance analyses.

Analysts must be educated and trained on the theoretical bases and limitations of the legacy well performance analysis tools.

document the state-of-the-art methods used in cross-validation and constraining analysis techniques and best practices.

Regarding the interpretation of well performance, the diagnostic meaning of data should take precedence over statistical properties or mathematical aspects. The automated analysis of data— by means of software or using simple regression or artificial intelligence and machine-learning techniques—should not be allowed to supersede human interpretation. Analysts should be well-trained to avoid overconfidence or blind trust in the tools and procedures available to them or commonly used by others. The theoretical bases and limitations of the legacy well performance analysis tools should be understood, and analysts must be required to have the relevant theoretical background for the tools they use.

Reservoir Management

Introduction

The objective of reservoir management is to optimize hydrocarbon recovery from a reservoir with respect to capital investments and operating expenses (Thakur 1996; Fanchi 2002). That is, reservoir management is the process of considering tradeoffs between the benefits, costs, and risks of different uses of technical, financial, and human resources on the basis of data, knowledge, and experience to achieve optimal recovery. In a broader sense, management is not a science, nor is it an art; it is a "practice" (Peter F Drucker on Management 1997). In general, management is a dynamic practice because it has to keep up with the continuously changing nature of business needs and processes, financial and socioeconomic conditions, and human behavior, in addition to the complex interactions of its constituents. Arguably, reservoir management is even more dynamic because it starts when there is no or very little information about the subject reservoir and evolves with the field development as more knowledge and better characterization of the reservoir become available. In addition to the risks considered in a standard management practice, reservoir management has to account for the risks that result from geological uncertainties and the inherent limits of our ability to fully characterize reservoirs and flow processes. In reservoir management, these flaws are mitigated by the systematic application of integrated, multidisciplinary technologies (Fanchi 2002). Most of the tools used in reservoir management have been discussed in previous sections of this document. The Reservoir Management section discusses those that remain, namely data analytics, artificial intelligence, and machine learning; field-scale projects; reserves; and project economics. Leadership is not discussed because management is not leadership. "Management is doing things right; leadership is doing the right things" (Drucker 2001).



Data Analytics, Artificial Intelligence, and Machine Learning

Contributors

- Emre Artun (Istanbul Technical University)
- Sebastien Matringe (Hess)
- Sathish Sankaran (Xecta Digital Labs)

Introduction

Aided by technological developments, recent years have witnessed a rapid increase in the volume of data collected in oilfield operations (Sankaran et al. 2020). Challenges—especially in the description of the static and dynamic characteristics of unconventional resources and the downturn of the oil industry—have solidified the necessity of using collected data more effectively for better modeling, analysis, uncertainty quantification, and decision making in reservoir engineering applications. The proper management and useful analysis of collected data to understand reservoir characteristics and behavior for both diagnostic and performance-forecasting purposes have become critical components of modern reservoir engineering practice.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

The original concepts in data analytics, artificial intelligence (AI), and machine learning (ML) can be grouped into the following categories: data organization, visualization, ML for classification, ML for prediction, modeling strategies, uncertainty and risk, and decision making.

Data organization refers to how data sets are classified and organized to be more useful. Digital oilfield technologies enable the collection of greater volumes of data in shorter time periods. It is critical to properly use cloud technologies and database applications to organize data sets for effective analysis, analytics, and modeling.

Business intelligence tools are used to better visualize and analyze data. Interactive map-based dashboards make analysis easier by incorporating engineering and geological knowledge and regional expertise. These efforts have been supported by digital oilfield initiatives.

Classification is the problem of predicting a categorical output (e.g., high/low). Typical classification problems in reservoir engineering include the classification of rock facies (lithofacies, petrofacies, seismic), fluid types, production anomalies, flow regimes, drive mechanisms, and well/reservoir quality. When the classes are known and can be explicitly defined, supervised learning allows patterns to be found that link the input variables to these defined classes. Neural networks, support vector machines, random forests, fuzzy logic, and rule-based systems are used for supervised learning. For example, when a series of well logs is mapped onto lithological descriptions in a given reservoir using subject-matter expertise, the data set can be used for the automatic classification of well-log intervals to identify the lithology in new wells. When the classes are not explicitly known, unsupervised learning

methods identify certain clusters from the patterns in the data by quantifying the similarity between individual data points. This allows cases with similar characteristics in the data set to be separated into groups. Clustering algorithms as well as some types of neural networks, such as selforganizing maps, are considered to be unsupervised learning algorithms. For example, on the basis of reservoir and performance characteristics, groups of wells with similar characteristics can be created. Additional analysis can be performed to understand the distinct features of the well groups.

In predictive modeling, a mapping function is learned from the inputs to the outputs (i.e., function approximation). Typical problems in reservoir engineering include the estimation of rock properties (porosity, permeability, saturation) and fluid properties (API gravity, gas gravity, solution gas/oil ratio, saturation pressure) and the prediction of reservoir recovery and production rate profiles. For example, historical performance (e.g., the oil rate), reservoir characteristics, and historical operational conditions can be used to build an integrated data set. A model can be trained that uses reservoir and operational parameters as inputs and oil recovery as an output. Similar to a numerical reservoir model, the trained (historymatched) model can be used to forecast recovery under different conditions. Other types of predictive models include various empirical correlations that have been used for estimating rock and fluid properties using laboratory samples from various reservoirs. Reservoir analogs and physical equations have also been used for predicting reservoir recovery and associated production rate profiles.

Predictive and classifier models are developed by following a systematic workflow that includes designing the

TAKEAWAYS

It is critical to properly use cloud technologies and database applications to organize data sets for effective analysis, analytics, and modeling.

Business intelligence/analytics tools are used to achieve better visualization.

ML applications can be used for classification and prediction problems.

With the advent of high-performance computing, numerical simulation has become well-accepted as a viable modeling method for significant capital decisions.

Risk and uncertainty in modeling are managed through integrated representations of uncertainty sources and formalisms for handling and modeling uncertainty.

All models designed for classification and prediction purposes can be used for decision making.

parametric representation of the problem, choosing the ML algorithm, and training, evaluating, selecting, and validating the model. Some types of ML algorithms help in gaining insights regarding the importance of different variables in the model, which creates room for diagnostic analytics.

In terms of modeling strategies, historically, reservoir modeling methods evolved to describe the physics of fluid flow through porous media for pressure transient analysis and numerical simulation. Notably, complexities arise because of complex reservoir geometry (faulted and fractured reservoirs), hydrocarbon phase behavior, rock/fluid interfaces, and other nonlinearities. With the advent of high-performance computing, numerical simulation has become well-

accepted as a viable modeling method in the industry for significant capital decisions. However, three key challenges must be addressed when using numerical simulation: (1) The underlying physics governing fluid flow must be adequately captured and fit-for-purpose, (2) the reservoir characterization must be adequate for forward modeling methods, and (3) the time scale needed for computing efforts must be sufficient for decision-making purposes for optimization under uncertainty.

On the topic of uncertainty and risk, decision analysis in field development is strongly related to risk because of the uncertainties in the data and modeling methods. Current approaches to deal with uncertainty focus on integrated representations of uncertainty sources and formalisms for handling and modeling uncertainty.

Finally, all models designed for classification and prediction purposes can be used for decision making. For example, a reservoir characterization model can be used to identify sweet spots and infill-well locations. Sometimes, subject-matter expertise and physics can be incorporated into these models to enhance their classification and prediction capabilities.

Current Status

The data management strategies of most oil and gas companies with respect to their core applications have not yet been designed to handle big data or support analytics on a large scale. While database technologies have significantly improved, the systems that are being used are often decades old and were not built for rapid input/output operations or unstructured data management.

In terms of visualization, business intelligence tools are primarily being used to understand reservoir and well performance using real field data and to identify underperforming producers and injectors so timely action can be taken (Popa and Cassidy 2012). Analyzing the quality of history matching in reservoir simulation is another common use.

AI/ML methods are ideally suited for petrophysics and reservoir characterization applications that include multiple scales and types of data (from seismic to cores, logs). Since the earliest use of AI/ML methods in the petroleum industry, reservoir characterization has been a primary application area because of its inverse and data-driven nature. Lithology/ flow-unit identification and sweet-spot identification have been among the successful classification-type applications (Bestagini et al. 2017). These applications are currently being expanded to unconventional reservoirs, where they have more value (Hoeink and Zambrano 2017).

In terms of prediction, AI/ML was first applied to reservoir rock and fluid property estimations from experimental data (e.g., logs, cores) to develop correlations (McCain et al. 1998; El-Sebakhy et al. 2007). AI/ML was then used with synthetic log generation, seismic inversion (Artun and Mohaghegh 2011), and the integration of multiple sets of data for sweet-spot identification (Ertekin 2021). Data-driven models have also been used successfully in the performance

forecasting of unconventional reservoirs (Esmaili and Mohaghegh 2016; Al-Alwani et al. 2019) in cases where decline curves have failed or forecasting is difficult because of heterogeneities.

In terms of modeling strategies, ML techniques have been used successfully to create surrogates for reservoir simulation models (Amini and Mohaghegh 2019). This allows for complex reservoir studies that require many reservoir simulation runs to be accelerated. Other reducedphysics and reduced-complexity modeling strategies—such as streamlines, capacitanceresistance models, diffusive time of flight, model order reduction—have been applied to speed up reservoir performance predictions.

On the topic of uncertainty and risk, the combination of many uncertainty variables and complex models that require long simulation runs requires the consideration of other factors, such as the selection of critical variables through sensitivity analysis, proxies of objective functions, and the aggregation of variables. In practice, with high-fidelity (physics-based simulation) models, optimization is seldom considered because of the great computational effort required and lack of feasibility. The computational speed of data-driven models makes the quantification and analysis of uncertainty very practical when compared to high-fidelity models.

ML-based models have been successfully used for both classification and prediction purposes to development decisions make related to unconventional and mature conventional fields regarding the optimization of well count, location, trajectory, and completions; enhanced oil recovery; waterflooding; and the selection of candidate wells for restimulation (Kaushik et al. 2017: Burton et al. 2019; Zhou and Lascaud 2019).

One of the primary shortcomings of data-driven models is that the inner workings of these models

TAKEAWAYS

The data management strategies of most oil and gas companies have not yet been designed to handle big data or support analytics on a large scale, and the systems that are being used are often decades old.

Business intelligence tools are being used to visualize reservoir and well performance.

Al/ML methods are ideally suited for petrophysics and reservoir characterization applications that include multiple scales and types of data.

AI/ML models have been developed for the prediction of reservoir properties and performance.

Using ML techniques to quantify and analyze uncertainty has become more practical compared to using high-fidelity reservoir simulation models because of improved computational efficiency.

There is growing use of ML models for operational decision making and optimization.

One of the primary shortcomings of data-driven models is that the inner workings of these models are not wellunderstood in the industry because of a lack of formal training and the availability of few subject-matter experts in the workforce.

The goal of data-driven methods is not to be limited in finding structure in the data but to be able to interpret the data in terms of fundamental physical principles. are not well-understood by most practitioners in our industry because of a lack of formal training and the availability of few subject-matter experts in the workforce. The lack of understanding results in a lack of trust in these models for decision-making purposes. Theoretical details such as the selection of the correct method, data partitioning, and error analysis (visual and quantitative) are typically overlooked. AI/ML tools are easily and freely accessible, and expertise is not typically required to apply AI/ML methods to a given data set. However, the maximum value from the models might not be obtained.

Physical inconsistencies can also result from the application of a data-driven model. When pure datadriven methods are used beyond their range of applicability to extrapolate data or in areas with sparse data, physically inconsistent results might be obtained. While the range of applicability can be limited, it is also important to ensure the results are physically meaningful, and often, pure datadriven methods are incapable of providing physical insights. The goal is not to be limited in finding structure in the data but to be able to interpret the data in terms of fundamental physical principles.

Significant advances have been made in the past few years in the areas of data analytics and modeling strategies and in their use for making reservoir engineering decisions. At a basic level, certain repetitive jobs involving data migration, event detection, and routine analysis are being automated, freeing up reservoir engineers to perform advanced analysis and interpretation. Several advanced algorithms are being developed in conjunction with reservoir physics to speed up reservoir modeling and forecasting.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

Increasingly, oil and gas companies are recognizing the need to manage and store large quantities of data, which require very different solutions than those used previously. While nonrelational and cloud technologies are becoming more prevalent, there is a need for these solutions to work on more-specific oil and gas use cases. For example, time-series data are treated, processed, sampled, and retrieved very differently in oil and gas applications vs. in other industries, such as banking or healthcare. Databases are often optimized to support analytical processing and the use of ML or programming languages. Companies need to address metadata management, data governance, ML for optimization and performance management, and other aspects required for long-term strategic success. While cloud applications today are primarily characterized by lift-and-shift applications to the cloud with "best-fit" point solutions, the next-generation data management solutions will need to be natively built for the cloud platforms that can leverage the massive infrastructure.

Although business intelligence tools are used for data analysis and visualization, there are few examples of their successful integration with AI/ML-based prediction. Business intelligence and knowledge management are performed on one application, and AI/ML model training and prediction are performed on another application. A successful integration of the two can increase the value of both components. A standardized, user-centric approach to ML, which will help with user understanding, will be necessary to drive the adoption of these methods. New tools are needed that provide a what-if analysis for ML models without the need for the user to write code. The best data

visualization tools will play a significant role in democratizing data and analytics, making data-driven insights accessible to users throughout an organization. Preferably, visualizations could be presented in a storytelling style to illustrate key insights.

In terms of modeling strategies, current ML methods can be mostly classified as generic algorithms, which are applied to oil and gas data. However, work is ongoing to design custom algorithms specifically for oil and gas problems. These new algorithms should be far superior to standard out-of-the-box methods for applications such as seismic processing, interpretation, and production forecasting. Various approaches have been used to integrate physics into ML algorithms (Guo et al. 2018; Molinari et al. 2019), but a new generation of algorithms is now doing it very naturally (Raissi et al. 2017). These algorithms can transition smoothly between interpolation in a data-rich environment and physics-based extrapolation when needed. This approach also has the potential to replace standard reservoir simulation solvers because it is easier to parallelize an ML algorithm than the numerical methods for partial differential equations. ML strategies based on reinforcement learning could be adapted for reservoir engineering with the inclusion of both synthetic and real data. For example, for the determination of optimal development plans or well locations, ML models could be developed in which real examples and simulation results are combined in the training.

Both data and model uncertainties need to be considered by any modeling paradigm. Several modern probabilistic ML methods for modeling and training (history matching) naturally lend themselves to multiple realizations of the same reservoir that systematically characterize posterior uncertainty (He et al. 2018).

Proven, reproducible methods are necessary for applying data analytics to reservoir engineering. Although several innovative and promising papers, books, and reports have been published, they are often cryptic or hide the key steps and the associated data sets are not provided, and as a result, the methods are not reproducible.

TAKEAWAYS

Better handling of data organization and cloud applications is needed, in addition to specific data-storage solutions for oil and gas use cases.

Business intelligence tools need to be integrated with Al/ML algorithms.

User-centric visualization, preferably incorporating a storytelling style to illustrate key insights, is needed to assist human understanding.

Custom AI/ML algorithms are being developed for the oil and gas domain and should be far superior to standard methods for applications such as seismic processing, interpretation, and production forecasting.

Physical laws and relationships are being integrated into AI/ML algorithms.

Both data and model uncertainties need to be considered by any modeling paradigm.

Proven, reproducible methods are necessary for applying data analytics to reservoir engineering.

Explainable AI/ML models that maintain high accuracy are being developed.

Appropriate materials to help reservoir engineers understand analytics work products and determine their usability are urgently needed.

A new area of ML focusing on explainable AI is gaining momentum. The key objective is to produce explainable models while maintaining high accuracy, which would enable human users to understand, appropriately trust, and effectively manage the emerging generation of AI methods. A new set of methods in ML has been developed that provides more-meaningful insights and makes the data-driven models more transparent. Users should be able to understand why a model performed one task/computation and not another task/computation, when it succeeds or fails, when it can be trusted, and how to correct an error.

Because of the large data volumes now available, reliable analytic methods that are consistent, reproducible, and explainable are needed to help reservoir engineers perform key functions such as surveillance, reservoir management, and field optimization. There is a clear need within the industry for a technical forum to provide an exhaustive discussion of the existing, emerging, and future components of data analytics applications in reservoir technology and an

TAKEAWAYS

Physical laws and relationships for well-understood phenomena should be understood and honored.

The use of validation and physical consistency methods when faced with "small" data should be established as an essential practice.

Understanding of the limitations of physics-based and data-driven approaches should be emphasized.

urgent need for appropriate materials to help reservoir engineers understand analytics work products and determine their usability. It would be immensely helpful if fit-for-purpose training, books, technical reports, and case studies were available to practitioners. This cannot be achieved without first addressing the skills shortage among practitioners.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

It is essential that data-driven conclusions preserve physical interpretability and clear relationships to well-understood phenomena. Therefore, preserving the knowledge and understanding of the physical system is important while applying the mathematical, statistical, and analytical techniques to the analysis of data. Uncertainty is a key aspect of dealing with reservoir data, and while it cannot be eliminated, it may be reduced by means of validation and physical consistency checks. This fundamental principle should be maintained, particularly when faced with "small" data. On the other hand, the notions that both physics-based and data-driven approaches have their inherent limitations and that every approach (individually or integrated) serves a purpose should be established.

Field-Scale Projects

Contributors

- Osman Apaydin (KODA Resources)
- Tom Blasingame (Texas A&M University)
- Mohan Kelkar (The University of Tulsa)
- Faisal Rasdi (Equinor)
- Vural S. Suicmez (Quantum Reservoir Impact)

Introduction

Since the discovery of the first oil and gas fields, operators have strived to optimize reservoir performance using available tools. In the past 20 years, the tools at an operator's disposal have improved significantly, and the cost of collecting and storing high-resolution reservoir performance data has been reduced significantly. The technologies involved in integrating various sources and scales of data have improved, and the prediction of reservoir performance using reservoir simulation can be accomplished quickly while incorporating fine-scale geological details and numerous reservoir and fluid-related variables.

We propose the following questions for discussion:

- How have these tools helped the modern reservoir engineer better predict future reservoir performance?
- Can the reservoir engineer of today quantify the uncertainties of future performance?
- Would the reservoir engineer of today be more confident that his or her predictions and the associated uncertainties will capture the actual reservoir performance?
- Has our ability to manage reservoirs improved, resulting in better recoveries at lower costs?
- Do we have enough data and analysis to evaluate the potential of novel development options such as carbon capture?

We need to understand the answers to these questions to better understand the technological needs of the future.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

Field management has been a consideration since the first oil field was discovered. The initial applications were based on the information that was available and the physical principles that could be applied. Even in the earliest days, it was recognized that the production from an oil field does not remain constant but declines. Initial field management practices involved the prediction of future performance by empirically fitting the historical data (crude history matching). The locations of new wells were determined first based on oil seeps and later on surface geology. The introduction of Darcy's law and accounting for multiphase flow in reservoirs provided the physical principles necessary to better manage reservoirs using production data.

Morris Muskat made the first effort to support the practice of field management with the foundations of physics. In his seminal book *Physical Principles of Oil Production* (Muskat 1949), Muskat states that "an investigation into the physics of fluid flow through oil bearing rocks yields quite definite information as to the degree to which one may successfully recover un-recovered oil

and the factors influencing the recovery." Even today, this observation is valid. The purpose of field management has always been to recover "unrecovered" oil economically, and efficiently. Over time, better field management methods have evolved. We have used volumetric analysis, "zero"dimensional equations such as material balance, decline curve analysis, analytical procedures to estimate recoveries under waterflooding, and simple procedures for estimating gas recoveries under various mechanisms. Because of the analytical nature of many of these procedures, we rarely calculated uncertainties in our estimations of remaining oil and potential recoveries.

With the introduction of reservoir simulation, our approach to field management has evolved. Although we have not abandoned the traditional, analytical approaches to capture reservoir performance and predict the future, for many reservoirs, these tools are used as complements to reservoir simulation. Reservoir simulation is a powerful tool because many of the restrictions of analytical methods are removed, such as assumptions of homogeneous properties. We also have an increased recognition that in addition to predicting future performance, we need to quantify the uncertainties associated with future performance.

The introduction of reservoir simulation introduced an additional need to collect more data so that the reservoir description—which is an input in reservoir simulation—

TAKEAWAYS

Initial field management practices involved the prediction of future performance by empirically fitting the historical data.

Muskat (1949) made the first attempt to incorporate physics into the practice of field management.

The approach to field management evolved with the introduction of reservoir simulation, and the empirical and analytical tools are now used in complement.

With the introduction of reservoir simulation, more data were needed to improve reservoir description, and higher-quality and high-frequency data are now available.

The most-sophisticated tool is not always the best tool to optimize field management.

could become more meaningful. The quality of collected data and the quality of reservoir simulation go hand in hand; the better the data quality, the better the simulation results. Over time, our ability to collect data has also improved, in two different ways: We now have higher-quality data for reservoir properties, and we have high-frequency data regarding reservoir behavior.

When we examine the history of field management, we observe that now our tools are more sophisticated, our ability to simulate complex reservoir mechanisms is much better, our data collection in terms of quality and quantity has improved significantly, and our physical understanding of reservoirs has improved. At the same time, many of the physical principles articulated by Muskat remain valid and are still used; many analytical tools still retain their importance in understanding reservoirs and predicting their performance; and a desire to use the appropriate models for specific field management questions remains strong. It is well-understood that the most-sophisticated tool is not always the best tool to optimize field management.

Current Status

Historically, many reservoirs were modeled using a single description, and that description was used for reservoir management purposes. As the field management practice evolved, the importance of uncertainties in predicting future reservoir performance became better recognized.

With the improvements in our understanding of uncertainties in reservoir characterization, an increased capability of simulators to incorporate more data and significant enhancements in computational power over the past few decades have given rise to more-stochastic approaches in fieldscale projects. Instead of relying on a single performance prediction, multiple future predictions are now routinely performed to quantify uncertainties in the future performance and possible outcomes.

The reservoir management of field-scale projects is being assisted by several new and evolving technologies. The principal technologies include (1) the collection and assimilation of high-frequency, high-resolution data; (2) improved modeling techniques for integrating data from various disciplines; (3) faster computers that allow the simulation of high-resolution models; and (4) improved tools for monitoring changing field behavior. The new fields have been equipped with higher-resolution-data tools, including those for both surface and subsurface data collection. The resolution of every tool has increased, providing a detailed look at reservoir properties. In some instances, the data available can become overwhelming and end up being underused. Reservoir description methodologies have made significant progress in developing assimilation tools that allow the seamless integration of geological, geophysical, and engineering data. It is not unusual to see reservoir simulations of large fields being performed using multimillion cell models that account for small-scale variations in reservoir properties.

The ability to store large quantities of data on cloud systems helps with data access, management, and reconciliation, and these systems provide almostunlimited space for data storage/archiving. Using modern metering and gauges, the exploration and production industry is accelerating its efforts to collect data at very high frequencies; for example, it is not unusual to find data are collected at a frequency of less than 1 minute, or even on the order of seconds.

Decisions regarding the data to be collected and at what frequency are based on the biases of the

TAKEAWAYS

With the availability of robust simulators and improved understanding of uncertainties, more-stochastic approaches are being used in reservoir management decisions.

A current challenge is to determine if a benefit actually exists from recent technological advancements and the increase in data quantities and how data analytics and AI have and could accelerate the extraction of knowledge from these data.

Reservoir management is benefitting from new and evolving technologies such as improved modeling techniques that can integrate data from different disciplines and improved tools that monitor changing field behavior.

Better surveillance tools are being used to collect data at high frequencies, and the large quantities of data can be easily stored on cloud systems.

For a field-scale project to be successful, the key process is the integration and interpretation of information derived from all data sources.

An effort is underway to significantly increase the number and types of subsurface measurements.

Although large quantities of data are available, which should aid in field development and optimization, the industry is still searching for ways to cost effectively analyze these highfrequency data and use them to improve reservoir management. technical disciplines being deployed and have a significant effect on the outcome of studies. For a fieldscale project to be successful, the key process is the integration and interpretation of information derived from all data sources. This justifies spending project time on the gathering, formatting, and quality control of all data. In addition, the engagement of personnel in the production and operations groups becomes even more crucial during fast-paced developments because they are the ones who execute the placement of wells and wellcompletion strategies and select artificial-lift methods. They should also be actively involved in the data collection and interpretation phases of a given project.

To complement the large number of surface

TAKEAWAYS

An ideal field development plan requires that first-order effects be correctly identified before lowerorder effects are considered.

Having a decision-making process that follows a specified workflow to identify first-order effects is important for young engineers with limited experience.

measurements (rates, pressures, temperatures) that are available, an effort is underway to significantly increase the number and types of subsurface measurements. In unconventional reservoirs, operators collect information such as microseismic, downhole temperature sensor, and downhole acoustic sensor data at high frequencies, and these types of data sets are on the order of terabytes and even petabytes. Although large quantities of data are available, which should aid in field development and optimization, the industry is still searching for ways to cost effectively analyze these high-frequency data and use them to improve reservoir management. These high-frequency data are often qualitatively used, but rarely is an application seen where the data are used quantitatively. More collaboration between data scientists, engineers, and geoscientists is needed so that such data can be used quantitatively.

It is well-established that field developments are influenced more by large-scale features than small-scale features, which is why understanding the large-scale features is much more important. Disruptive events provide significantly more valuable information than gradual changes do. For example, knowledge that a new well drilled in a field has encountered virgin pressure is a lot more important than knowledge of the slow decline of an already producing well. A quick water breakthrough in a producing well is much more critical to understanding the reservoir connectivity than a slow increase in fractional flow is.

An ideal field development plan requires that such first-order effects be correctly identified before lower-order effects are considered. If any company has developed a systematic process where data importance and analysis are identified during field development planning, they should publish that process. Every field development study is unique, and the importance of data can vary depending on the geological environment, maturity of the field, and type of development process (primary depletion, waterflooding, enhanced oil recovery, carbon storage) that is being implemented. However, a generic description of how to identify first-order effects can be crucial in optimizing the time allocated to finish a field development study.

In many situations, however, field development involves "comfort simulation," where the decision about how to develop a field has already been made and the simulation results are used to justify the already existing plan. If indeed a "gut feeling" based on previous experience is important in making the correct decision, understanding how one arrives at that decision is critical for future field development projects. Young engineers with limited experience might not have the benefit of such experience. Thus, having a decision-making process that follows a specified workflow to identify first-order effects is important.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

Recent technological advancements and the vast quantities of data now being collected should theoretically significantly increase understanding of how reservoirs behave and provide clear guidance on reservoir development. However, it is important to understand that not every newly collected data set will significantly benefit the field management process. Therefore, making judicious choices regarding which additional data to collect is also critical. Some type of cost/benefit analysis, either based on the historical performances of other fields or an analytical technique, would be useful. The next challenge is to determine how data analytics and artificial intelligence (AI) could accelerate the extraction of knowledge from these data. Simply having a very large data set available does not solve the physical challenges these reservoirs pose. Data from several disciplines will need to be combined, processed, and formatted in a manner from which knowledge can be extracted. In fact, that is the traditional "weak link" in the process: Engineers and geoscientists currently put 75-90% of their effort in a project toward data management, while most of this time is needed for the analysis, interpretation, and evaluation of such data.

In addition, a significant challenge is null or missing data, which are very common in petroleum engineering. Typical examples of null data are data that were measured but lost, data that were measured in one well but not in others, and data that are unreliable because of flaring and/or underreporting. Therefore, algorithms that can fill in the null data using physics-based assumptions need to be developed.

TAKEAWAYS

Because data quantity alone is not enough to guide reservoir development, judicious decision making regarding the additional data to be collected is critical.

Algorithms that can fill in null data using physics-based assumptions need to be developed.

Although many tools are available to integrate information at various scales, the challenge still remains to collect data that can resolve smallscale heterogeneities.

Better quantification of uncertainties in future performance prediction would improve our ability to manage reservoirs and make sound economic decisions.

Lookback studies comparing what was predicted vs. what was observed could be used to evaluate the success of new methods.

Reservoirs could be better managed if we were to have an improved understanding of the reservoir heterogeneities and important reservoir mechanisms.

Reservoir seals need to be better understood for injection processes.

Significant advances have been made in developing reservoirs to store CO₂ through carbon capture, utilization, and storage, but more understanding is needed before large aquifers could be used.

Expertise in reservoir management is needed to decide which reservoir features and behaviors are necessary inputs for the machine-learning process to predict future performance with reasonable certainty.

Although many tools have been developed to integrate information at various scales, not much has been accomplished in terms of collecting data that can resolve small-scale heterogeneities. As an example, even though simulation techniques have improved, our ability to capture hydraulic fracture characteristics in a horizontal well (e.g., the distribution and extent of natural vs. hydraulic fractures at each stage) remains limited. Even with improved tools, our challenge in the future will be to figure out how to capture small-scale details about a reservoir at subsurface conditions so that these details can be incorporated into the reservoir modeling process. High-resolution seismic and near-wellbore monitoring and measuring tools could perhaps be used to resolve such details. By combining small-scale subsurface characteristics from various disciplines into improved integrated tools, our ability to predict the future performance of a reservoir could be significantly improved.

Even though our ability to predict future performance incorporating the associated uncertainties has significantly improved, we still lack systematic processes for assessing our success in predicting future performance. That is, how well were our uncertainty predictions able to successfully capture the actual future performance? Looking back at an uncertainty prediction could guide us regarding how successful we will be in predicting future uncertainties. The goal of uncertainty prediction is twofold. First, the predicted range of uncertainty should be such that the actual performance falls between that range. Second, the uncertainty range should be as narrow as possible so that these ranges can be meaningful in making sound economic decisions. If the actual performance falls outside the range of uncertainty, clearly our ability to quantify uncertainties is not sound. If the uncertainty range is too wide, it may hamper us from making good economic decisions. We are seeing efforts in the industry to address these questions. Post-auditingcomparing the actual performance with the predicted performance—is much more common today. Because of improved computational speeds, it is possible to generate multiple history-matched reservoir descriptions, which can better quantify the uncertainties and generate predictions within reasonable ranges of the actual performance. However, currently, the history matching of multiple realizations followed by the prediction of uncertainties in future performance is mostly restricted to large multinational companies. It would be advantageous to the industry if this particular methodology became much more commonplace among companies of all sizes.

Reservoirs could be better managed if we were to have an improved understanding of the reservoir heterogeneities and important reservoir mechanisms, which drive flow behavior. For conventional reservoirs, the physics of most flow processes is well-understood; however, we need to improve our ability to gauge and quantify the interaction between reservoir heterogeneities and the flow process. For unconventional reservoirs, many uncertainties remain with respect to reservoir flow mechanisms considering that we are not even sure if Darcy's law is applicable under certain conditions.

For injection processes, the reservoir seals also need to be better understood because seal capacity affects the maximum injection rate. Better characterization of the reservoir seal should be a focus in future data acquisitions. Leveraging geologic information and advanced seismic acquisition and processing could be useful in determining the seal capacity. Time-lapse monitoring coupled with automated analysis could detect injectant pathways and identify early anomalous behavior.

Significant advances have been made in developing reservoirs to store carbon dioxide (CO₂) through carbon capture, utilization, and storage (Bryant 2007; Feder 2019). Potential storage options include depleted fields, while other opportunities exist for large aquifers. In these cases,

not only do the reservoir properties need to be characterized, but an understanding of the strata above the reservoir is also required to estimate the CO_2 storage capacity. For large aquifers, before the injection of a large quantity of CO_2 could become feasible, issues such as induced seismicity, achieving solubility of CO_2 , the impermeability of overlying formations, the leakage of wellbores, pressure changes in the formation, and the mineralogy of the formation and its potential for interaction with CO_2 must be better understood. These analyses will require integration between geoscience, engineering, operations, and even external stakeholders.

With the advances in AI and machine learning, an argument is being made that data-driven technologies can be used in place of physics-based models. In many AI applications, the general argument for their use is that we can predict future performance without understanding the physical processes. As long as large quantities of data are available and the model can be trained using large quantities of data, the argument goes that the model will be able to predict when new information is fed into it. With advances in data gathering and high-frequency information, is it possible that even reservoir management and the decision making regarding it could be accomplished

TAKEAWAYS

Preserving and documenting actual field examples and the lessons learned are incredibly important for future reservoir management.

The process of understanding and separating first-order effects from minor effects to make field development decisions must be documented.

Better documentation is needed regarding how high-granularity data can be properly used to improve field management.

A better understanding of which data to collect and which not to collect would be useful in improving the cost effectiveness of data collection.

Successes as well as failures should be published.

using data-driven technologies? That is, if sufficient data were collected from a reservoir and the history of that reservoir as well as those of several other reservoirs could be fed into machine-learning and deep-neural-network algorithms, is it possible that the machine could predict the potential future outcome and the associated uncertainties without using physics-based models? Or, without using physics-based models, would it be difficult to capture and predict the future performance of a reservoir? Or, perhaps some combination of physics-based models and machine-learning algorithms could better predict the performance of a reservoir? These are all open questions for which we do not have answers. The application of machine learning to reservoir description and prediction has thus far provided mixed results, and success has been spotty. This could be due to the fact that without domain expertise and knowledge, machine-learning applications are hard to use. In effect, expertise in both reservoir management and machine learning is needed to understand which reservoir features are necessary inputs to correctly assess the uncertainties and predict future performance. As the application of machine-learning algorithms becomes increasingly common, these issues will come to the forefront of reservoir management.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

Hydrocarbon reservoirs are complex, and even with improved physical understanding, the large quantity of data that we typically gather still barely describes the actual nature of a reservoir. Thus,

predicting future performance on the basis of limited data is only part science; it is also part art, which can only come from experience. Preserving and documenting actual field examples and the lessons learned are incredibly important for future reservoir management.

In any field management decision, the models we build are never about the truth of a reservoir. Rather, these models are simplifications or idealizations of a reservoir, but they may still be very useful for predicting future performance. Building an appropriate model requires understanding the first-order effects and ignoring second- and third-order effects. How to understand and separate the first-order effects only comes from prior experience, but we need to attempt to document such information.

Because of increased computational power and an improved ability to collect data, large quantities of data with high granularity are being collected. We need better documentation regarding how these data can be properly used to improve field management. A better understanding of which data to collect and which not to collect would also be useful in improving the cost effectiveness of data collection. Field studies documenting failures as well as successes need to be presented so that we will better understand the best practices of field management.

TAKEAWAYS

PRMS, which was initially adopted in 2007, provides a systematic framework for classifying and categorizing resources.

The 2018 updated version of PRMS provides the basis for a universal set of definitions and a classification system for petroleum resources that are used internationally for all applications.

Government regulators (e.g., US SEC) have adopted definitions inspired by PRMS.

SPE continues to disseminate information about PRMS through workshops, training courses, and supplementary documents.

Technologies for forecasting production include material balance, numerical well and reservoir simulation, RTA, and DCA.

Reserves

Contributors

- Reggie Boles (DeGolyer and MacNaughton)
- John Lee (Texas A&M University)
- Joe Young (LaRoche Petroleum Consultants)

Introduction

Reserves estimation and the related production forecasting technologies play dominant roles in the fate of oil and gas exploration and production (E&P) companies. Stakeholders in these companies-decision makers, investors, and reserves analysts (who most certainly include reservoir engineers)—have a huge responsibility to identify and apply the best-available practices to this work. However, "best available" does not necessarily mean "most accurate"; adequate accuracy and the timely generation of results appropriate compromises. require Maintaining and developing tools and methods that move commensurately with a rapidly changing industry knowledge base, transferring knowledge of those methods, and strengthening the confidence of those that use the reserves estimates are key goals.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

Effective reserves analysis and reporting require, at a minimum, the use of a system for resources classification and categorization and reliable methods to forecast the future production of resources. The system for classification and categorization has evolved into the current Petroleum Resources Management System (PRMS), which has been widely accepted globally for use in all phases of the petroleum industry. SPE led the effort to develop this system but was assisted by many other professional societies in the industry. PRMS was adopted in 2007 by SPE, the American Association of Petroleum Geologists (AAPG), the World

TAKEAWAYS

Technologies for production forecasting continue to advance, led by the development of methods of specific interest in unconventional (low-permeability) reservoirs.

Data analytics techniques are being increasingly applied in production forecasting.

Training in the latest advances in production forecasting is widely available and offered by SPE, SPEE, and their sister societies.

Training in PRMS is also widely available (virtually and in person) and offered by SPE, SPEE, and their sister societies.

The challenge of transferring knowledge from retiring experts to younger professionals is a front-of-mind topic.

Petroleum Council (WPC), and the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE).

SPE and its sister societies—AAPG, SPEE, WPC, the Society of Petrophysicists and Well Log Analysts (SPWLA), the Society of Exploration Geophysicists (SEG), and the European Association of Geoscientists and Engineers (EAGE)—approved in 2018 an updated version of PRMS (SPE Oil and Gas Reserves Committee 2018), which provides the basis for a universal set of definitions and a classification system for petroleum resources and is used by the industry internationally. In addition, government regulators, such as the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), have adopted definitions inspired by PRMS.

Since PRMS was initially adopted by the boards of directors of SPE and the other societies, SPE has disseminated information about PRMS and the update through workshops and training courses conducted worldwide. In addition, SPE has recorded a web-based series of training lectures for transmission to SPE sections, individuals, and reserves stakeholders throughout the world, even in remote locations. SPE committees are currently working on supplementary documents, including an update to the 2011 PRMS applications guidance document and a new "examples" document.

Production forecasting, which provides the basis for reserves estimation, comprises a group of technologies almost as old as the petroleum industry itself, yet new technologies and approaches continue to add to the tool kit estimators can deploy. Common forecasting methods include production decline curve analysis (DCA), rate transient analysis (RTA), material-balance analysis, conventional gas and black-oil reservoir simulation, and compositional simulation for near-critical fluids, while storage and transport simulations in nanopores (such as in shale reservoirs) are being developed (SPEE 2016).

Current Status

Technology related to reserves estimation and evaluation has continued to advance, although much work remains to be done. Primary evolving technologies include RTA, reservoir simulation (Jones et al. 2016; Moinfar et al. 2016), and DCA (SPEE 2016). Low-permeability reservoirs have provided myriad opportunities to advance the technology of reserves estimation and analysis. The inclusion of modern and maturing data analytics techniques is becoming a common methodology within workflows for estimating and projecting reserves production.

SPE and its sister societies, particularly SPEE, have provided training globally on production forecasting technologies. Production forecasting methods—including but not limited to data analytics, machine learning, and enhancements of more-mature technologies—continue to be featured in technical journals and at technical conferences and workshops. In addition, SPE and other organizations continue to conduct training throughout the world in the application and use of PRMS.

It is also recognized that the industry is on the cusp of a transition, with a significant portion of the current workforce aging out through retirement in the coming decade. This challenge of transferring accumulated knowledge is a front-of-mind topic in all areas of the industry, and no less in the field of reserves and resources estimation.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

While the system for resources management (PRMS) has progressed to a high level, continued diligence will be necessary to respond to changes in the industry and to improve the external understanding of the reliability and integrity of resources estimates (Olsen et al. 2011).

E&P companies have been criticized recently (particularly by the investment community) for their optimistic and overconfident estimates of ultimate recovery in low-permeability resources, such as shales (Miller et al. 2017; Elliott 2019; Matthews et al. 2019; Olson et al. 2019). The criticisms included but were not limited to (1) the improper application of traditional DCA methodology, especially in the choice and application of Arps *b*-factors during transitional and transient flow and in the application of terminal decline rates; (2) the improper construction and application of

typical-well production profiles (i.e., type wells or type curves); (3) an improper or a lack of application of uncertainty analysis; (4) a failure to account for well-to-well interference in forecasting; and (5) a failure to account for the negative impact of multiphase flow (e.g., gas/oil, gas/oil/water). Confronting these criticisms and improving the methods applied are challenges that must be addressed.

Potential solutions will include an improvement in the understanding and proper application of the familiar Arps method. However, additional methods should also be improved and more broadly applied, such as the incorporation of simulation modeling earlier in the process of evaluation and RTA where applicable (Collins and Ilk 2015).

The dominant method for forecasting in ultralowpermeability reservoirs remains production DCA. Although many replacements for the Arps decline model have been suggested, none have proved to be significantly more reliable for forecasting. Nevertheless, much remains to be learned about the proper application of the Arps model and similar decline models for forecasting in reservoirs with limited production histories and with expected future complications such as multiphase flow, well interference, and pressuredependent formation and completion properties.

Full-physics simulation models (including storage and transport in nanopores) are evolving for use in longerterm forecasting for ultratight reservoirs, and they may be approaching the commercial-application stage (Baek and Akkutlu 2019). These models will be useful for calibrating and applying rapid but approximate empirical and analytical models that are based on simplifying assumptions. However, understanding how to apply the results of this type of forecasting to a categorization of reserves will have to progress in accordance with these methods. In general, an earlier application of simulation modeling could be beneficial, despite the obvious caveats and uncertainties inherent in early application.

TAKEAWAYS

PRMS (as curated by SPE and associated professional groups) must be continuously reviewed for potential updates and modernization.

Advances in production forecasting should be applied to improve forecasts and enhance credibility with the investment community. Forecasting needs to go beyond the unquestioning reliance on the traditional Arps hyperbolic decline model.

Improvement in the construction and application of more-reliable typical-well production profiles (i.e., type wells or type curves) is also essential for credibility with investors.

Production forecast and reserve estimation methods, such as DCA and RTA, need further improvements to be used for multiphase flow, well interference, and pressure-dependent formation and completion properties.

The development (and earlier application) of full-physics simulation models for forecasting in unconventional reservoirs is required for longer-term forecasts.

The industry, with SPE as a key player, will be called on to develop better training programs that incorporate a recognizable purpose and applications.

The experience and knowledge of the soon-to-be-retiring professionals will be important resources to capture while they are still available. RTA as a technology for forecasting and reserves estimation is mature in its development. However, it faces challenges in modeling multiphase flow, including gas/oil flow in retrograde-gas reservoirs, oil/gas flow in volatile-oil reservoirs, and gas/oil/water flow in other reservoirs (Moinfar et al. 2016). The basic approach has been to adapt analytical solutions for single-phase flow to more-complex multiphase flow situations using pseudofunctions. However, practical problems that need to be overcome include obtaining trustworthy reservoir description data, such as relative permeability relations, for use in these pseudofunctions.

A broad challenge in production forecasting and reserves estimation in both conventional and unconventional reservoirs is the lack of consistent knowledge regarding the application of currently known recommended practices, as lacking in rigor as they may be. This problem is easy to state but more difficult to resolve. The industry will need to do a better job of informing practicing reserves analysts and reservoir engineers about the strengths and limitations of currently available approaches. This could be accomplished by enhancing our efforts to educate (rather than simply train) users to comply with regulations, forecast with acceptable accuracy, and estimate reserves in ways that provide confidence to all stakeholders in petroleum E&P. The SPE training courses, for example, reach only a small fraction of practicing engineers, and the reasons for this might include the cost and travel difficulties, and perhaps even

TAKEAWAYS

Resources classifications and definitions, and how to apply principles in specific situations, are key elements of the reservesestimation practice.

The specific methodologies used in production forecasting and reserves estimations should always be presented and taught with the underlying concepts, assumptions, and limitations.

Methods and best practices of estimating reserves deterministically and probabilistically should be documented.

Regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used in resource evaluation, the importance of assessing uncertainty should be emphasized.

indifference. The industry, and SPE in particular, may be called on to broaden its training outlets (in person and virtually), provide cost offsets (such as free courses and scholarships), and add cohesion and purpose to the training structure to make the training more inviting to and useful for a broader population.

The exiting of experienced professionals from the industry because of retirements will only add to the challenge of disseminating accumulated knowledge gained through experience. However, as the daily work responsibilities of these retiring professionals lessen, there will be opportunities to support and incentivize mentoring and direct knowledge transfer (such as through courses, conference speakers, and in-house corporate training) using this great source of experience.

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

Resources classifications and definitions are fundamental, but as history has taught, they must be carefully tended and supported without pause. Beyond just the learning of definitions, the application of theory and constructs is always important. Experience cultivates skill in applying learned principles, and the dissemination of those learnings will be imperative.

Preserving the concepts underlying the applications of specific methodologies in a reserves analysis is an area in which professional societies can play a vital role. In the case of petroleum reserves estimation, SPE and associated industry groups should be leaders in accumulating and distributing the underlying knowledge required.

This will span the range of quantification methods, including both deterministic and probabilistic approaches. The key to both method types is the proper assessment of uncertainty. Whether the uncertainty is stochastic or scenario-based, an evaluator will need the tools to assess the uncertainty involved regarding the inputs as well as the outputs (SPEE 2010; McLane and Gouveia 2015).

The key to any estimate of resources is a time-based forecast of those volumes. The economic viability, capital allocation, and future profitability of resources, fields, and companies rely on the reasonable accuracy of such forecasts. This applies to conventional and unconventional resources, with each subject to specific complexities. The beneficial effects of collective knowledge and experience can be used to instill awareness of both the appropriate application and the limitations of a given method of forecasting resources.

Project Economics

Contributors

- Bernadette Johnson (Enverus)
- Basak Kurtoglu (Quantum Energy Partners)

Introduction

The availability of inexpensive and reliable energy has been an important driver for the economic growth and wealth of nations around the world. Fossil fuels—including coal, oil, and natural gas—have been the key energy resources supporting the unprecedented transformation of civilization since the 18th century.

The global macroeconomic environment for energy has changed significantly over the past 15 years. The unconventional revolution in the US and the discovery of vast natural-gas resources around the world have had farreaching implications for geopolitics, energy commodity prices, and the transport and flow patterns of energy commodities worldwide. Additionally, the dramatic change in supply and demand fundamentals, increased public awareness of climate change, and interest in alternative energy sources have affected capital markets and the investor appetite for oil and gas.

The tools used in economic evaluation and decision making are outside the scope of this green paper, and the technical data used in project economics have been covered in previous sections. Rather, this section discusses the macroeconomic environment affecting oil and gas projects.

TAKEAWAYS

Global political and socioeconomic instability influences commodity prices and therefore energy economics.

Until recently, global supply was heavily influenced by OPEC and the national oil companies of its member states. Demand growth was centered in developed economies.

An era of hydrocarbon scarcity—when it was believed that global oil and gas reserves were being exhausted faster than they could be replaced—existed for decades and ended in the early 2000s. This dynamic drove investment decisions, the valuation of companies, and energy policy.

It is intended to bring closure to the green paper by underscoring the ultimate objective of all reservoir activities and highlighting the importance of socioeconomic and political conditions in what is typically considered to be a purely technical field.

History, Background, and Original Concepts

The precarious stability of energy economics, with its strong interdependence on global political and socioeconomic stability, has made predicting and planning for the future an almost-daunting task. Because of this difficulty, energy economists have developed tools to guide energy investments and resource development strategies at the company and national levels.

It should be noted that until recently, the following market dynamics prevailed:

- Global energy markets and prices were largely controlled by OPEC and its bigger producers.
- The global spare supply capacity, or the supply available to backstop short-term growth or unplanned outages, was primarily held by OPEC.

- Supply was sourced from conventional reservoirs, and projects consisted of long lead-time investments requiring significant capital. Exploration efforts were risky and often unsuccessful.
- Until the early 2000s, it was thought that global oil reserves were being exhausted faster than they could be replaced and the market was running out of oil and gas; the reaching of peak oil was believed to be imminent.
- New global supply discoveries were dominated by major oil companies or national oil companies instead of small or independent operators.
- Demand growth was primarily occurring in developed economies.
- Economic growth and low-cost energy were encouraged over the minimization of climate and environmental impacts. In addition, the climate impact was not fully understood or widely accepted.

Current Status

The US unconventional revolution has had one of the greatest impacts on the energy industry so far this century. In less than 15 years, between 2005 and 2020, US crude and condensate production grew from 5 million B/D to more than 10 million B/D (US Energy Information Administration 2021). (However, this number is significantly less than the observed peak in November 2019 of 12.966 million B/D and reflects the crude production drop caused by the COVID-19 pandemic crude market collapse.) During the same period, gross natural-gas production grew from 55 Bcf/D to more than 104 Bcf/D (US Information Administration 2021). Energy Because this production growth far outpaced domestic demand growth, the US is now a net exporter of natural gas, crude/condensate, and natural gas liquids (also referred to as liquid petroleum products). The year 2020 will be notable for the significant upheaval in oil and gas markets. Both the severe reduction of demand because of COVID-19 and the price wars have

TAKEAWAYS

Between 2005 and 2020, US crude and condensate and gross natural-gas production doubled, and the US is now a net exporter of natural gas, crude-oil/condensate, and natural gas liquids.

Growth in supply, the development of new resources, and the relatively less growth in demand have resulted in a dramatic drop in prices, leading us into the current era of abundance.

Because of persistent low prices, investors have shifted their focus from growth to demonstrating capital efficiency, scrutinizing balance sheets, and demanding a return on capital.

Investment is now being affected by concerns about climate change and policies generally supportive of renewable energy.

DCF models are the standard method for evaluating project economics and benchmarking assets.

In the current market, investors expect E&P operators to generate free cash flow and generate strong full cycle and corporate returns.

Private companies must build businesses focusing on cash-flow growth.

Global producers will need to invest in both unconventional and conventional resources, creating both opportunities and risks.

Several factors must be considered for each project when designing a company strategy or portfolio mix, including operational experience, political risks, and expected future commodity prices. collapsed prices and changed supply and demand levels in the short to medium term. However, the longer-term dynamics presented in this section will likely prevail.

Coinciding with the growth of US production in the past 15 years, significant conventional naturalgas resources were discovered and developed around the world, in Qatar and Australia, for example, with more planned projects underway. This growth in supply, the development of new resources, and the relatively less growth in demand have resulted in a dramatic drop in the price for crude, natural gas, and natural gas liquids, and we are now in a time period that is often referred to as the "era of abundance."

This era of abundance has also resulted in a significant paradigm shift in the way oil and gas are valued by investors. When the market believed that the world was running out of hydrocarbon resources, investors thought that commodity prices would trend up over time as the cheaper resources were exhausted and the use of new, more-expensive resources became necessary. This resulted in both public and private investors encouraging exploration and production (E&P) operators to increase production volumes, often by taking on debt to fund that growth. However, now that low prices have persisted for more than 10 years for natural gas and more than 6 years for crude/condensate, investors have shifted their focus from growth to demonstrating capital efficiency, scrutinizing balance sheets, and demanding a return on capital.

The investor appetite for oil and gas has also been affected by concerns about climate change and the growth of renewable energy. The importance of this change to capital markets and the investment landscape cannot be overemphasized; however, it must also be noted that capital markets, like commodity markets, are cyclical, and the most-important factor that drives investors is returns, which are largely a function of commodity prices. An improvement in commodity prices would increase returns, improve the balance sheets of E&P operators, and result in additional oil and gas fields beginning to generate profits. As a result of price increases from the 2020 lows and conservative capital-expenditure programs, many US producers have reported improved balance sheets and financial metrics. In addition to commodity price increases, technological advancements and changing geopolitical dynamics promise to reshape oil and gas markets in the future.

While the macroeconomic environment for energy continues to evolve, the fundamental valuation methodologies for both conventionals and unconventionals have not changed. The most-common method to construct realistic and accurate valuations is the discounted cash flow (DCF) model (Reynolds 1959). When a decision involves buying, selling, or funding an asset through external means, a market-based approach can also provide a relative value of the asset on the basis of how investors price similar assets. The typical thought process underlying petroleum valuations includes the following:

- To value an existing asset for internal purposes: What is the value of my asset?
- To value an asset's reserves for external reporting purposes (e.g., to the US Securities and Exchange Commission): How will investors value my asset?
- To value an operational decision: Should I perform this operation?
- To value an asset under consideration for acquisition: Should I buy?
- To value an asset under consideration for disposition: Should I sell?
- To value a funding decision: How much should I invest and at what structure?

Conventional assets generally take longer to develop and by nature are less flexible, thus allowing for less responsiveness to variations in commodity prices. There are fewer companies around the world with the scale and access to capital required to bring a conventional project to life, and those companies are often either national oil companies or major global companies.

For conventional reservoirs, multiyear reservoir characterization, subsurface and surface modeling, history-matching, and simulation studies are typically undertaken to estimate original hydrocarbons-in-place, predict well performance, and eventually estimate the value of the asset. The fundamental reservoir engineering applications are still valid in the valuation of conventional assets. However, with the advancement of high-performance computing and real-time access to operational data, asset valuations are more dynamic than ever.

Unconventional assets, by nature, contain more geologic variation, even within a basin or play, and therefore vary in terms of volume predictability and economics. For more than a decade, public upstream companies meaningfully outspent their cash flows as they explored shales. Their primary focus was on production growth and long-term inventory life rather than generating free cash flow. During this time, private operators invested minimal capital to delineate acreage to prepare for asset divesture. However, the upstream business model has rapidly changed since the COVID-19-related downturn. In the current market, investors expect E&P operators to generate free cash flow and strong full cycle and corporate returns. Private companies are expected to do more than "prove and flip." For private companies to find their exit, they also focus on building businesses focusing on cash-flow growth. This requires that private operators take a full-field development approach instead of operating under a minimal delineation program. For the first time, there is a common strategy regarding the allocation of capital to develop these reservoirs regardless of whether the company is public or privately held.

For unconventional assets, the most-common building block of DCF models is single-well economics, which can then be aggregated into a full development model to value an asset within a company or value an entire company. This approach worked well early in the unconventional era. With approximately 150,000 horizontal wells drilled in unconventional plays to date according to state and federal regulatory filings and drilling permits, the industry has realized that every well is unique and many variables can influence well performance and economics. The role of technology and big data is now more important than ever because optimizing field development is an extremely complex issue given the interaction of reservoir quality, stacked development, completion techniques, operational procedures, spacing, and timing. With operators in development mode, the intrinsic value of every asset hinges on the operator's strategic approach to pad, cube, staggered, and sectional planning/execution and managing parent/child issues. A comprehensive subsurface analysis is required to accurately predict well and field performance and characterize future inventory. Without the correct engineering and geoscience tools and approaches, the industry is inevitably at risk of overestimating or underestimating the productivity of such reservoirs, which is ultimately what drives asset valuation and project economics.

The strategy of oil and gas producers and their portfolio-construction decisions have evolved in recent years alongside the US unconventional revolution. There are now two distinct types of investments: lower-capital unconventional onshore wells that take less than 30 days to drill and can be brought online within months and more-capital-intensive conventional projects that require

years to discover, test, and finally bring online. Additionally, investors can balance their portfolios from a commodity perspective and select oil, gas, or a combination.

Unconventional assets are unlikely to ever meet ongoing energy needs. The lower overall volume growth rate in the US simply means the US supply will not be sufficient on its own to balance the market. Therefore, global oil and gas producers will need to invest in both unconventional and conventional resources in the future. These two competing investment types will create both opportunities and risks for national oil companies, major global oil companies, and shale producers as they define their own strategies and construct their portfolios.

Today and going forward, most major oil companies are investing in both unconventional and conventional projects all over the world, while some are leaving the space and focusing only on the transition to alternative energy sources. There are also independent unconventional operators in the US that have taken positions in conventional projects abroad, primarily in natural gas. In addition, many companies have diversified and are concurrently investing in multiple unconventional and conventional projects.

Several key factors must be considered for each project when designing a company strategy or portfolio mix, including

- Technical and operational experience
- Political and business risk in a specific region or country
- Workforce and labor accessibility in a specific region or country
- Expected future commodity prices
- Desired commodities mix exposure
- Land or acreage position
- Midstream and downstream infrastructure required to produce assets and the ability to integrate the business to mitigate risks
- Ability to account for unforeseen occurrences, such as COVID-19 and the Macondo blowout and explosion
- Environmental, social, and governance (ESG) and other nonfinancial metrics demanded by investors and shareholders
- Competing energy sources to meet net-zero goals or emissions reductions

It is important to note that much of what has been discussed thus far applies to both unconventional and conventional projects, but the scale, risks, and timelines are often different.

Evolving and Future Needs and Expectations

Going forward, there are several key market dynamics to watch that will drive prices and, therefore, the investor appetite for oil and gas.

The first is demand growth trends for crude and natural gas. Because it is unclear if or when demand will return to pre-COVID-19 levels, this topic is under debate. Air-travel demand has improved since 2020, but it is expected that it will take years to reach pre-pandemic levels, and global macroeconomic growth is being challenged. Transportation fuel represents the largest component of crude demand, and the growth of electric vehicles will influence this demand in the future. How much demand for refined products will be displaced and when?

The longevity of US unconventional resources will remain a key factor in overall commodity flow patterns and prices. Specifically, how long can US production continue to grow, in what quantity, and at what price? This is notwithstanding the current shorter- and medium-term impacts resulting from COVID-19 and the subsequent price collapse.

Growth in renewables, particularly in developing nations where the majority of increased demand for hydrocarbons is expected to come from, should also be monitored. This growth will largely be sponsored by government policies that provide tax incentives, mandate certain infrastructure retirements, and further incentivize investment. Where and when will renewables grow as a percentage of the energy mix? How competitive from a returns perspective could renewables be as policies evolve, consumer preferences change, and costs begin to affect the general public?

In addition, cheaper and longer-lasting batteries are being developed all around the world, and the required breakthroughs in physical chemistry are a question of when, not if. There is also growing investment in and operational activity surrounding carbon capture, utilization, and storage (CCUS) as policy-driven incentives are increasing globally to achieve net-zero goals by 2050.

Geopolitics, trade wars, and currency wars also influence the market. Shortages in crude/condensate supply are common and often a result of political unrest, attacks on infrastructure, or economic instability. Trade and currency wars have increased over the past several years, and each event has had far-reaching impacts on the price of commodities and demand. Where and when will these events happen in the future? And how often?

TAKEAWAYS

Demand growth trends for both oil and gas will be closely tracked and analyzed.

The longevity of and ultimately the appetite for investment in US unconventional production resources will remain a key factor in overall commodity flow patterns and prices.

The growth in renewables, particularly in developing nations, should be monitored.

Technological advancements in the areas of battery technology and carbon capture are being researched around the world.

Geopolitical risks and socioeconomic volatility will continue to influence the market.

The final market dynamic to watch is the continued investment and research in EOR in both the Middle East and unconventional plays.

Before 2010, OPEC was a key driver of supply and price, but the group's price-setting ability has been hampered in the current era of fundamental oversupply of crude/condensate, led by supply growth in non-OPEC countries. The pandemic forced significant cuts in the production levels of OPEC and their partners, along with those of other non-OPEC nations around the world. Large quantities of crude remain on the sidelines, and the timing of the return of this supply is uncertain.

The final market dynamic to watch is the continued investment and research in enhanced oil recovery (EOR) in both the Middle East and unconventional plays, as well as the success of carbon dioxide EOR projects as part of CCUS initiatives supported by tax incentives. Will supply increase because of technological advancements in EOR, and how will the decarbonization of the upstream industry by means of CCUS affect the longevity of oil and gas production?

Critical Knowledge and Experience To Be Preserved and Transferred

The valuation methodologies and technical approach used in project economics have not changed. DCF models are and will remain the standard methodology for evaluating projects quantitatively, although ESG metrics are now also being used to benchmark and compare projects. Successful energy projects rely on an integrated approach between technical/operational and commercial teams, and financial drivers, optimal drilling/completion/production techniques, and intangible factors like ESG must be considered to maximize project economics.

Thus, while the fundamentals of project economics have not changed, it is important to note how global and local energy market dynamics, investor appetite, and the volatility/cyclical nature of commodity prices drive investment decisions and will continue to do so. Global market dynamics are continuously evolving as a result of macroeconomics, energy-transition initiatives, energy investments, asset valuations of unconventionals vs. conventionals, and portfolio constructions. The current era of abundance has resulted in a significant paradigm shift in the way oil and gas are valued by investors, and the sustained drop in commodity prices as a result of the new lower marginal cost of supply has forced a change in the capital markets that cannot be overstated.

Investors now require capital discipline, pressure operators to generate free cash flow, and emphasize returns on investment, and these changes are significant and here to stay. In addition to the market changes already observed, investments in technologies like EOR in both conventional and unconventional plays and in new regions like the Middle East will continue, the market share from renewables as energy sources will continue to grow, and concerns about climate change will continue to reshape markets and influence commodity prices. In addition, the technological innovations that unlocked unconventional resources and

TAKEAWAYS

DCF models are and will remain the standard methodology for evaluating projects quantitatively, although ESG metrics are now also being used.

Successful energy projects rely on an integrated approach between technical/operational and commercial teams, and several factors must be considered to maximize project economics.

While the fundamentals of project economics have not changed, global and local energy market dynamics, investor appetite, and the volatility/cyclical nature of commodity prices will continue to drive investment decisions.

The current era of abundance has resulted in a significant paradigm shift in the way oil and gas are valued by investors, and the sustained drop in commodity prices has forced a change in the capital markets that cannot be overstated.

The energy market continues to evolve, and changes resulting from renewables, climate change concerns, and technological innovations should be expected.

fundamentally changed oil and gas markets are now being developed for technologies such as carbon capture and batteries.

References

- Aarnes, J. E., Krogstad, S., and Lie, K.-A. 2006. A Hierarchical Multiscale Method for Two-Phase Flow Based upon Mixed Finite Elements and Nonuniform Coarse Grids. *Multiscale Modeling* & Simulation 5 (2): 337–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1137/050634566</u>.
- Abbaszadeh, M. and Kamal, M.M. 1988. Automatic Type-Curve Matching for Well Test Analysis. SPE Form Eval **3** (3): 567–577. SPE-16443-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/16443-PA</u>.
- Abousleiman, Y., Cheng, A. H.-D., and Gu, H. 1994. Formation Permeability Determination by Micro or Mini-Hydraulic Fracturing. *Journal of Energy Resources Technology* **116** (2): 104– 114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1115/1.2906014</u>.
- Acuna, J. A., Ershaghi, I., and Yortsos, Y. C. 1995. Practical Application of Fractal Pressure-Transient Analysis in Naturally Fractured Reservoirs. SPE Form Eval 10 (3): 173–179. SPE-24705-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/24705-PA</u>.
- Acuña, J. A. and Yortsos, Y. C. 1995. Application of Fractal Geometry to the Study of Networks of Fractures and Their Pressure Transient *Water Resources Research* **31** (3): 527–540. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/94WR02260</u>.
- Agarwal, R. G. 1979. "Real Gas Pseudo-Time" A New Function for Pressure Buildup Analysis of MHF Gas Wells. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Las Vegas, Nevada, USA, 23–26 September. SPE-8279-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/8279-MS</u>.
- Agarwal, R. G., Al-Hussainy, R., and Ramey, H. J., Jr. 1970. An Investigation of Wellbore Storage and Skin Effect in Unsteady Liquid Flow: I. Analytical Treatment. SPE J. 10 (3): 279–290. SPE-2466-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/2466-PA</u>.
- Agarwal, R. G., Gardner, D. C., Kleinsteiber, S. W. et al. 1999. Analyzing Well Production Data Using Combined-Type-Curve and Decline-Curve Analysis Concepts. SPE Res Eval & Eng 2 (5): 478–486. SPE-57916-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/57916-PA</u>.
- Agi, A., Junin, R., Gbonhinbor, J. et al. 2018. Natural Polymer Flow Behaviour in Porous Media for Enhanced Oil Recovery Applications: A Review. *Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology* 8: 1349–1362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-018-0434-7</u>.
- Akkurt, R., Conroy, T. T., Psaila, D. et al. 2018. Accelerating and Enhancing Petrophysical Analysis with Machine Learning: A Case Study of an Automated System for Well Log Outlier Detection and Reconstruction. Paper presented at the SPWLA 59th Annual Logging Symposium, London, UK, 2–6 June. SPWLA-2018-BB.
- Al-Alwani, M. A., Britt, L., Dunn-Norman, S. et al. 2019. Production Performance Estimation from Stimulation and Completion Parameters Using Machine Learning Approach in the Marcellus Shale. Paper presented at the 53rd U.S. Rock Mechanics/Geomechanics Symposium, New York City, New York, USA, 23–26 June. ARMA-2019-2034.
- Albinali, A., Holy, R., Sarak, H. et al. 2016. Modeling of 1D Anomalous Diffusion in Fractured Nanoporous Media Oil & Gas Science and Technology – Revue d'IFP Energies Nouvelles 71 (4). <u>https://doi.org/10.2516/ogst/2016008.</u>
- Alfarge, D., Wei, M., and Bai, B. 2017. Feasibility of CO₂-EOR in Shale-Oil Reservoirs: Numerical Simulation Study and Pilot Tests. Paper presented at the Carbon Management Technology Conference, Houston, Texas, USA, 17–20 July. SPE-485111-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.7122/485111-MS</u>.

- Al-Hussainy, R., Ramey, H. J., Jr., and Crawford, P. B. 1966. The Flow of Real Gases Through Porous Media. J Pet Technol 18 (5): 624–636. SPE-1243-A-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/1243-A-PA</u>.
- Allain, O. F. and Horne, R. N. 1990. Use of Artificial Intelligence in Well-Test Interpretation. J Pet Technol 42 (3): 342–349. SPE-18160-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/18160-PA</u>.
- Allen, M. P. 2004. Introduction to Molecular Dynamics Simulation. In Computational Soft Matter: From Synthetic Polymers to Proteins, Vol. 23, ed. N. Attig, K. Binder, H. Grubmüller et al., 1–28. Jülich, Germany: NIC Series, John von Neumann Institute for Computing.
- Allen, R. E. 1931. Control of California Oil Curtailment. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 92, SPE-931047-G, 47–66. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/931047-G</u>.
- Allen, T. T. 2006. Introduction to Engineering Statistics and Six Sigma: Statistical Quality Control and Design of Experiments and Systems. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Alpak, F. O. 2015. Robust Fully-Implicit Coupled Multiphase-Flow and Geomechanics Simulation. SPE J. 20 (6): 1366–1383. SPE-172991-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/172991-PA</u>.
- Alpak, F. O., Berg, S., and Zacharoudiou, I. 2018. Prediction of Fluid Topology and Relative Permeability in Imbibition in Sandstone Rock by Direct Numerical Simulation. *Advances in Water Resources* 122: 49–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2018.09.001</u>.
- Altowilib, A. R., Sequeira, D. S., AlOtaibi, F. M. et al. 2019. Reservoir Fluid Sample Decontamination: Application Example. Paper presented at the SPE/IATMI Pacific Oil & Gas Conference and Exhibition, Bali, Indonesia, 29–31 October. SPE-196394-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/196394-MS</u>.
- Alvarado, V. and Manrique, E. 2010. Enhanced Oil Recovery: Field Planning and Development Strategies. Burlington, Massachusetts: Gulf Professional Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ C2009-0-30583-8</u>.
- Ambrose, R. J., Hartman, R. C., Diaz-Campos, M. et al. 2012. Shale Gas-in-Place Calculations Part I: New Pore-Scale Considerations. SPE J. 17 (01): 219–229. SPE-131772-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/131772-PA.
- Amini, S. and Mohaghegh, S. 2019. Application of Machine Learning and Artificial Intelligence in Proxy Modeling for Fluid Flow in Porous Media. *Fluids* 4 (3): 126. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/fluids4030126</u>.
- Anderson, D. and Mattar, L. 2004. Practical Diagnostics Using Production Data and Flowing Pressures. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Houston, Texas, USA, 26–29 September. SPE-89939-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/89939-MS</u>.
- API RP 40, Recommended Practices for Core Analysis, second edition. 1998. Washington, DC: API.
- Araya, A. and Ozkan, E. 2002. An Account of Decline-Type-Curve Analysis of Vertical, Fractured, and Horizontal Well Production Data. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 29 September–2 October. SPE-77690-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/77690-MS</u>.
- Archie, G. E. 1949. The Electrical Resistivity Log as an Aid in Determining Some Reservoir Characteristics. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 146, SPE-942054-G, 54–62. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. https://doi.org/10.2118/942054-G.
- Aris, R. 1956. On the Dispersion of a Solute in a Fluid Flowing Through a Tube. Proceedings of the Royal Society A 235 (1200): 67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.1956.0065</u>.
- Arnold, R. and Anderson, R. 1908. Preliminary Report on the Coalinga Oil District, Fresno and Kings Counties, California. US Geological Survey bulletin 357, US Department of the Interior, Washington, DC. <u>https://doi.org/10.3133/b357</u>.
- Arps, J. J. 1945. Analysis of Decline Curves. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 160, SPE-945228-G, 228–247. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/945228-G</u>.
- Artun, E. and Mohaghegh, S. 2011. Intelligent Seismic Inversion Workflow for High-Resolution Reservoir Characterization. *Computers & Geosciences* 37 (2):143–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cageo.2010.05.007.
- Artus, V. 2020. Numerical Upscaling of Discrete Fracture Networks for Transient Analysis. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Virtual, 20–22 July. URTEC-2020-3087-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.15530/urtec-2020-3087</u>.
- Ataei, M., Shaayegan, V., Costa, F. et al. 2021. LBfoam: An Open-Source Software Package for the Simulation of Foaming Using the Lattice Boltzmann Method. *Computer Physics Communications* 259: 107698. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpc.2020.107698</u>.
- Audigane, P. and Blunt, M. J. 2003. Dual Mesh Method in Upscaling. Paper presented at the SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium, Houston, Texas, USA, 3–5 February. SPE-79681-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/79681-MS</u>.
- Aziz, K. and Settari, A. 1979. *Petroleum Reservoir Simulation*. Calgary, Alberta, Canada: Blitzprint Ltd.
- Baarimah, S. O., Gawish, A. A., and BinMerdhah, A. B. 2015. Artificial Intelligence Techniques for Predicting the Reservoir Fluid Properties of Crude Oil Systems. *International Research Journal of Engineering and Technology* 2 (7): 373–382.
- Baek, S. and Akkutlu, I. Y. 2019. Produced-Fluid Composition Redistribution in Source Rocks for Hydrocarbon-in-Place and Thermodynamic Recovery Calculations. SPE J. 24 (3): 1395–1414. SPE-195578-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/195578-PA</u>.
- Balakotaiah, V., Chang, H.-C., and Smith, F. T. 1995. Dispersion of Chemical Solutes in Chromatographs and Reactors. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A* 351 (1695): 39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.1995.0025</u>.
- Balakotaiah, V., Luss, D., and Keyfitz, B. L. 1985. Steady State Multiplicity Analysis of Lumped-Parameter Systems Described by a Set of Algebraic Equations. *Chemical Engineering Communications* **36** (1–6): 121–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00986448508911250</u>.
- Barenblatt, G. I., Zheltov, Iu. P., and Kochina, I. N. 1960. Basic Concepts in the Theory of Seepage of Homogeneous Liquids in Fissured Rocks (Strata). *PMM* **24** (5): 852–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-8928(60)90107-6.
- Behar, F., Beaumont, V., and de B. Penteado, H. L. 2001. Rock-Eval 6 Technology: Performances and Developments. *Oil & Gas Science and Technology – Revue d'IFP Energies Nouvelles* 56 (2): 111–134. <u>https://doi.org/10.2516/ogst:2001013</u>.
- Berkowitz, B. and Ewing, R. P. 1998. Percolation Theory and Network Modeling Applications in Soil Physics. *Surveys in Geophysics* 19: 23–72, 1998. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006590500229</u>.
- Bestagini, P., Lipari, V., and Tubaro, S. 2017. A Machine Learning Approach to Facies Classification Using Well Logs. Paper presented at the 2017 SEG International Exposition and Annual Meeting, Houston, Texas, USA, 24–29 September. SEG-2017-17729805. https://doi.org/10.1190/segam2017-17729805.1.

- Bhatia, S. K., Tran, K., Nguyen, T. X. et al. 2004. High-Pressure Adsorption Capacity and Structure of CO₂ in Carbon Slit Pores: Theory and Simulation. *Langmuir* **20** (22): 9612–9620. https://doi.org/10.1021/la048571i.
- Bird, R. B, Stewart, W. E., and Lightfoot, E. N. 1960. *Transport Phenomena*. New York: J. Wiley & Sons.
- Birkholzer, J., Morris, J., and the HFTS Team. 2019. A New Framework for Microscopic to Reservoir-Scale Simulation of Hydraulic Fracturing and Production: Testing with Comprehensive Data from HFTS. Presented at the Addressing the Nation's Energy Needs Through Technology Innovation 2019 Carbon Capture, Utilization, Storage, and Oil and Gas Technologies Integrated Review Meeting, 26–30 August.
- Biswal, B., Manwart, C., and Hilfer, R. 1998. Three-Dimensional Local Porosity Analysis of Porous Media. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications* **255** (3–4): 221–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4371(98)00111-3.
- Blunt, M. J. 2001. Flow in Porous Media Pore-Network Models and Multiphase Flow. *Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science* 6 (3):197–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-0294(01)00084-X</u>.
- Blunt, M. J. 2017. *Multiphase Flow in Permeable Media: A Pore-Scale Perspective*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316145098</u>.
- Bohacs, K. M. and Lazar, O. R. 2010. Sequence Stratigraphy in Fine-Grained Rocks at the Field to Flow-Unit Scale: Insights for Correlation, Mapping, and Genetic Controls. Paper presented at the Applied Geoscience Conference of U.S. Gulf Region, Mudstones as Unconventional Shale Gas/Oil Reservoirs: Houston Geological Society Annual Meeting.
- Bohacs, K. M., Lazar, O. R., and Demko, T. M. 2014. Parasequence Types in Shelfal Mudstone Strata—Quantitative Observations of Lithofacies and Stacking Patterns, and a Conceptual Link to Modern Depositional Regimes. *Geology* 42 (2): 131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1130/G35089.1</u>.
- Bohacs, K. M., Ottman, J. D., Lazar, O. R. et al. 2011. Genetic Controls on the Occurrence, Distribution, and Character of Reservoir-Prone Strata of the Eagle Ford Group and Related Rock. Paper presented at the Houston Geological Society Annual Meeting.
- Bourdet, D., Whittle, T. M., Douglas, A. A. et al. 1983. A New Set of Type Curves Simplifies Well Test Analysis. *World Oil*: 95–106.
- Brandt, A. 1977. Multi-Level Adaptive Solutions to Boundary-Value Problems. *Mathematics of Computation* **31** (138): 333–390. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2006422</u>.
- Brown, M., Ozkan, E., Raghavan, R. et al. 2011. Practical Solutions for Pressure-Transient Responses of Fractured Horizontal Wells in Unconventional Shale Reservoirs. SPE Res Eval & Eng 14 (6): 663–676. SPE-125043-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/125043-PA.
- Bryant, S. 2007. Geologic CO₂ Storage—Can the Oil and Gas Industry Help Save the Planet? J Pet Technol **59** (9): 98–105. SPE-103474-JPT. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/103474-JPT</u>.
- Bui, K. and Akkutlu, I. Y. 2017. Hydrocarbons Recovery from Model-Kerogen Nanopores. SPE J. 22 (03): 854–862. SPE-185162-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/185162-PA</u>.
- Bui, K., Akkutlu, I. Y., Zelenev, A. et al. 2018. Kerogen Maturation Effects on Pore Morphology and Enhanced Shale Oil Recovery. Paper presented at the SPE Europec featured at 80th EAGE Conference and Exhibition, Copenhagen, Denmark, 11–14 June. SPE-190818-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/190818-MS</u>.
- Bultreys, T., Van Hoorebeke, L., and Cnudde, V. 2015. Multi-Scale, Micro-Computed Tomography-Based Pore Network Models to Simulate Drainage in Heterogeneous Rocks. *Advances in Water Resources* **78**: 36–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2015.02.003</u>.

- Burns, J. 1969. A Review of Steam Soak Operations in California. *J Pet Technol* **21** (1): 25–34. SPE-2117-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/2117-PA</u>.
- Burton, M., Matringe, S., Atchison, T. et al. 2019. A Data-Driven Modeling Methodology to Support Unconventional Reservoir Development Decisions: Application to the STACK Play in Oklahoma. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Denver, Colorado, USA, 22–24 July. URTEC-2019-573-MS. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.15530/urtec-2019-573.
- Camacho-Velázquez, R., Fuentes-Cruz, G., and Vásquez-Cruz, M. 2008. Decline-Curve Analysis of Fractured Reservoirs with Fractal Geometry. *SPE Res Eval & Eng* **11** (3): 606–619. SPE-104009-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/104009-PA</u>.
- Camacho-Velázquez, R., Vásquez-Cruz, M., Castrejón-Aivar, R. et al. 2005. Pressure-Transient and Decline-Curve Behavior in Naturally Fractured Vuggy Carbonate Reservoirs. SPE Res Eval & Eng 8 (2): 95–111. SPE-77689-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/77689-PA.
- Camp, W. K., Diaz, E., and Wawak, B. 2013. Electron Microscopy of Shale Hydrocarbon Reservoirs, Vol. 102. AAPG Memoir, American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>https://doi.org/10.1306/M1021339</u>.
- Capsan, J. and Sanchez-Ramirez, J. 2016. Using Core Data, Digital Rocks, and Source Rock Kinetics to Reduce Hydrocarbon Storage Uncertainty in Unconventional Reservoirs: Application to South Texas Organic Rich Mudstones. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 1–3 August. URTEC-2461642-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.15530/URTEC-2016-2461642</u>.
- Carr, J. 1982. *Applications of Centre Manifold Theory*, Vol. 35. New York: Applied Mathematical Sciences book series, Springer-Verlag New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-5929-9.
- Carvajal-Ortiz, H. and Gentzis, T. 2015. Critical Considerations When Assessing Hydrocarbon Plays Using Rock-Eval Pyrolysis and Organic Petrology Data: Data Quality Revisited. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 152 (Part A): 113–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coal.2015.06.001</u>.
- Celia, M. A., Reeves, P. C., and Ferrand, L. A. 1995. Recent Advances in Pore Scale Models for Multiphase Flow in Porous Media. *Reviews of Geophysics* 33 (52): 1049–1057. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/95RG00248</u>.
- Chang, J. and Yortsos, Y. C. 1990. Pressure-Transient Analysis of Fractal Reservoirs. SPE Form Eval 5 (1): 31–38. SPE-18170-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/18170-PA</u>.
- Chen, B., Xiang, J., Latham, J.-P. et al. 2020. Grain-Scale Failure Mechanism of Porous Sandstone: An Experimental and Numerical FDEM Study of the Brazilian Tensile Strength Test Using CT-Scan Microstructure. *International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Sciences* 132: 104348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrmms.2020.104348</u>.
- Cheng, L., Ribatski, G., and Thome, J. R. 2008. Two-Phase Flow Patterns and Flow-Pattern Maps: Fundamentals and Applications. *Applied Mechanics Reviews* **61** (5): 050802. https://doi.org/10.1115/1.2955990.
- Chin, L. Y., Thomas, L. K., Sylte, J. E. et al. 2002. Iterative Coupled Analysis of Geomechanics and Fluid Flow for Rock Compaction in Reservoir Simulation. *Oil & Gas Science and Technology Rev. IFP* **57** (5): 485–497.
- Chu, W.-C., Pandya, N. D., Flumerfelt, R. W et al. 2019. Rate-Transient Analysis Based on the Power-Law Behavior for Permian Wells. *SPE Res Eval & Eng* **22** (04): 1360–1370. SPE-187180-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/187180-PA</u>.

- Chu, W.-C., Scott, K. D., Flumerfelt, R. et al. 2020. A New Technique for Quantifying Pressure Interference in Fractured Horizontal Shale Wells. SPE Res Eval & Eng 23 (1): 143–157. SPE-191407-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/191407-PA</u>.
- Cinco L., H., Samaniego V., F., and Dominguez A., N. 1978. Transient Pressure Behavior for a Well with a Finite-Conductivity Vertical Fracture. *SPE J.* **18** (4): 253–264. SPE-6014-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/6014-PA.
- Cinco-Ley, H. and Samaniego-V., F. 1981. Transient Pressure Analysis for Fractured Wells. *J Pet Technol* **33** (9): 1749–1766. SPE-7490-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/7490-PA</u>.
- Clavier, C., Coates, G., and Dumanoir, J. 1984. Theoretical and Experimental Bases for the Dual-Water Model for Interpretation of Shaly Sands. *SPE J.* **24** (2): 153-168. SPE-6859-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/6859-PA.
- Cleary, M. P. 1979. Rate and Structure Sensitivity in Hydraulic Fracturing of Fluid-Saturated Porous Formations. Paper presented at the 20th U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics (USRMS), Austin, Texas, USA, 4–6 June. ARMA-79-0127.
- Clonts, M. D. and Ramey, H. J., Jr. 1986. Pressure Transient Analysis for Wells with Horizontal Drainholes. Paper presented at the SPE California Regional Meeting, Oakland, California, USA, 2–4 April. SPE-15116-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/15116-MS</u>.
- Collins, P. M. 2005. Geomechanical Effects on the SAGD Process. Paper presented at the SPE International Thermal Operations and Heavy Oil Symposium, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, 1–3 November. SPE-97905-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/97905-MS</u>.
- Collins, P. W. and Ilk, D. 2015. Practical Considerations for Production Forecasting in Unconventional Reservoir Systems – Processing of Large Groups of Wells Using Production Diagnosis and Model-Based Analysis. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Houston, Texas, USA, 28–30 September. SPE-174984-MS. https://doi.org/10.2118/174984-MS.
- Collins, R. E. 1961. Flow of Fluids Through Porous Materials. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Comisky, J. T., Newsham, K. E., Rushing, J. A. et al. 2007. A Comparative Study of Capillary-Pressure-Based Empirical Models for Estimating Absolute Permeability in Tight Gas Sands. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Anaheim, California, USA, 11–14 November. SPE-110050-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/110050-MS</u>.
- Comisky, J. T., Santiago, M., McCollom, B. et al. 2011. Sample Size Effects on the Application of Mercury Injection Capillary Pressure for Determining the Storage Capacity of Tight Gas and Oil Shales. Paper presented at the Canadian Unconventional Resources Conference, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, 15–17 November. SPE-149432-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/149432-MS</u>.
- Coombe, D., Tremblay, B., Tran, D. et al. 2001. Coupled Hydro-Geomechanical Modelling of the Cold Production Process. Paper presented at the SPE International Thermal Operations and Heavy Oil Symposium, Porlamar, Margarita Island, Venezuela, 12–14 March. SPE-69719-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/69719-MS</u>.
- Coskuner, Y. B., Yin, X., and Ozkan, E. 2017. A Statistical Mechanics Model for PVT Behavior in Nanopores. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 9–11 October. SPE-187163-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/187163-MS</u>.
- Coskuner, Y., Yin, X., and Ozkan, E. 2021. Effects of Molecular Level Forces on the Diffusivity Characteristics of Hydrocarbons in Shale Reservoirs. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Houston, Texas, USA, 26–28 July. URTEC-2021-5680-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.15530/urtec-2021-5680</u>.

- Crafton, J. W. 1997. Oil and Gas Well Evaluation Using the Reciprocal Productivity Index Method. Paper presented at the SPE Production Operations Symposium, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, USA, 9–11 March. SPE-37409-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/37409-MS</u>.
- Cristancho-Albarracin, D., Akkutlu, I. Y., Criscenti, L. J. et al. 2017. Shale Gas Storage in Kerogen Nanopores with Surface Heterogeneities. *Applied Geochemistry* 84: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2017.04.012.
- Cutler, W. W., Jr. 1924. Estimation of Underground Oil Reserves by Oil-Well Production Curves. Bulletin 228, US Bureau of Mines, US Department of the Interior, Washington, DC (August 1924).
- Darcy, H. 1856. Les Fontaines Publiques de la Ville de Dijon. Paris: Victor Dalmont.
- De, S., Kuipers, J. A. M., Peters, E. A. J. F. et al. 2017. Viscoelastic Flow Past Mono- and Bidisperse Random Arrays of Cylinders: Flow Resistance, Topology and Normal Stress Distribution. Soft Matter 13: 9138–9146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C7SM01818E</u>.
- Dean, E. W. and Stark, D. D. 1920. A Convenient Method for the Determination of Water in Petroleum and Other Organic Emulsions. *The Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry* 12 (5): 486–490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ie50125a025</u>.
- Dean, R. H., Gai, X., Stone, C. M. et al. 2006. A Comparison of Techniques for Coupling Porous Flow and Geomechanics. *SPE J.* **11** (1): 132–140. SPE-79709-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/79709-PA</u>.
- Dean, R. H. and Schmidt, J. H. 2009. Hydraulic-Fracture Predictions with a Fully Coupled Geomechanical Reservoir Simulator. *SPE J.* **14** (4): 707–714. SPE-116470-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/116470-PA.
- de Moraes, R. J., Hajibeygi, H., and Jansen, J. D. 2020. A Multiscale Method for Data Assimilation. *Computational Geosciences* 24: 425–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10596-019-09839-2</u>.
- Devegowda, D., Sapmanee, K., Civan, F. et al. 2012. Phase Behavior of Gas Condensates in Shales Due to Pore Proximity Effects: Implications for Transport, Reserves and Well Productivity. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 8–10 October. SPE-160099-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/160099-MS</u>.
- Dhanapal, K., Devegowda, D., Zhang, Y. et al. 2014. Phase Behavior and Storage in Organic Shale Nanopores: Modeling of Multicomponent Hydrocarbons in Connected Pore Systems and Implications for Fluids-in-Place Estimates in Shale Oil and Gas Reservoirs. Paper presented at the SPE Unconventional Resources Conference, The Woodlands, Texas, USA, 1–3 April. SPE-169008-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/169008-MS</u>.
- Didar, B. R. and Akkutlu, I. Y. 2013. Pore-Size Dependence of Fluid Phase Behavior and Properties in Organic-Rich Shale Reservoirs. Paper presented at the SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry, The Woodlands, Texas, USA, 8–10 April. SPE-164099-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/164099-MS</u>.
- Dindoruk, B. 2019. Recent Advances in the Domain of Petroleum Fluid Properties and Their Representation. *SPWLA Today* **2** (3): 33–36.
- Dossary, M. Al-Turki, A., and Harbi, B. 2016. Self-Organizing Maps for Regions Exploring and Identification Based on Geological Signatures, Similarities and Anomalies. Paper presented at the SPE Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Annual Technical Symposium and Exhibition, Dammam, Saudi Arabia, 25–28 April. SPE-182827-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/182827-MS</u>.
- Drucker, P. F. 2001. The Essential Drucker. New York: HarperCollins.

- Durand, M., Nikitin, A., McMullen, A. et al. 2019. Crushed Rock Analysis Workflow Based on Advanced Fluid Characterization for Improved Interpretation of Core Data. Paper presented at the SPWLA 60th Annual Logging Symposium, The Woodlands, Texas, USA, 15–19 June. SPWLA-2019-AAAA. https://doi.org/10.30632/T60ALS-2019 AAAA.
- Earlougher, R. C., Jr. and Kersch, K. M. 1974. Analysis of Short-Time Transient Test Data by Type-Curve Matching. J Pet Technol 26 (7): 793–800. SPE-4488-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/4488-PA</u>.
- El-Banbi, A. H. and Wattenbarger, R. A. 1998. Analysis of Linear Flow in Gas Well Production. Paper presented at the SPE Gas Technology Symposium, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, 15–18 March. SPE-39972-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/39972-MS</u>.
- Elkington, P. A. S., Spencer, M. C., and Spratt, D. L. 2002. The Development and Testing of a Garaged Open Hole Logging System for High Angle Wells and Bad Hole Conditions. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 29 September–2 October. SPE-77560-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/77560-MS</u>.
- Elliott, R. 2019. Shareholders Have No Love for Shale Companies. *The Wall Street Journal* (13 August 2019), <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/shareholders-have-no-love-for-shale-companies-11565718808</u>.
- El-Sebakhy, E. A., Sheltami, T., Al-Bokhitan, S. Y. et al. 2007. Support Vector Machines Framework for Predicting the PVT Properties of Crude Oil Systems. Paper presented at the SPE Middle East Oil and Gas Show and Conference, Manama, Bahrain, 11–14 March. SPE-105698-MS. https://doi.org/10.2118/105698-MS.
- Ertekin, T. 2021. The Efficacy and Superiority of the Expert Systems in Reservoir Engineering Decision Making Processes. *Applied Sciences* **11** (14): 6347. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app11146347</u>.
- Ertekin, T., Abou-Kassem, J. H., and King, G. R. 2001. *Basic Applied Reservoir Simulation*, Vol. 7. Richardson, Texas: Textbook Series, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Esmaili, S. and Mohaghegh, S. 2016. Full Field Reservoir Modeling of Shale Assets Using Advanced Data-Driven Analytics. *Geoscience Frontiers* 7 (1): 11–20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gsf.2014.12.006</u>.
- Fadaei, H., Scarff, B., and Sinton, D. 2011. Rapid Microfluidics-Based Measurement of CO₂ Diffusivity in Bitumen. *Energy & Fuels* 25 (10): 4829–4835. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ef2009265</u>.
- Falk, K., Coasne, B., Pellenq, R. et al. 2015. Subcontinuum Mass Transport of Condensed Hydrocarbons in Nanoporous Media. *Nature Communications* **6**. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7949</u>.
- Fanchi, J. R. 2002. Shared Earth Modeling: Methodologies for Integrated Reservoir Simulations. Amsterdam: Butterworth-Heinemann, Elsevier Science. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7506-7522-2.X5000-9</u>.
- Fathi, E., Tinni, A., and Akkutlu, I. Y. 2012. Correction to Klinkenberg Slip Theory for Gas Flow in Nano-Capillaries. *International Journal of Coal Geology* 103: 51–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coal.2012.06.008</u>.
- Fatt, I. 1956a. The Network Model of Porous Media I. Capillary Pressure Characteristics. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 207, SPE-574-G, 144–159. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/574-G</u>.
- Fatt, I. 1956b. The Network Model of Porous Media II. Dynamic Properties of a Single Size Tube Network. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 207, SPE-574-G, 160– 163. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/574-G</u>.
- Fatt, I. 1956c. The Network Model of Porous Media III. Dynamic Properties of Networks with Tube Radius Distribution. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 207,

SPE-574-G, 164–178. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/574-G</u>.

- Feder, J. 2019. Industry Continues to Make Progress on Carbon Capture. *J Pet Technol* **71** (11): 24–30. SPE-1119-0024-JPT. https://doi.org/10.2118/1119-0024-JPT.
- Fetkovich, M. J. 1980. Decline Curve Analysis Using Type Curves. J Pet Technol 32 (6): 1065– 1077. SPE 4629-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/4629-PA</u>.
- Firincioglu, T. 2013. Bubble Point Suppression in Unconventional Liquids Rich Reservoirs and Its Impact on Oil Production. PhD dissertation, Colorado School of Mines, Golden, Colorado (2013).
- Firincioglu, T., Ozkan, E., and Ozgen, C. 2012. Thermodynamics of Multiphase Flow in Unconventional Liquids-Rich Reservoirs. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 8–10 October. SPE-159869-MS. https://doi.org/10.2118/159869-MS.
- Flamenco-López, F. and Camacho-Velázquez, R. 2003. Determination of Fractal Parameters of Fracture Networks Using Pressure-Transient Data. SPE Res Eval & Eng 6 (1): 39–47. SPE-82607-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/82607-PA</u>.
- Fokker, P. A., Salina Borello, E., Verga, F. et al. 2018. Harmonic Pulse Testing for Well Performance Monitoring. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering* **162**: 446–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2017.12.053.
- Forbes, P. 1997. Centrifuge Data Analysis Techniques: An SCA Survey on the Calculation of Drainage Capillary Pressure Curves from Centrifuge Measurements. Paper presented at the Society of Core Analysis Symposium, Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
- Forchheimer, P. 1901. Wasserbewegung durch Boden. Z. Ver. Deutsch. Ing. 45 1782-1788.
- Fuller, G. G. and Vermant, J. 2012. Complex Fluid-Fluid Interfaces: Rheology and Structure. Annual Review of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering 3: 519–543. <u>https://doi.org/</u>10.1146/annurev-chembioeng-061010-114202.
- Gamadi, T. D., Sheng, J. J., Soliman, M. Y. et al. 2014. An Experimental Study of Cyclic CO₂ Injection to Improve Shale Oil Recovery. Paper presented at the SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA, 12–16 April. SPE-169142-MS. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.2118/169142-MS.
- Gbadamosi, A. O., Junin, R., Manan, M. A. et al. 2019. An Overview of Chemical Enhanced Oil Recovery: Recent Advances and Prospects. *International Nano Letters* **9**: 171–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40089-019-0272-8.
- Green, D. W. and Willhite, G. P. 2018. *Enhanced Oil Recovery*, second edition. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Gries, S., Stüben, K., Brown, G. L. et al. 2014. Preconditioning for Efficiently Applying Algebraic Multigrid in Fully Implicit Reservoir Simulations. SPE J. 19 (4): 726–736. SPE-163608-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/163608-PA.
- Gringarten, A. C. and Ramey, H. J., Jr. 1973. The Use of Source and Green's Functions in Solving Unsteady-Flow Problems in Reservoirs. SPE J. 13 (5): 285–296. SPE-3818-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/3818-PA.
- Gringarten, A. C., Ramey, H. J., Jr., and Raghavan, R. 1974. Unsteady-State Pressure Distributions Created by a Well with a Single Infinite-Conductivity Vertical Fracture. *SPE J.* **14** (4): 347– 360. SPE-4051-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/4051-PA</u>.

- Gu, H., Elbel, J. L., Nolte, K. G. et al. 1993. Formation Permeability Determination Using Impulse-Fracture Injection. Paper presented at the SPE Production Operations Symposium, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, USA, 21–23 March. SPE-25425-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/25425-MS</u>.
- Guedes, S. S. and Schiozer, D. J. 1999. An Implicit Treatment of Upscaling in Numerical Reservoir Simulation. Paper presented at the SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium, Houston, Texas, USA, 14–17 February. SPE-51937-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/51937-MS</u>.
- Guérillot D. R. and Verdiere, S. 1995. Different Pressure Grids for Reservoir Simulation in Heterogeneous Reservoirs. Paper presented at the SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 12–15 February. SPE-29148-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/29148-MS</u>.
- Guo, Z., Reynolds, A. C., and Zhao, H. 2018. A Physics-Based Data-Driven Model for History Matching, Prediction, and Characterization of Waterflooding Performance. SPE J. 23 (2): 367– 395. SPE-182660-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/182660-PA</u>.
- Hajibeygi, H. and Tchelepi, H. A. 2014. Compositional Multiscale Finite-Volume Formulation. *SPE J.* **19** (2): 316–326. SPE-163664-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/163664-PA</u>.
- Handwerger, D. A., Suarez-Rivera, R., Vaughn, K. I. et al. 2011. Improved Petrophysical Core Measurements on Tight Shale Reservoirs Using Retort and Crushed Samples. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Denver, Colorado, USA, 30 October– 2 November. SPE-147456-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/147456-MS</u>.
- Hawkes, R. V., Bachman, R., Nicholson, K. et al. 2018. Good Tests Cost Money, Bad Tests Cost More – A Critical Review of DFIT and Analysis Gone Wrong. Paper presented at the SPE International Hydraulic Fracturing Technology Conference and Exhibition, Muscat, Oman, 16–18 October. SPE-191458-18IHFT-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/191458-18IHFT-MS</u>.
- He, J., Dindoruk, B., and Qi., Y. 2016. Impact of Pore Proximity on Phase Behavior: A General Methodology for Implementation into Reservoir Simulations (unpublished study).
- He, J., Sarma, P., Bhark, E. et al. 2018. Quantifying Expected Uncertainty Reduction and Value of Information Using Ensemble-Variance Analysis. *SPE J.* **23** (2): 428–448. SPE-182609-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/182609-PA.
- Helland, J. O., Pedersen, J., Friis, H. A. et al. 2019. A Multiphase Level Set Approach to Motion of Disconnected Fluid Ganglia During Capillary-Dominated Three-Phase Flow in Porous Media: Numerical Validation and Applications. *Chemical Engineering Science* 203: 138–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ces.2019.03.060.
- Hensel, W. M., Honarpour, M. M., Sprunt, E. S. et al. 1988. Compilation of Electrical Resistivity Measurements Performed by Twenty-Five Laboratories. *The Log Analyst* **29** (1). SPWLA-1988-v29n1a1.
- Hilfer, R. 1992. Local-Porosity Theory for Flow in Porous Media. *Physical Review B* **45** (13): 7115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.45.7115</u>.
- Hoeink, T. and Zambrano, C. 2017. Shale Discrimination with Machine Learning Methods. Paper presented at the 51st U.S. Rock Mechanics/Geomechanics Symposium, San Francisco, California, USA, 25–28 June. ARMA-2017-0769.
- Hoffman, B. T. and Evans, J. G. 2016. Improved Oil Recovery IOR Pilot Projects in the Bakken Formation. Paper presented at the SPE Low Perm Symposium, Denver, Colorado, USA, 5–6 May. SPE-180270-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/180270-MS</u>.
- Holy, R. W. and Ozkan, E. 2016. A Practical and Rigorous Approach for Production Data Analysis in Unconventional Wells. Paper presented at the SPE Low Perm Symposium, Denver, Colorado, USA, 5–6 May. SPE-180240-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/180240-MS</u>.

- Honarpour, M. M., Nagarajan, N. R., Orangi, A. et al. 2012. Characterization of Critical Fluid, Rock, and Rock-Fluid Properties-Impact on Reservoir Performance of Liquid-Rich Shales. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 8–10 October. SPE-158042-MS. https://doi.org/10.2118/158042-MS.
- Horner, D. R. 1951. Pressure Build-Up in Wells. *Proc.*, Third World Petroleum Congress, The Hague, The Netherlands, 28 May–6 June, Sec. II, 503–523.
- Hou, T. Y. and Wu, X.-H. 1997. A Multiscale Finite Element Method for Elliptic Problems in Composite Materials and Porous Media. *Journal of Computational Physics* 134 (1): 169–189. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcph.1997.5682.
- Huang, J., Yin, X., and Killough, J. 2019. Thermodynamic Consistency of a Pseudopotential Lattice Boltzmann Fluid with Interface Curvature. *Physical Review E* 100: 053304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.100.053304</u>.
- Hubbert, M. K. 1956. Darcy's Law and the Field Equations of the Flow of Underground Fluids. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 207, SPE-749-G, 222–239. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. https://doi.org/10.2118/749-G.
- Hursan, G., Ma, S. M., Soleiman, W. et al. 2016. New Wireline, In-Situ, Downhole Fluid Compositional Analyses to Enhance Reservoir Characterization and Management. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Dubai, UAE, 26–28 September. SPE-181526-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/181526-MS</u>.
- Ilk, D., Anderson, D. M., Stotts, G. W. J. et al. 2010. Production Data Analysis—Challenges, Pitfalls, Diagnostics. *SPE Res Eval & Eng* **13** (3): 538–552. SPE-102084-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/102048-PA.
- Ilk, D., Valko, P. P., and Blasingame, T. A. 2005. Deconvolution of Variable-Rate Reservoir Performance Data Using B-Splines. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Dallas, Texas, USA, 9–12 October. SPE-95571-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/95571-MS</u>.
- Islam, A. W. and Sepehrnoori, K. 2013. A Review on SPE's Comparative Solution Projects (CSPs). *Journal of Petroleum Science Research* **2** (4): 167–180.
- Jacobs, T. 2019. "Dominator Project" Raises Key Questions About Future of Cube Drilling. *J Pet Technol* **71** (10): 40–42. SPE-1019-0040-JPT. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/1019-0040-JPT</u>.
- Jarvie, D. M. 1991. Total Organic Carbon (TOC) Analysis. In Source and Migration Processes and Evaluation Techniques, ed. R. K. Merrill. AAPG Treatise Handbook, American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>https://doi.org/10.1306/TrHbk543C11</u>.
- Jarvie, D. M. 2012a. Shale Resource Systems for Oil and Gas: Part 1—Shale-Gas Resource Systems. In Shale Reservoirs—Giant Resources for the 21st Century, Vol. 97, ed. J. A. Breyer, 1–19. AAPG Memoir, American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1306/13321446M973489</u>.
- Jarvie, D. M. 2012b. Components and Processes Affecting Producibility and Commerciality of Shale Oil Resource Systems. Paper presented at the HGS Applied Geoscience Conference, Houston, Texas, USA, 20–21 February.
- Jenny, P., Lee, S. H., and Tchelepi, H. A. 2003. Multi-Scale Finite-Volume Method for Elliptic Problems in Subsurface Flow Simulation. *Journal of Computational Physics* 187 (1): 47–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9991(03)00075-5.
- Joekar-Niasar, V. and Hassanizadeh, S. M. 2012. Analysis of Fundamentals of Two-Phase Flow in Porous Media Using Dynamic Pore-Network Models: A Review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* 42 (18): 1895–1976. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2011.574101</u>.

- Johnson, R. H. and Bollens, A. L. 1927. The Loss Ratio Method of Extrapolating Oil Well Decline Curves. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 77, SPE-927771-G, 771– 778. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. https://doi.org/10.2118/927771-G.
- Jones, A. D., Denelle, F. R., Lee, W. J. et al. 2016. The Use of Reservoir Simulation in Deterministic Proved-Reserves Estimation. SPE Res Eval & Eng 19 (3): 358–366. SPE-170669-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/170669-PA</u>.
- Juhasz, I. 1981. Normalized Qv The Key to Shaly Sand Evaluation Using the Waxman-Smits Equation in the Absence of Core Data. Paper presented at the SPWLA 22nd Annual Logging Symposium, Mexico City, Mexico, 23–26 June. SPWLA-1981-Z.
- Kabir, C. S. and Izgec, B. 2006. Diagnosis of Reservoir Behavior from Measured Pressure/Rate Data. Paper presented at the SPE Gas Technology Symposium, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, 15– 17 May. SPE-100384-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/100384-MS</u>.
- Kamal, M. S., Adewunmi, A. A., Sultan, A. S. et al. 2017. Recent Advances in Nanoparticles Enhanced Oil Recovery: Rheology, Interfacial Tension, Oil Recovery, and Wettability Alteration. *Journal of Nanomaterials* 2017: 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/2473175</u>.
- Kamruzzaman, A., Koksal, Y. A., Yin, X. et al. 2019. Non-Invasive Pressure Sensing in Microfluidic Chips Using Laser Interferometry. *Proc.*, SPIE Smart Structures + Nondestructive Evaluation conference, Denver, Colorado, USA, 3–7 March, Vol. 10973. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2514391.
- Kaushik, A., Kumar, V., Mishra, A. et al. 2017. Data Driven Analysis for Rapid and Credible Decision Making: Heavy Oil Case Study. Paper presented at the Abu Dhabi International Petroleum Exhibition & Conference, Abu Dhabi, UAE, 13–16 November. SPE-188635-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/188635-MS</u>.
- Kazemi, H. 1969. Pressure Transient Analysis of Naturally Fractured Reservoirs with Uniform Fracture Distribution. *SPE J.* **9** (4): 451–462. SPE-2156-A. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/2156-A</u>.
- Kazemzadeh, Y., Shojaei, S., Riazi, M. et al. 2019. Review on Application of Nanoparticles for EOR Purposes: A Critical Review of the Opportunities and Challenges. *Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering* 27 (2): 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjche.2018.05.022.
- <u>Kikkinides, E.</u> S., Yiotis, A. G., Kainourgiakis, M. E. et al. 2008. Thermodynamic Consistency of Liquid-Gas Lattice Boltzmann Methods: Interfacial Property Issues. *Physical Review E* 78: 036702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.78.036702</u>.
- Kim, J., Tchelepi, H. A., and Juanes, R. 2011. Stability, Accuracy, and Efficiency of Sequential Methods for Coupled Flow and Geomechanics. SPE J. 16 (2): 249–262. SPE-119084-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/119084-PA</u>.
- Koottungal, L. 2014. 2014 Worldwide EOR Survey. Oil & Gas Journal 112 (4): 78-97.
- Kovscek, A. R. 1996. Thermodynamics of Phase Equilibria. Class notes, Stanford University, Stanford, California.
- Kuchuk, F. J., Goode, P. A., Brice, B. W. et al. 1990. Pressure-Transient Analysis for Horizontal Wells. J Pet Technol 42 (8): 974–1031. SPE-18300-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/18300-PA</u>.
- Kuchuk, F. J., Goode, P. A., Wilkinson, D. J. et al. 1991. Pressure-Transient Behavior of Horizontal Wells with and Without Gas Cap or Aquifer. SPE Form Eval 6 (1): 86–94. SPE-17413-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/17413-PA</u>.
- Lake, L. W., Johns, R., Rossen, B. et al. 2014. *Fundamentals of Enhanced Oil Recovery*. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers.

- Lashgari, H. R., Delshad, M., Sepehrnoori, K. et al. 2016. Development and Application of Electrical-Joule-Heating Simulator for Heavy-Oil Reservoirs. SPE J. 21 (1): 87–100. SPE-170173-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/170173-PA</u>.
- Levitan, M. M. 2005. Practical Application of Pressure/Rate Deconvolution to Analysis of Real Well Tests," SPE Res Eval & Eng 8 (2): 113–121. SPE-84290-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/84290-PA</u>.
- Levitan, M. M. 2007. Deconvolution of Multiwell Test Data. SPE J. 12 (4): 420–428. SPE-102484-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/102484-PA.
- Li, G., Guan, X., Wang, H. et al. 2019. Simulation of Radio Frequency Heating of Heavy Oil Reservoir Using Multi-Physics Coupling of Reservoir Simulation with Electromagnetic Solver. Paper presented at the SPE Reservoir Simulation Conference, Galveston, Texas, USA, 10–11 April. SPE-193836-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/193836-MS</u>.
- Lin, Q., Bijeljic, B., Berg, S. et al. 2019. Minimal Surfaces in Porous Media: Pore-Scale Imaging of Multiphase Flow in an Altered-Wettability Bentheimer Sandstone. *Physical Review E* **99** (6).
- Loucks, R. G. and Reed, R. M. 2014. Scanning-Electron-Microscope Petrographic Evidence for Distinguishing Organic-Matter Pores Associated with Depositional Organic Matter Versus Migrated Organic Matter in Mudrocks. GCAGS Journal 3: 51–60.
- Loucks, R. G., Reed, R. M., Ruppel, S. C. et al. 2012. Spectrum of Pore Types and Networks in Mudrocks and a Descriptive Classification for Matrix-Related Mudrock Pores. *AAPG Bulletin* 96: 1071–1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1306/08171111061</u>.
- Luffel, D. L. and Guidry, F. K. 1989. Reservoir Rock Properties of Devonian Shale from Core and Log Analysis. Paper presented at the Society of Core Analysts Conference.
- Luffel, D. L. and Guidry, F. K. 1992. New Core Analysis Methods for Measuring Reservoir Rock Properties of Devonian Shale. *J Pet Technol* **44** (11): 1184–1190. SPE-20571-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/20571-PA.
- Maas, J. and Springer, S. ed. 2014. Advanced Core Measurements "Best Practices" for Low Reservoir Quality Chalk, first edition. JCR 7, Joint Chalk Research (November 2014). https://www.scaweb.org/wp-content/uploads/JCR-7-LRQC-Best-Practices-Manual-1st-Edition.pdf.
- Maende, A., Pepper, A., Jarvie, D. M. et al. 2017. Advanced Pyrolysis Data and Interpretation Methods to Identify Unconventional Reservoir Sweet Spots in Fluid Phase Saturation and Fluid Properties (API Gravity) from Drill Cuttings and Cores. *Search and Discovery*, article 80596.
- Market, J., Amorocho, C., Harris, N. et al. 2016. Understanding Acoustic Data in Unconventional Reservoirs. Paper presented at the SPWLA 57th Annual Logging Symposium, Reykjavik, Iceland, 25–29 June. SPWLA-2016-DDD.
- Market, J. and Deady, R. 2008. Azimuthal Sonic Measurements: New Methods in Theory and Practice. Paper presented at the SPWLA 49th Annual Logging Symposium, Austin, Texas, USA, 25–28 May. SPWLA-2008-G.
- Marsh, H. N. 1928. Method of Appraising Results of Production Control of Oil Wells. *API and Prod. Eng. Bull. 202.*
- Martin, J. C. 1959. Simplified Equations of Flow in Gas Drive Reservoirs and the Theoretical Foundation of Multiphase Pressure Buildup Analyses. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 216, SPE-1235-G, 321-323. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/1235-G</u>.
- Mattar, L. and Anderson, D. M. 2003. A Systematic and Comprehensive Methodology for Advanced Analysis of Production Data. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical

Conference and Exhibition, Denver, Colorado, USA, 5-8 October. SPE-84472-MS. https://doi.org/10.2118/84472-MS.

- Mattar, L. and McNeil, R. 1995. The "Flowing" Material Balance Procedure. Paper 95-77 presented at the 46th Annual Technical Meeting of The Petroleum Society of CIM, Banff, Alberta, Canada, 14–17 May.
- Mattax, C. C. and Dalton, R. L. ed. 1990. *Reservoir Simulation*, Vol. 13. Richardson, Texas: Monograph Series, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Matthews, C. M., Elliott, R., and Olson, B. 2019. Shale Companies, Adding Ever More Wells, Threaten Future of U.S. Oil Boom. *The Wall Street Journal* (3 March 2019), <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/shale-companies-adding-ever-more-wells-threaten-future-of-u-s-oil-boom-11551655588</u>.
- Mayerhofer, M. J. and Economides, M. J. 1996. Field Cases for Permeability Determination from Minifracs. SPE Advanced Technology Series 4 (1): 111–117. SPE-26999-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/26999-PA.
- Mayerhofer, M. J., Ehlig-Economides, C. A., and Economides, M. J. 1995. Pressure-Transient Analysis of Fracture-Calibration Tests. *J Pet Technol* **47** (3): 229–234. SPE- 26527-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/26527-PA.
- McCain, W. D., Jr., Soto, R. B., Valko, P. P. et al. 1998. Correlation of Bubblepoint Pressures for Reservoir Oils—A Comparative Study. Paper presented at the SPE Eastern Regional Meeting, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA, 9–11 November. SPE-51086-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/51086-MS</u>.
- McGlade, C., Sondak, G., and Han, M. 2018. Whatever Happened to Enhanced Oil Recovery? IEA commentary, 28 November 2018, https://www.iea.org/commentaries/whatever-happenedto-enhanced-oil-recovery (accessed 29 July 2021).
- McLane, M. and Gouveia, J. 2015. Validating Analog Production Type Curves for Resource Plays. Paper presented at the SPE Liquids-Rich Basins Conference – North America, Midland, Texas, USA, 2–3 September. SPE-175527-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/175527-MS</u>.
- McPhee, C., Reed, J., and Zubizarreta, I. 2015. *Core Analysis: A Best Practice Guide*, Vol. 64. Developments in Petroleum Science Series, Elsevier.
- Mehmani, Y. and Tchelepi, H. A. 2018. Multiscale Computation of Pore-Scale Fluid Dynamics: Single-Phase Flow. *Journal of Computational Physics* 375: 1469–1487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcp.2018.08.045</u>.
- Mercer, G. N. and Roberts, A. J. 1990. A Centre Manifold Description of Contaminant Dispersion in Channels with Varying Flow Properties. *SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics* 50 (6): 1547–1565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1137/0150091</u>.
- Mikelić, A. 2000. Homogenization Theory and Applications to Filtration Through Porous Media. In *Filtration in Porous Media and Industrial Application*, ed. A. Fasano, Vol. 1734, 127–214. Berlin, Heidelberg: Lecture Notes in Mathematics book series, Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BFb0103977</u>.
- Miller, C. C., Dyes, A. B., and Hutchinson, C. A., Jr. 1950. The Estimation of Permeability and Reservoir Pressure from Bottom Hole Pressure Build-Up Characteristics. *J Pet Technol* 2 (4): 91–104. SPE-950091-G. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/950091-G</u>.
- Miller, P., Frechette, N., and Kellett, K. D. 2017. Building Type Wells for Appraisal of Unconventional Resource Plays. Paper presented at the SPE Unconventional Resources Conference, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, 15–16 February. SPE-185053-MS. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2118/185053-MS</u>.

- Minkoff, S. E., Stone, C. M., Bryant, S. et al. 2003. Coupled Fluid Flow and Geomechanical Deformation Modeling. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering* **38** (1–2): 37–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0920-4105(03)00021-4.
- Mirabolghasemi, M., Prodanović, M., DiCarlo, D. et al. 2015. Prediction of Empirical Properties Using Direct Pore-Scale Simulation of Straining Through 3D Microtomography Images of Porous Media. *Journal of Hydrology* 529 (Part 3): 768–778. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.08.016</u>.
- Mohamed, M., Ibrahim, M., and Ozkan, E. 2020. State of the Art in Characterization of Frac Stage Geometry, Skin and Conductivity Using Pressure Leakoff. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Virtual, 20–22 July. URTEC-2020-1012-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.15530/urtec-2020-1012</u>.
- Mohammadmoradi, P. and Kantzas, A. 2017. Toward Direct Pore-Scale Modeling of Three-Phase Displacements. *Advances in Water Resources* **110**: 120–135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2017.10.010</u>.
- Moinfar, A., Erdle, J. C., and Patel, K. 2016. Comparison of Numerical vs Analytical Models for EUR Calculation and Optimization in Unconventional Reservoirs. Paper presented at the SPE Argentina Exploration and Production of Unconventional Resources Symposium, Buenos Aires, Argentina, 1–3 June. SPE-180974-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/180974-MS</u>.
- Molinari, D., Sankaran, S., Symmons, D. et al. 2019. A Hybrid Data and Physics Modeling Approach Towards Unconventional Well Performance Analysis. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, 30 September– 2 October. SPE-196122-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/196122-MS'</u>.
- Mu, Y., Sungkorn, R., and Toelke, J. 2016. Identifying the Representative Flow Unit for Capillary Dominated Two-Phase Flow in Porous Media Using Morphology-Based Pore-Scale Modeling. *Advances in Water Resources* **95**: 16–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2016.02.004.
- Mukundakrishnan, K., Esler, K., Dembeck, D. et al. 2015. Accelerating Tight Reservoir Workflows with GPUs. Paper presented at the SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium, Houston, Texas, USA, 23–25 February. SPE-173246-MS. <u>https://doi.org/SPE-173246-MS</u>.
- Muskat, M. 1937. Use of Data on the Build-Up of Bottom-Hole Pressures. In *Transactions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers*, Vol. 123, SPE-937044-G, 44–48. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/937044-G</u>.
- Muskat, M. 1949. *Physical Principles of Oil Production*, first edition. New York: International Series in Pure and Applied Physics, McGraw-Hill Book Co.
- Nagarajan, N. R., Stoll, D., Litvak, M. L. et al. 2020. Successful Field Test of Enhancing Bakken Oil Recovery by Propane Injection: Part I. Field Test Planning, Operations, Surveillance, and Results. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Virtual, 20–22 July. URTEC-2020-2768-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.15530/urtec-2020-2768</u>.
- National Energy Technology Laboratory. 2011. Energy Data eXchange, <u>https://edx.netl.doe.gov/</u> (accessed 12 September 2021).
- Newsham, K., Comisky, J., and Chemali, R. 2019a. Organic-Mudstone Petrophysics: Workflow to Estimate Storage Capacity. *Petrophysics* **60** (1): 4–15. SPWLA-2019-v60n1t1. https://doi.org/10.30632/PJV60N1-2019t1.
- Newsham, K., Comisky, J., and Chemali, R. 2019b. Organic Mudstone Petrophysics, Part 2: Workflow to Estimate Storage Capacity. *Petrophysics* **60** (2): 181–207. SPWLA-2019-v60n2t1. <u>https://doi.org/10.30632/PJV60N2-2019t1</u>.

- Newsham, K., Comisky, J., and Chemali, R. 2019c. Organic Mudstone Petrophysics, Part 3: Workflow to Estimate Storage Capacity. *Petrophysics* 60 (3): 351–371. SPWLA-2019v60n3t1. <u>https://doi.org/10.30632/PJV60N3-2019T1</u>.
- Nie, X., Baldwin, C., Mu, Y. et al. 2015. A Multi-Scale Dynamic Predictive Model for Drainage and Imbibition Capillary Pressure in Heterogeneous Rocks. *Proc.*, International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, St. Johns, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada, 16–21 August.
- Nikitin, A., Dolan, S., Reiderman, A. et al. 2017. The Application of the Combination of NMR Logging and NMR Measurements at RSWC Samples at the Well Site to Identify Producible Oil in Tight Rocks. Paper presented at the SPWLA 58th Annual Logging Symposium, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, USA, 17–21 June 1-21. SPWLA-2017-P.
- Nolte, K. G. 1979. Determination of Fracture Parameters from Fracturing Pressure Decline. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Las Vegas, Nevada, USA, 23–26 September. SPE-8341-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/8341-MS</u>.
- Odeh, A. S. and Babu, D. K. 1990. Transient Flow Behavior of Horizontal Wells, Pressure Drawdown, and Buildup Analysis. *SPE Form Eval* **5** (1): 7–15. SPE-18802-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/18802-PA.
- Oloso, M. A. 2018. *Prediction of Reservoir Fluid Properties Using Machine Learning*. PhD thesis, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth, UK (June 2018).
- Olsen, G. T., Lee, W. J., and Blasingame, T. A. 2011. Reserves Overbooking: The Problem We Are Finally Going to Talk About. *SPE Econ & Mgmt* **3** (2): 68–78. SPE-134014-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/134014-PA</u>.
- Olson, B., Elliott, R., and Matthews, C. M. 2019. Fracking's Secret Problem—Oil Wells Aren't Producing as Much as Forecast. *The Wall Street Journal* (2 January 2019), <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/frackings-secret-problemoil-wells-arent-producing-as-much-as-forecast-11546450162</u>.
- Olson, T. 2016. *Imaging Unconventional Reservoir Pore Systems*, Vol. 112. AAPG Memoir, American Association of Petroleum Geologists, (2016). <u>https://doi.org/10.1306/M1121309</u>.
- Onur, M., Cinar, M., Ilk, D. et al. 2008. An Investigation of Recent Deconvolution Methods for Well-Test Data Analysis. SPE J. 13 (2): 226–247. SPE-102575-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/102575-PA</u>.
- Onwuchekwa, C. 2018. Application of Machine Learning Ideas to Reservoir Fluid Properties Estimation. Paper presented at the SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition, Lagos, Nigeria, 6–8 August. SPE-193461-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/193461-MS</u>.
- Ozkan, E. and Raghavan, R. 1991a. New Solutions for Well-Test-Analysis Problems: Part 1— Analytical Considerations. *SPE Form Eval* **6** (03): 359–368. SPE-18615-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/18615-PA</u>.
- Ozkan, E. and Raghavan, R. 1991b. New Solutions for Well-Test-Analysis Problems: Part 2— Computational Considerations and Applications. *SPE Form Eval* **6** (03): 369–378. SPE-18616-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/18616-PA</u>.
- Ozkan, E., Raghavan, R., and Joshi, S. D. 1989. Horizontal Well Pressure Analysis. SPE Form Eval 4 (4): 567–575. SPE-16378-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/16378-PA</u>.
- Palacio, J. C. and Blasingame T. A. 1993. Decline-Curve Analysis with Type Curves—Analysis of Gas Well Production Data. Paper presented at the Low Permeability Reservoirs Symposium, Denver, Colorado, USA, 26–28 April. SPE-25909-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/25909-MS</u>.

- Panga, M. K. R., Ziauddin, M., and Balakotaiah, V. 2005. Two-Scale Continuum Model for Simulation of Wormholes in Carbonate Acidization. *AIChE Journal* 51 (12): 3231–3248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aic.1057</u>.
- Parsa, E. 2017. *Experimental Study on the Effect of Confinement on Propane Phase Behavior*. PhD dissertation, Colorado School of Mines, Golden, Colorado (2017).
- Passey, Q. R., Bohacs, K. M., Esch, W. L. et al. 2010. From Oil-Prone Source Rock to Gas-Producing Shale Reservoir – Geologic and Petrophysical Characterization of Unconventional Shale-Gas Reservoirs. Paper presented at the International Oil and Gas Conference and Exhibition in China, Beijing, China, 8–10 June. SPE-131350-MS. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2118/131350-MS</u>.
- Pepper, A. S., Perry, S., Heister, L. et al. 2019. Pyrolysis-based Model Prediction of API Gravity in the Producible Fluid Saturations of Organic-Rich Unconventional Reservoirs. Paper presented at the AAPG Annual Convention and Exhibit, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 19–22 May.
- Perrine, R. L. 1956. Analysis of Pressure-Buildup Curves. Paper presented at the Drilling and Production Practice, New York, New York, USA, 1 January. API-56-482.
- Perry, G. T. and Warner, W. S. 1865. Heating Oil Wells by Electricity. US Patent No. 45,584.
- Peter F Drucker on Management. 1997. *Journal of East European Management Studies* **2** (1): 76–92 (accessed 27 April 2020).
- Popa, A. and Cassidy, S. 2012. Implementing i-Field-Integrated Solutions for Reservoir Management: A San Joaquin Valley Case Study. SPE Econ & Mgmt 4 (1): 58–65. SPE-143950-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/143950-PA</u>.
- Prévost, J. H. 2014. Two-Way Coupling in Reservoir–Geomechanical Models: Vertex-Centered Galerkin Geomechanical Model Cell-Centered and Vertex-Centered Finite Volume Reservoir Models. *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering* **98** (8): 612–624. https://doi.org/10.1002/nme.4657.
- Prodanović, M., Esteva, M., Hanlon, M. et al. 2015. Digital Rocks Portal: A Repository for Porous Media Images, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17612/P7CC7K</u> (accessed 25 August 2021).
- Raghavan, R. 1976. Well Test Analysis: Wells Producing by Solution Gas Drive. SPE J. 16 (4): 196–208. SPE-5588-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/5588-PA.
- Raghavan, R. 2011. Fractional Derivatives: Application to Transient Flow. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering* **80** (1): 7–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2011.10.003</u>.
- Raghavan, R. 2012. Fractional Diffusion: Performance of Fractured Wells. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering* 92–93: 167–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2012.06.003</u>.
- Raghavan, R. and Chen, C. 2017. Rate Decline, Power Laws, and Subdiffusion in Fractured Rocks. SPE Res Eval & Eng 20 (3): 738–751. SPE-180223-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/180223-PA.
- Raghavan, R., Chen, C., and DaCunha, J. J. 2017. Nonlocal Diffusion in Fractured Rocks. SPE Res Eval & Eng 20 (2): 383–393. SPE-184404-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/184404-PA</u>.
- Raghavan, R., Chu, W.-C., and Jones, J. R. 1999. Practical Considerations in the Analysis of Gas-Condensate Well Tests. SPE Res Eval & Eng 2 (3): 288–295. SPE-56837-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/56837-PA.
- Raissi, M., Perdikaris, P., and Karniadakis, G. E. 2017. Physics Informed Deep Learning (Part I): Data-Driven Solutions of Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations, abs/1711.10561 (accessed 03 September 2021).
- Ramé, M. and Killough J. E. 1992. A New Approach to Flow Simulation in Highly Heterogeneous Porous Media. SPE Form Eval 7 (3): 247–254. SPE-21247-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/21247-PA</u>.

- Ramey, H. J., Jr. 1970. Short-Time Well Test Data Interpretation in the Presence of Skin Effect and Wellbore Storage. J Pet Technol 22 (1): 97–104. SPE-2336-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/2336-PA</u>.
- Rassenfoss, S. 2017. Shale EOR Works, but Will It Make a Difference? *J Pet Technol* **69** (10): 34–40. SPE-1017-0034-JPT. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/1017-0034-JPT</u>.
- Ratnakar, R. R. and Balakotaiah, V. 2011. Exact Averaging of Laminar Dispersion. *Physics of Fluids* 23 (2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3555156</u>.
- Ratnakar, R. R., Dindoruk, B., and Wilson, L. C. 2017. Phase Behavior Experiments and PVT Modeling of DME-Brine-Crude Oil Mixtures Based on Huron-Vidal Mixing Rules for EOR Applications. *Fluid Phase Equilibria* 434: 49–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fluid.2016.11.021</u>.
- Reynolds, F. S. 1959. Discounted Cash Flow as a Measure of Market Value. *J Pet Technol* 11 (11): 15–19. SPE-1211-G. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/1211-G</u>.
- Riewchotisakul, S. and Akkutlu, I. Y. 2016. Adsorption-Enhanced Transport of Hydrocarbons in Organic Nanopores. SPE J. 21 (06): 1960–1969. SPE-175107-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/</u> 175107-PA.
- Rogers, J. B., Basbug, B., Firincioglu, T. et al. 2020. A Simulation Case Study of Gas Injection Pilot in Eagle Ford. Paper presented at the SPE Improved Oil Recovery Conference, virtual, 31 August–4 September. SPE-200430-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/200430-MS</u>.
- Sahimi, M. and Yortsos, Y. C. 1990. Applications of Fractal Geometry to Porous Media: A Review. Paper SPE 20476 (unsolicited manuscript).
- Sahni, V. and Liu, S. 2018. Miscible EOR Process Assessment for Unconventional Reservoirs: Understanding Key Mechanisms for Optimal Field Test Design. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Houston, Texas, USA, 23–25 July. URTEC-2870010-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.15530/URTEC-2018-2870010</u>.
- Salina Borello, E., Fokker, P. A., Viberti, D. et al. 2019. Harmonic Pulse Testing for Well Monitoring: Application to a Fractured Geothermal Reservoir. *Water Resources Research* 55 (6): 4727–4744. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2018WR024029</u>.
- Samier, P., Onaisi, A., and Fontaine, G. 2006. Comparisons of Uncoupled and Various Coupling Techniques for Practical Field Examples. SPE J. 11 (1): 89–102. SPE-79698-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/79698-PA.
- Sankaran, S., Matringe, S., Sidahmed, M. et al. 2020. Data Analytics in Reservoir Engineering. Richardson, Texas: PetroBriefs Series, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Saxena, N., Hows, A., Hofmann, R. et al. 2018. Imaging and Computational Considerations for Image Computed Permeability: Operating Envelope of Digital Rock Physics. Advances in Water Resources 116: 127–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2018.04.001.
- Scheidegger, A. E. 1974. *The Physics of Flow Through Porous Media*, third edition. Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Press.
- Settgast, R. R., Fu, P., Walsh, S. D. C. et al. 2017. A Fully Coupled Method for Massively Parallel Simulation of Hydraulically Driven Fractures in 3-Dimensions. *International Journal for Numerical and Analytical Methods in Geomechanics* **41** (5): 627–653. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/nag.2557</u>.
- Sheng, J. J. 2017. Critical Review of Field EOR Projects in Shale and Tight Reservoirs. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering* 159: 654–665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2017.09.022</u>.
- Sherman, C. S., Johnson, S., Morris, J. P. et al. 2015. Modeling of Near-Wellbore Hydraulic Fracture Complexity. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources

Technology Conference, San Antonio, Texas, USA, 20–22 July. URTEC-2015-2153274. https://doi.org/10.15530/URTEC-2015-2153274.

- Shi, Y., Miller, C., and Mohanty, K. 2021. Surfactant-Aided Low-Salinity Waterflooding for Low-Temperature Carbonate Reservoirs. SPE J. 26 (4): 2214–2230. SPE-201754-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/201754-PA</u>.
- Shiozawa, S., Venkatraman, A., and Dindoruk, B. 2018. Phase Behavior Computations Using Gibbs Free Energy Minimization on GPUs for Speeding Up Compositional Simulations. *Proc.*, ECMOR XVI – 16th European Conference on the Mathematics of Oil Recovery, Barcelona, Spain, 3–6 September 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.3997/2214-4609.201802127</u>.
- Silva, P. L. and Bassiouni, Z. 1985. A Shaly Sand Conductivity Model Based on Variable Equivalent Counter-Ion Conductivity and Dual Water Concepts. Paper presented at the SPWLA 26th Annual Logging Symposium, Dallas, Texas, USA, 17–20 June. SPWLA-1985-RR.
- Sinha, U., Dindoruk, B., and Soliman, M. 2020. Machine Learning Augmented Dead Oil Viscosity Model for All Oil Types. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering* 195: 107603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2020.107603</u>.
- Sinha, U., Dindoruk, B., and Soliman, M. 2021. Prediction of CO₂ Minimum Miscibility Pressure (MMP) Using Machine Learning Techniques. *SPE J.* **26** (4): 1666–1678. SPE 200326-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/200326-PA.
- Society of Petroleum Engineers. 2021. SPE Data Repository, <u>https://www.spe.org/en/industry/data-repository</u> (accessed 12 September 2021).
- Soliman, M. Y., Craig, D., Bartko, K. et al. 2005. New Method for Determination of Formation Permeability, Reservoir Pressure, and Fracture Properties from a Minifrac Test. Paper presented at the Alaska Rocks 2005, The 40th U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics (USRMS), Anchorage, Alaska, USA, 25–29 June. ARMA-05-658.
- Sondergeld, C. H., Newsham, K. E., Comisky, J. T. et al. 2010. Petrophysical Considerations in Evaluating and Producing Shale Gas Resources. Paper presented at the SPE Unconventional Gas Conference, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA, 23–25 February. SPE-131768-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/131768-MS</u>.
- Sotomayor, M., Alshaer, H., Chen, X. et al. 2021. Surfactant-Polymer Formulations for EOR in High Temperature High Salinity Carbonate Reservoirs. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Dubai, UAE, 21–23 September. SPE-206321-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/206321-MS</u>.
- SPE Oil and Gas Reserves Committee. 2018. *Petroleum Resources Management System*. Richardson, Texas: Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- SPEE. 2010. *Guidelines for the Practical Evaluation of Undeveloped Reserves in Resource Plays*, Monograph 3. Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers.
- SPEE. 2016. Estimating Ultimate Recovery of Developed Wells in Low-Permeability Reservoirs, Monograph 4. Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers.
- Stalgorova, E. and Mattar, L. 2013. Analytical Model for Unconventional Multifractured Composite Systems. SPE Res Eval & Eng 16 (3): 246–256. SPE-162516-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/162516-PA</u>.
- Standing, M. B. 1947. A Pressure-Volume-Temperature Correlation for Mixtures of California Oils and Gases. Paper presented at the Drilling and Production Practice, New York, New York, 1 January. API-47-275.
- Suhrer, M., Nie, X., Toelke, J. et al. 2020. Upscaling Method for Obtaining Primary Drainage Capillary Pressure and Resistivity Index with Digital Rock Physics. Paper presented at the

International Petroleum Technology Conference, Dhahran, Saudi Arabia, 13–15 January. IPTC-20035-ABSTRACT. <u>https://doi.org/10.2523/IPTC-20035-ABSTRACT</u>.

- Sun, Z., Li, Z., Espinoza, D. N. et al. 2020. Fluid-Driven Fractures in Granular Media: Insights from Numerical Investigations. *Physical Review E* 101: 042903. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/</u> PhysRevE.101.042903.
- Teigland, R. and Kleppe, J. 2006. EOR Survey in the North Sea. Paper presented at the SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA, 22–26 April. SPE-99546-MS. https://doi.org/10.2118/99546-MS.
- Ţene, M., Al Kobaisi, M. S., and Hajibeygi, H. 2016. Algebraic Multiscale Method for Flow in Heterogeneous Porous Media with Embedded Discrete Fractures (F-AMS). *Journal of Computational Physics* **321**: 819–845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcp.2016.06.012</u>.
- Thakur, G. C. 1996. What Is Reservoir Management? *J Pet Technol* **48** (6): 520–525. SPE-26289-JPT. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/26289-JPT</u>.
- Tran, D., Shrivastava, V. K., Nghiem, L. X. et al. 2009. Geomechanical Risk Mitigation for CO₂ Sequestration in Saline Aquifers. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, New Orleans, Louisiana, USA, 4–7 October. SPE-125167-MS. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2118/125167-MS</u>.
- Tullo, A. H. 2009. Tiny Prospectors. *Chemical & Engineering News* 87 (6): 20–21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/cen-v087n006.p020.
- Unneland, T., Manin, Y., and Kuchuk, F. 1998. Permanent Gauge Pressure and Rate Measurements for Reservoir Description and Well Monitoring: Field Cases. SPE Res Eval & Eng 1 (3): 224–230. SPE-38658-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/38658-PA</u>.
- US Energy Information Administration. 2021. Monthly Crude Oil and Natural Gas Production, https://www.eia.gov/petroleum/production/ (accessed 14 September 2021).
- van Everdingen, A. F. and Hurst, W. 1949. The Application of the Laplace Transformation to Flow Problems in Reservoirs. J Pet Technol 1 (12): 305–324. SPE-949305-G. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/949305-G</u>.
- Venkatraman, A., Dindoruk, B., Elshahawi, H. et al. 2017. Modeling Effect of Geochemical Reactions on Real-Reservoir-Fluid Mixture During Carbon Dioxide Enhanced Oil Recovery. SPE J. 22 (5): 1519–1529. SPE-175030-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/175030-PA</u>.
- Versteeg, H. K. and Malalasekera, W. 1995. *An Introduction to Computational Fluid Dynamics*. Harlow, England: Pearson Education Limited.
- von Schroeter, T., Hollaender, F., and Gringarten, A. C. 2004. Deconvolution of Well-Test Data as a Nonlinear Total Least-Squares Problem. *SPE J.* **9** (4): 375–390. SPE-77688-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/77688-PA.
- Walters, D. A., Settari, A., and Kry, P. R. 2002. Coupled Geomechanical and Reservoir Modeling Investigating Poroelastic Effects of Cyclic Steam Stimulation in the Cold Lake Reservoir. SPE Res Eval & Eng 5 (6): 507–516. SPE-80997-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/80997-PA</u>.
- Warren, J. E. and Root, P. J. 1963. The Behavior of Naturally Fractured Reservoirs. SPE J. 3 (3): 245–255. SPE-426-PA. https://doi.org/10.2118/426-PA.
- Waters, G. A., Lewis, R. E., and Bentley, D. C. 2011. The Effect of Mechanical Properties Anisotropy in the Generation of Hydraulic Fractures in Organic Shales. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Denver, Colorado, USA, 30 October– 2 November. SPE-146776-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/146776-MS</u>.
- Waxman, M. H. and Smits, L. J. M. 1968. Electrical Conductivities in Oil-Bearing Shaly Sands. SPE J. 8 (2): 107–122. SPE-1863-A. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/1863-A</u>.

- Wesseling, P. 1992. An Introduction to Multigrid Methods". Chichester: A Volume in Pure and Applied Mathematics, John Wiley & Sons.
- Whitaker, S. 2013. *The Method of Volume Averaging*, Vol. 13. Dordrecht: Theory and Applications of Transport in Porous Media book series, Springer Science+Business Media.
- Wick, T., Singh, G., and Wheeler, M. F. 2016. Fluid-Filled Fracture Propagation with a Phase-Field Approach and Coupling to a Reservoir Simulator. SPE J. 21 (3): 981–999. SPE-168597-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/168597-PA</u>.
- Xu, Y., Riordon, J., Cheng, X. et al. 2017. The Full Pressure–Temperature Phase Envelope of a Mixture in 1000 Microfluidic Chambers. *Angewandte Chemie* 56 (45): 13962–13967. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201708238.
- Yang, X., Dindoruk, B., and Lu, L. 2019. A Comparative Analysis of Bubble Point Pressure Prediction Using Advanced Machine Learning Algorithms and Classical Correlations. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering* 185: 106598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2019.106598</u>.
- Yu, W., Xu, Y., and Weijermars, R. et al. 2018. A Numerical Model for Simulating Pressure Response of Well Interference and Well Performance in Tight Oil Reservoirs with Complex-Fracture Geometries Using the Fast Embedded-Discrete-Fracture-Model Method. SPE Res Eval & Eng 21 (2): 489–502. SPE-184825-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/184825-PA</u>.
- Zhang, F., Saputra, I. W., Parsegov, S. G. et al. 2019. Experimental and Numerical Studies of EOR for the Wolfcamp Formation by Surfactant Enriched Completion Fluids and Multi-Cycle Surfactant Injection. Paper presented at the SPE Hydraulic Fracturing Technology Conference and Exhibition, The Woodlands, Texas, USA, 5–7 February. SPE-194325-MS. https://doi.org/10.2118/194325-MS.
- Zhang, Y. and Hoteit, I. 2019. Efficient Assimilation of Crosswell Electromagnetic Data Using Ensemble-Based History-Matching Framework. Paper presented at the SPE Reservoir Simulation Conference, Galveston, Texas, USA, 10–11 April. SPE-193808-MS. https://doi.org/10.2118/193808-MS.
- Zhao, B., MacMinn, C. W., Primkulov, B. K. et al. 2019. Comprehensive Comparison of Pore-Scale Models for Multiphase Flow in Porous Media. *PNAS* 116 (28): 13799–13806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1901619116</u>.
- Zhao, B., Ratnakar, R. R., Dindoruk, B. et al. 2019. A Hybrid Approach for the Prediction of Relative Permeability Using Machine Learning of Experimental and Numerical SCAL Data. Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, 30 September–2 October. SPE-196022-MS. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/196022-MS</u>.
- Zhou, H. and Lascaud, B. 2019. An Integrated Machine Learning Framework for Optimizing Unconventional Resources Development. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Denver, Colorado, USA, 22–24 July. <u>https://doi.org/10.15530/urtec-2019-319</u>.
- Zhu, Z., Fang, C., Qiao, R. et al. 2020. Experimental and Molecular Insights on Mitigation of Hydrocarbon Sieving in Niobrara Shale by CO₂ Huff 'n' Puff. SPE J. 25 (4): 1803–1811. SPE-196136-PA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/196136-PA</u>.